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Performance Report
Welcome to our annual report
and accounts for 2016/17.
Over the last year, my GP colleagues and I have
used our knowledge and expertise to plan effective,
high quality health services. Meeting the health and
care needs of our patients within the resources
available is a growing challenge and the pressure on
services is set to continue. Birth rates are increasing,
people are living for longer, there is rising demand for specialist treatments and
people with complex conditions are being supported to live on into old age.
Over the last year, there has been increasing recognition, both nationally and
locally, that health and social care services need to work differently in order to
support our patients effectively. We need to take early action to prevent or spot
health problems when they arise, use innovative approaches to tackle ill-health
and work across organisational boundaries to get the best for patients.
Our diabetes education days, a new initiative this year, are a great example of
this approach. Led by patient volunteers, these workshop days support adults
with Type 2 diabetes by combining the first-hand support of other diabetics with
the advice of both hospital and community-based experts. Over the course of a
day, those who attend - often supported by family members - are guided towards
managing their condition successfully.
The response from those who receive an invitation from their GP to attend a
workshop day has been fantastic. It is clear that there’s a real thirst for
information about how to successfully manage what can be a very serious
condition. These days couldn’t happen without GPs, volunteers, hospital staff,
pharmacists and nutritionists working closely together outside their normal
environments. Type 2 diabetes poses one of the biggest problems for our health
and care services - this approach shows that we can start to tackle it together if
we give our patients the support they need.
Ensuring that our older residents enjoy a good quality of life is another
partnership project which is going from strength to strength. We have continued
to work closely with Hertfordshire County Council and the Hertfordshire Care
Providers Association to improve the health and wellbeing of care home
residents.
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Through staff training, the involvement of expert pharmacists supporting GPs
and by offering enjoyable and engaging activities to residents, we are making a
marked difference to the health of individuals. We know that through the project,
the number of emergency visits made to hospitals because of falls or poor health
have reduced. Interest in the national ‘vanguard’ project, has spread far and
wide. Our care homes have hosted a number of visits from top NHS specialists
wanting to find out more and we receive enquiries on a weekly basis from across
the UK and even abroad.
Here in Hertfordshire, the learning from our care homes work is now influencing
the way that we care for people in poor health in their own homes too. New
‘early intervention’ ambulances, staffed by a paramedic and an occupational
therapist, bring the skills, and equipment to treat and support a growing number
of patients in their own homes immediately after a fall or episode of ill- health,
without having to take them into hospital. This is good news for the person
involved and also makes the best use of NHS resources.
You might have heard locally or nationally about the new ‘Sustainability and
Transformation Plans’ to improve health and care which are being developed
across the UK. Health and care organisations in Hertfordshire and west Essex
have been grouped together and challenged to work closer than ever before over
a five year period to improve the wellbeing of our residents within available
resources. Called ‘A Healthier Future’, our area’s Sustainability and
Transformation Plan is based on the commitments to improving patient care
which were included in the national vision for the NHS, the Five Year Forward
View.
Our CCG is playing a full part in the development of ‘A Healthier Future’ and we
want our patients and residents to get involved too. You can find out more and
play your part in developing ‘A Healthier Future’ by going to
www.healthierfuture.org.uk
Overall, it has been a successful year for the CCG. You can find out more about
the work we’ve been doing and some of the other projects that we are looking
forward to in the year ahead in the pages of this report. Thank you for your
interest in our organisation.

Dr Hari Pathmanathan
Chair, East and North Hertfordshire CCG
GP, Bridge Cottage Surgery, Welwyn
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Overview from the Chief Executive
I am pleased to present the annual report and
accounts for East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group’s fourth year of
operation.
This document is designed to inform you about
the work of East and North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), the local NHS
organisation which plans, designs and pays for
the health services used by our area’s 597,000
population.
Led by local GPs representing the east and
north of Hertfordshire, the CCG works closely with clinicians and patients to
decide how our annual budget of little over £700m should be spent. The
Governing Body of the CCG has the overarching responsibility for setting the
strategic direction for East and North Hertfordshire CCG, exercising financial
control and managing risks.

About us
The CCG is a patient-centred organisation. We aim to:
•

work with patients, partners, managers and clinical colleagues from all
sectors to commission the best possible healthcare for our patients within
available resources

•

reduce health inequalities and achieve a stable and sustainable health
economy by working together, sharing best practice and improving
expertise and clinical outcomes.

The CCG serves more than half a million people (597,000) registered at 60 GP
practices across east and north Hertfordshire.
Every GP practice is a member of the CCG and works in a local network, called
a locality, to find solutions to their area’s particular health challenges, with our
support. Each of our six localities has a locality committee, (a committee of the
Governing Body) and each is represented by at least two lead GPs, selected by
their peers to represent them on the CCG’s Governing Body. Our GPs and their
practice nurses and healthcare assistants understand the health needs of their
patients, and we believe that our locality-based approach to commissioning
helps us to make sure that our population has access to good quality services
that meet the needs in their area.
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Each locality receives a fair share of the CCG’s financial resources, with budgets
set and financial reports presented at GP practice and locality level. Monthly
locality committees allow member practices to influence and inform
commissioning decisions and to alert the CCG management team to issues,
especially those related to patient experience or where clinical pathways are not
working as intended.
As well as having a corporate role on the Governing Body, our locality lead GPs
are a direct link between the decision-making of the CCG and its member
practices. Some of our most effective improvement projects, such as those you
will read about on the following few pages have been driven by innovation at
locality level.
During the past year, the member practices of East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group have worked to ensure that the healthcare
services they commission meet the needs identified for their patients. For
example, the CCG has invested money to support the local system during
periods of increased demand, such as the easter bank holidays by paying for
additional GP appointments during the day and out of hours, extra social care
staff and care home staff to facilitate discharge from hospital and extra
pharmacists and therapists to be on duty at the Lister Hospital.
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All localities have been working on common projects, such as supporting care
homes and offering additional GP and nurse appointments during the busy
winter period. Each locality has also focused on the priorities in their particular
towns and villages. Here is a flavour of some of the projects led by our localities
to improve the health and wellbeing of people in their area:

Lower Lea Valley
During 2016/17, the eight practices in the Lower Lea Valley locality led a
number of projects to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients
including:

Helping families live healthy lifestyles
Childhood obesity in the borough of
Broxbourne is higher than the regional
average, so GPs in Lower Lea Valley are
working with the Allsorts Children’s Centre in
Cheshunt to refer families into a programme
to help them manage their weight and make
healthier choices. More than 50 families have benefitted from the programme
this year. The locality has developed an integrated local service to support
children and families to maintain a healthy weight and lifestyle, supported by the
local strategic partnerships.
HomeFirst
This ‘hospital from home’ project has continued very successfully for another
year and has been extended to include four mental health nurses, a specialist
palliative care nurse and a pharmacist as part of the multi-disciplinary team. In
addition to a rapid response and virtual ward function, the team provides support
to patients who have just come home from hospital. 97% of GPs and 96% of
patients in a recent survey would recommend HomeFirst to family and friends.
Supporting carers
The Supporting Carers project is enabling primary care services in Lower Lea
Valley to deliver their commitment to support carers and increase the number of
unpaid family carers who know where to turn when they need help. Crossroads
Care is working with the CCG to provide carers with regular breaks and access
to support from the voluntary sector. Each practice has a carers’ lead and many
now have a ‘Carer Champion’ working to support carers in their surgery and at
the newly formed Carers Café in Cheshunt.
Promoting self-care
The locality has been working with other organisations including HealthWatch
England, community pharmacies and the local district council to get messages
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about self-care out to patients. The aim of this is to empower people to live
independently, stay healthy and make the most of their lives by helping them to
manage their long-term conditions and other needs. This work is ongoing and
will be the focus of 2017/2018.
Auditing demand for NHS services
For a two week period in November 2016, all GP practices in the locality, the
minor injuries unit and some pharmacies took part in an audit to see how
patients are using services in their local area. Data from this audit is currently
being analysed and results will be used to plan what services are needed in the
future.
Online services and websites
All the GP practices are working together to develop a website aimed at local
patients that gives clear, consistent and accurate information about all the local
NHS services that are available.

North Herts
During 2016/17, the twelve practices in the North Herts locality led a
number of projects to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients
including:

Looking after frail and elderly patients
Around 1,000 patients in the North Herts locality
live in care homes – higher than the CCG
average. The locality has begun work to better
support these elderly and frail patients and
identify any additional services that are needed.
New GP ward rounds in care homes have begun
and practices have been working with the
HomeFirst team to refine the identification of those who are most likely to benefit
from closer ‘case management’ to help them remain as well and independent as
possible.
Investing in GP services
The locality has committed funds to ensure that all practices can upskill nonclinical staff in order to release clinical staff to provide more patient care.
Practices are using text and email, as well as the traditional landline telephone to
communicate with patients and have enhanced their websites to provide quicker,
more interactive and intuitive patient access to service information. This will be
further enhanced to enable patients to contact services directly, where a
professional’s referral is not required.
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Winter pressures
Locality practices have been promoting best use of NHS health services in
Hertfordshire during the winter months and opened up additional appointments
for patients to be seen at their local surgery and reduce demand on the
emergency department at the Lister Hospital. Practices in North Herts continue
to have the lowest A&E attendance rate in the CCG.

Stevenage
During 2016/17, the nine practices in the Stevenage locality led a number of
projects to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients including:
Identifying and supporting people with caring responsibilities
Working with local voluntary organisation Carers
in Herts, the Stevenage locality has been a
leader in establishing ‘carer champions’ in GP
practices. These champions identify people who
care for family or friends, making sure that their
responsibilities are included in their notes and
that they know how to access support from the
surgery and from community organisations.
Health checks for people with learning disabilities
Following a review of data about health checks for patients with learning
disabilities, Stevenage locality prioritised the completion of these important
checks. This has resulted in an increase in the uptake of the checks and an
improvement in the care provided for people with learning disabilities.
Continued enhanced daily care home support
Stevenage practices have provided planned, proactive and preventative support
for frail elderly care home residents with multiple health problems, such as
breathing conditions, dementia and diabetes. These vulnerable people are
benefiting from regular visits from a dedicated GP practice and better trained
staff. Through greater patient record-sharing and expert medication reviews this
work is aiming to improve the quality of life for care home residents.
Winter resilience
Stevenage GPs have for another year worked together to offer additional
appointments and support for patients during the busy winter months.
Improving early cancer diagnosis
Stevenage practices are taking part in a pilot project led by the East of England
Clinical Cancer Network and Macmillan Cancer Support to try and improve
cancer survival rates by diagnosing cancer earlier. The longer a cancer is left
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undetected, the lower the chance of someone making a good recovery, so the
pilot aims to give GPs a new fast-track referral route for patients who come to
see them with non-specific, vague symptoms which do not meet existing two
week wait criteria.

Stort Valley and Villages
During 2015/16, the six practices in the Stort Valley and Villages locality
participated in and led a number of projects to improve the health and
wellbeing of their patients including:
Rapid response
In December 2015 a ‘rapid response’ service
was set up within the integrated community
team, to help prevent people being admitted to
hospital. Over the last six months the service
has had more than 90 referrals and has kept
three quarters of those patients out of hospital.
In 2016/17 the team has also evolved to incorporate a case management
function, which supports both an individual’s physical and mental health needs,
with community psychiatric nurses, social workers and specialist support workers
forming a key part of the team looking at the mental wellbeing of those with long
term conditions. Since April the team has received 132 referrals.
‘Forever Active’
Supported by funding from the locality, East Herts Council runs classes
throughout its area for inactive people aged 50 to 75. At least 350 people a
week attend one of the classes taking place in village halls, sports clubs and
churches close to their homes. These range from the well-known – exercise to
music, yoga, bowls – to newer ones such as tai chi and nordic walking. By
December 2016 more than 11,000 class places had been taken up.
Community engagement
In November, on World COPD Day, the pulmonary rehab and community
respiratory services joined patient and voluntary groups to raise awareness of
the help available for people with breathing difficulties. Lung function tests were
carried out which resulted in several of these being advised to see their GP for
follow up. Five patients also signed up to pulmonary rehab exercise classes and
are now seeing their health improve through taking part in the sessions.
Members of the public who attended this event were also able to find out more
about the ‘My Care Record’ project and learn about how the health service is
tackling the growing problem of antibiotic resistance.
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Working together in a federation
‘Stort Valley Healthcare’, the federation for Stort Valley and Villages practices,
continues to thrive in spite of practice pressures. Practices worked together to
provide additional appointments for patients in the locality throughout the winter
months to help manage the increased demand during this busy period. A new
website has been developed which now allows for all the practices and
practitioners to have their say and influence decision making at the locality
board. An innovative pilot project is taking place to offer testing in practices to
see if patients require antibiotics for respiratory tract infections. The federation
has also helped develop links with external providers to bring about an
improvement in the provision of sexual health services at Herts and Essex
Hospital.

Upper Lea Valley
During 2016/2017, the 16 practices in the Upper Lea Valley locality
participated in and led a number of projects to improve the health and
wellbeing of their patients including:
Forever Active
The Upper Lea Valley locality also supports
the ‘Forever Active’ programme and classes
are provided in towns and villages across the
area. For example in Watton at Stone,
residents aged over 50 have a choice of four
different classes (table tennis, bowls, archery
and tai chi/yoga) in their local village hall. All
classes are aimed at beginners and have
friendly helpful coaches.
All areas have a volunteer coordinator who meets and greets participants and
records attendance. This is essential to the sustainability of the classes after
funding ends in October 2018.
ECG screening
During the winter, practices undertook pulse and ECG screening to identify
patients with atrial fibrillation – an erratic heart rate which can increase the risk of
strokes. Between October 2016 and January 2017, more than 10,500 patients
who attended for flu vaccination were screened resulting in around 30 new cases
being identified and treated.
Making time for care
9 practices across Upper Lea Valley together with 3 practices from Stort Valley
and Villages participated in NHS England’s ‘Productive General Practice
Programme’.
10

The focus is on fast, easy to implement ideas to help reduce pressures and
release efficiencies within general practices. Practices benefited from hands-on
support over an eight week period in their practice, plus four group-based
learning sessions with other local practices. This has helped to
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Create headspace for practices to work through current/ future pressures
Empower clinicians and staff to identify and strip out wasteful activities
Provide a practical way of demonstrating value to practice members
Release more time within practices
Solve real operational headaches for practices
Make real and lasting change that benefits both practice staff and patients
Build improvement confidence

Wallace House practice in Hertford took the lead in participating in the ‘workflow
optimisation’ programme which is another aspect of the programme and
benefited greatly from this. The remaining practices across the CCG will
participate in this programme in the coming year.

Welwyn Hatfield
During 2016/17, the nine practices in the Welwyn Hatfield locality led a
number of projects to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients
including:
Winter pressures
The locality committed additional funds to
support local practices to provide additional
capacity for patients to see or speak to
clinicians during the busy winter months.
Improving services for respiratory patients
Practices have been working closely with a respiratory consultant and
community respiratory to improve the identification, referral and care of patients
with breathing problems in Welwyn Hatfield. One focus is to support those with
long term conditions, and put a ‘personal health plan’ in place for those patients.
‘Dealing with Diabetes’ event
In March, the chair of the Welwyn Hatfield patient commissioning group hosted a
successful event for people living with Type 2 Diabetes to encourage them to
self-care and manage their condition. The locality practices funded this event to
help support some of the 4,500 people in Welwyn Hatfield who are living with
diabetes.
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Planning for the future of general practice
Recruitment into general practice is a national issue and GPs in the Welwyn
Hatfield locality have participated in a training course run by the federation in
order to better support GPs in training. Practice nurses have been approved as
mentors, and undergraduate nurse placements in local practices have now
started.

Locality-based training
Locality groups hold regular whole day ‘TARGET’ training events which
provide development opportunities for GPs, practice nurses and other staff
from all member practices. Examples of the areas covered in 2016/17
include:
•

Voluntary sector ‘speed dating’ session to enable GPs and local voluntary
agencies to have some short face-to-face time to discuss how they can
work together in future

•

Workshops run by the HBL ICT department to help practices get their best
out of their clinical computer systems

•

Better supporting patients with breathing difficulties to prevent unplanned
admissions

•

Adult safeguarding training for practice staff to refresh knowledge

•

Learning more about the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)
and how it affects primary care

•

Discussion events held on planning for the next flu season to make sure
that practices are able to maximise the number of eligible patients
receiving their seasonal flu jab

•

CPR training – a refresher for clinical staff and health care assistants on
basic life support and how to use a defibrillator

•

Updates on service developments at a local hospice

•

Sepsis awareness training - to remind staff of the symptoms and signs to
be aware of

•

Record sharing – the protocols needed to make GP computer records
shareable
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•

‘Productive General Practice’ – making the best use of administration time

•

Preparing for a CQC visit – insight from the CCG quality team and from
practices who have recently been inspected

A healthier future – improving health and care in
Hertfordshire and west Essex

As well as maintaining a local focus through our locality structures, it is important
that the CCG works together with its neighbours in order to respond to
challenges in the wider health system.
During 2016/17, the CCG and our colleagues in local authorities further
developed our close working relationship by coming together to publish a
Sustainability and Transformation Plan, known as an STP. Across Hertfordshire
and west Essex, CCGs, councils, health and ambulance services, GPs, patient
representative groups and the voluntary and community sector have
produced this plan which aims to improve services over the next five years. This
plan is called ‘A Healthier Future’.
‘A Healthier Future’, published in December 2016, sets out the significant
challenges and opportunities that face NHS and care services in Hertfordshire
and west Essex as we work together to improve health and wellbeing within the
limited funds available. These include:
•

a 37% predicted increase in the population of over-75s in the next 10
years. More older people and people living with long-term conditions
means higher care costs

•

obesity, smoking, alcohol and not enough exercise are all causing health
problems
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•

recruiting enough doctors, nurses and care staff is difficult – high living
costs make it hard to attract and retain people with the right skills

•

some patients are admitted to hospital who don’t need to be there, or stay
in hospital for longer than necessary

•

health and care systems and technology don’t always work together
effectively

•

some buildings are not fit for purpose.

To tackle these issues, health and care organisations in Hertfordshire and west
Essex plan to focus work in four areas:
1. helping people to lead healthier lives, avoiding preventable illnesses
2. improving the health and care services offered at home or in local
communities
3. using hospital care for specialist and emergency treatments only
4. improving the efficiency of health and care services.
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During 2017/18 we will continue to engage with clinicians and the public about
how we deliver the plan and the responsibilities we all have for looking after our
own health and those of our families. www.healthierfuture.org.uk
15

The way we commission services
East and North Hertfordshire CCG buys services from a range of providers,
including hospitals and other organisations such as mental health and
community services NHS trusts, voluntary organisations and independent
providers. We also fund the cost of medicines and treatments prescribed by
GPs and nurse prescribers.
In 2016/17, we commissioned services in the following ways:
•

as the coordinating commissioner, where East and North Hertfordshire CCG
has the biggest share of activity and holds the contract, allowing other
commissioners to be associates to the contract. Examples of this include
contracts with East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust.

•

as an associate commissioner, where another commissioner has the biggest
share of activity and holds the contract, allowing East and North
Hertfordshire CCG to be a party to the contract. Examples of this include
contracts with Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust, Royal Free London
NHS Foundation Trust and Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust.

•

as a joint commissioner, where funding is pooled with partners and services
are commissioned using that pooled budget. Examples include mental
health and learning disability, where resources are pooled with Hertfordshire
County Council (HCC) and Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group to
commission services, predominantly from Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust and from HCC’s Health and Community
Services. We also jointly commission services from community and
voluntary sector organisations in Hertfordshire with Hertfordshire County
Council.

•

as lead commissioner, where we procure services on behalf of other CCGs.
For example, we have led the procurement process to develop a new
Integrated Urgent Care service to cover our CCG area and the Herts Valleys
CCG area.
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•

as a co-commissioner, where we are jointly responsible alongside NHS
England for commissioning GP services. NHS England commissions
specialised services and primary care services, including the majority of
services provided by GP practices, dentists, pharmacists and optometrists.
Every CCG has a duty to assist and support NHS England to carry out these
functions and secure continuous improvement in the quality of primary
medical services.

We have strong governance arrangements in place to oversee delivery of the
priorities in the CCG’s commissioning plan, and these are managed on a
system-wide basis where appropriate. For example, the Urgent Care Network
involves representatives from across health and social care, allowing joint
decision-making to prevent avoidable hospital admissions and allow patients to
be discharged from hospital in a timely way when they are medically fit to leave.
When designing services, the CCG works closely with patient advocates and
clinicians from provider organisations and engages with the Local Medical
Committee (LMC) which represents GPs and other representative bodies such
as the Local Ophthalmic Committee (LOC) and Local Pharmaceutical Committee
(LPC).
In February 2017, the CCG engaged with the public and stakeholders about how
local NHS funds should be spent. The views expressed during this period of
engagement helped the CCG to develop a framework for future commissioning
decisions.

Provision of care
As a commissioning organisation, we do not directly provide care for patients.
Acute hospital services - where a patient receives active but short-term treatment
for a severe injury or illness, an urgent medical condition, or during recovery from
surgery - are provided for our residents by NHS trusts, NHS foundation trusts
and other independent providers. The CCG contracts with more than 20 provider
organisations and we pay for acute care at other Care Quality Commission
(CQC) registered providers on a non-contractual basis.
Non-acute services - such as district nursing, therapy and rehabilitation - are
provided by a number of CQC registered providers, although community services
are predominantly provided by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. Mental
health and learning disability services are mainly provided by Hertfordshire
Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust.
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The healthcare providers with whom the CCG spent more than £5m in 2016/17
and the broad categories of care they provided, are set out here.
Provider

Service Category

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust

Acute

Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust

Acute

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Acute

North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust

Acute

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust

Acute

Ramsay Healthcare UK

Acute

University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust

Acute

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust

Ambulance

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

Community

Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust

Mental Health and
Learning Disability

The Pathology Partnership (TPP)

Pathology

Herts Urgent Care

NHS 111, GP Out of
Hours and Acute InHours Visiting Service

The number of providers with which East and North Hertfordshire CCG has a
contractual or other relationship, together with their geographic spread, provides
the population of East and North Hertfordshire CCG with a large degree of
choice.

18

Strategic ambitions
The CCG has nine strategic ambitions, developed in 2014/15. Progress against
these was reviewed in 2016 to understand how we are progressing against these
and delivering the NHS Constitution. Our nine strategic ambitions are:
1. helping residents to live healthier lives for longer
2. supporting people with long term conditions
3. improving end of life care
4. looking after frail and elderly patients
5. encouraging independent living
6. improving the emotional and mental health and wellbeing of children and
young people
7. early detection and better treatment of cancer
8. improving dementia care
9. parity of esteem – ensuring physical and mental health services are given
equal priority
National benchmarking reports, such as the ‘Commissioning for Value Packs’,
the ‘NHS Atlas of Variation’ and the ‘NHS Outcomes Tool’, which compare health
services and the health of our population with similar areas, have identified the
following areas for improvement:

We also know that more needs to be done to save lives each year in the
following areas: cancer, circulation, respiratory, gastro intestinal, trauma and
injuries.
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The following table shows our progress against our nine strategic ambitions to date.
CCG
ambition
Living
healthier lives
for longer

Supporting
people with
long term
conditions

1

Details

Proposed attainment

Progress highlights

One of the principal objectives for any
health system is that people should
live longer, healthier lives. As a result
of the investment we make in health
services, we should expect to see
people not only living longer but also
those additional years should be
characterised by good health rather
than poor health. When we look at
the current figures for life expectancy
and disability-free life expectancy, it
shows a significant gap between
localities. We will focus on improving
the lower performing areas.

Each locality has its own
life expectancy measures.
Details are contained in the
CCG Operational
Commissioning Plan
2014/16 which is available
on our website.

Life expectancy at 65 marginally increased between
2011/12 and 2014/15 for both males and females across the
CCG.

The Kings Fund report Making best
use of the Better Care Fund (2014)
indicates that patients with long term
conditions account for 70% of all
inpatient bed days. In the CCG area
this equates to 240,707 bed days. If a
patient with a long term condition has
an actively managed care plan, any
deterioration in their condition should
be better understood and managed by
patients themselves, accessing the
right NHS services when they need
them.

By 2016, 95% of patients
with a long term condition
will be offered a personal
health care plan and 50%
will actually have a personal
health plan, initiated by the
most appropriate health
care professional. This will
contribute to a reduction of
2,932 hospital bed days for
patients with long term
conditions by 2019.

In 2016/17 100% of patients were given a Personal Care
Plan. This was above the 95% target value.

This includes Broxbourne where in previous years there
was deterioration in life expectancy. For males in
Broxbourne the life expectancy is 80.8 compared to 80.5 in
2013. For females the life expectancy is 84.7 compared to
84.4 in 2013.

The latest published data from the July 2016 publication
1
shows that 79% of CCG patients with long term conditions
(LTCs) feel supported to manage their conditions.
The rate of increase in the number of emergency
admissions for this cohort of patients slowed to 1.2%
between 2014/15 and 2015/16. The number staying in
hospital for 2 days and under only increased by 0.7% with
current trends suggesting a reduction for 2016/17, based on
an estimate as at December 2016.

From the GP Patient Survey. Results exclude patient cohort who do not have a long term condition from the results.

20

CCG
ambition

Details

Proposed attainment

Progress highlights
The CCG has been working towards a standardised care
planning process across the system with templates
developed by GPs being rolled out from April 2017. Central
to managing Long Term Conditions is Personalised Care
and Support Planning. This has been included in the last
three Enhanced Commissioning Frameworks with a specific
target for COPD and Diabetes. It transforms the patient
experience from a largely reactive service, which responds
when something goes wrong, to a more helpful proactive
service, centred on the needs of the individual patient.
On a monthly basis GP Leaders across the CCG come
together to discuss long term condition management on
behalf of their respective localities. This is where clinical
input is crucial in designing and optimising care to better
meet the patients’ needs and live healthier more productive
lives.

End of Life
care

2

In 2012, across England, there were
300,000 hospital ‘episodes’ or phases
or periods of patient care for which
patients were admitted to hospital for
people within their last month of life.
This equates to around 3,000 hospital
episodes in our CCG area. Almost all
of these episodes are unplanned and
many could be avoided if a more
appropriate proactive end of life
service was in place. The CCG now
has an agreed shared vision with
stakeholders and plans are in place to
identify people approaching the end

2

By 2019, we will see a
reduction in the number of
hospital ‘episodes’ within
the final 30 days of life to
no more than 1,500; and
the percentage of people
dying in a place of their
choice will have increased
to 60%.

In 2016/17, 79.1% of patients died in their preferred place
of death which is the highest recorded since the programme
was initiated in 2012/13.
We have seen a steady increase over the past four years in
the number of patients recorded on the end of life register
and the latest complete year QoF data (2015-16) shows that
the CCG is not only above the England average, but is the
best performing CCG when compared to 10 similar CCGs.
0.65% of patients are on the end of life register (the
estimated number that should be on the register is 1%) –
England average is 0.35%, the average for our comparator
CCGs is 0.33%.

This excludes patients that did not express a preferred place of death.

21

CCG
ambition

Details

Proposed attainment

of their life earlier so that discussions
can be initiated with them about their
care preferences through Advance
Care Planning. We have been
developing an integrated care
pathway to support GPs and their
patients in accessing the right care at
the right time. Work has started to
develop an electronic system to coordinate and share data on patients’
care preferences. Incentives have
been agreed to develop the clinical
workforce across the whole health
system to deliver patient-centred end
of life services. Post-death audits
continue to be monitored to measure
how many people die in their preferred
place of death.

Looking after
our frail
elderly
patients

In 2014/15, there were 52,698
hospital spells resulting from
emergency admissions, costing a
total of £98m. Of these spells, 17,512
were for people aged over 75 at a
3
cost of almost £44m.
There is an opportunity to improve
the quality of care and reduce spend.
We will achieve this by tailoring care
for vulnerable and older people and
doing things differently in primary
care; for example the acute in-hours
home visiting service (AIHVS) and

3

Progress highlights
The significance of this is that where patients are identified
early as in the last year of life, care plans can be put in place
and a preferred place of death recorded resulting in the
preferred place is more often being achieved.
The better we are at identifying patients, the more we can do
to deliver patient-centred end of life services.

Reduction of hospital
spells of less than two
days for the over 75s by
15 per cent over five
years: reduction of 2,100
spells (a net reduction of
1,089 when demographics
are taken into account).

There was a 0.7% increase in the number of emergency
admissions from 2014/15 to 2015/16. This is for patients
aged 75+ admitted for 0 to 2 days. The forecast for 2016/17
is a reduction of 366 admissions which helps to bring the
CCG back towards the original ambition of 6,913 total
admissions in this cohort.
To improve the care of our frail, elderly patients the CCG has
been working with MedeAnalytics on ‘risk-stratification’ - the
process of assigning a health risk status to a patient, and
using the patient's risk status to direct and improve care.
Patient data from across health and social care is being
combined and assessed. Using this intelligence, clinicians
can identify potential patients at risk earlier to try and avoid

All providers all specialties and all activity that has been commissioned on behalf of patients who live in the CCG area.
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CCG
ambition

Details

Proposed attainment

expanding the HomeFirst project.
Rapid access to expert
opinion/support and appropriate
seven day working across all health
and social care providers should see
a reduction in hospital spells of less
than two days for the over 75s.

Progress highlights
attending hospital, where treatment at home would have
been the more appropriate care. The CCG is one of only a
few in the country that is using this technology to further
enhance the quality of care we give to our patients.

Encouraging
independent
living

We want to see people living healthy
and independent lives for longer.
Much of what the CCG and
Hertfordshire County Council
commissions is intended to promote
health and independence. The right
support for people living
independently should reduce the
demand on residential homes and
potentially nursing homes. The CCG,
along with the county council, will
monitor the demand for, and capacity
of, residential care and nursing
homes.

Reduction in permanent
admissions to residential
and nursing care homes
per 100,000 aged 65+

Latest figures indicate that since 2006/7 the number of
permanent admissions has decreased and in line with
national average:

Improving the
emotional and

One in ten children aged 5-16 have a
mental health problem. We will work

Local experience targets
and baseline to be agreed

The most recent figures from 2015/16 show that child
hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries
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CCG
ambition
mental wellbeing of
children and
young people

Details

Proposed attainment

Progress highlights

in partnership with other agencies to
improve the mental and emotional
wellbeing of children and younger
people to reduce the incidence of
challenging behaviour, self-harm and
suicide and improve the resilience of
families.

•

(0-14 years) has reduced by 14% compared to the previous
year. The CCG is below the England average.

•
•

•
•
Early detection
and better
treatment of
cancer

Improving
dementia care

We know that earlier diagnosis of
cancer improves survival rates. More
comprehensive cancer screening,
better use of referral guidelines,
reflective analysis of cancer cases,
tighter safety-netting systems and
lower thresholds for investigations (in
line with national guidelines) can all
help in detecting cancers at an earlier
stage when they are easier to treat,
with less morbidity and a higher
likelihood of cure. We aim to address
locality variations in mortality linked to
cancer.

The incidence of dementia will increase
as the population profile continues to
become older. We will work together
with partners to develop and implement
a responsive approach which
integrates physical and mental
wellbeing for people with dementia and

Number of thriving
families
School health and
wellbeing survey
Under 19s unplanned
hospitalisations for
asthma, diabetes and
epilepsy
Self-harm data
Suicide data

Cancer survival rates will
improve to above England
median and regional mean.
We will reduce locality
variation in under 75
mortality linked to cancer
so that by 2016/17 all
localities are within 35 % of
the best performing locality
and by 2018/19 all
localities are within 20% of
the best.

Further details about work we’ve doing to transform mental
health services for children and young people can be found
on page 28.

Cervical screening in 2015/16 was 75.6% compared to the
national figure of 72.8%.
Cancer deaths per 100,000 population was 219 compared to
234 deaths per 100,000 in England.
Breast screening rates have improved slightly at 72.3% which
is close to the national comparator rate of 72.5%.
The screening for bowel cancer in the 60-69 age range in
2015/16 was 59.5% which is higher than the national figure of
57.8%.
The CCG’s Cancer Steering Group will oversee local
implementation of the national Cancer Strategy during
2017/18.

Carer-reported outcome
measures to be
determined. The CCG is
in discussion with
partners about the
feasibility of combining
Mental Health Minimum

The rate of emergency admissions relating to Dementia was
lower than the national comparator rate during 2015/16. The
admissions for short stay dementia cases is higher than the
national comparator rate and an area the CCG is focusing on.
The percentage of patients diagnosed with dementia whose
care has been reviewed within 12 months was 78% in
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CCG
ambition

Ensuring
physical and
mental health
services are
given equal
priority

Details

Proposed attainment

their carers. We will develop the Herts
Dementia Strategy in four areas:
• Good quality diagnosis as early as
possible
• A workforce operating across
health and social care which is
confident to support the physical
and mental needs of people with
dementia
• Improved quality of care and
support for carers
• Improved outcomes in terms of
quality of life and carer reported
outcomes

Data Set and hospital
data. This innovative
approach would identify
the cohort of patients with
dementia and produce
quarterly analysis on how
this cohort is accessing
health services.

Treating mental and physical health
conditions in a co-ordinated way, and
with equal priority, is essential to
supporting recovery. Yet people with
mental health problems have worse
outcomes for their physical healthcare,
and those with physical conditions
often have mental health needs that go
unrecognised.

Patient and carer
experience outcome
measure to be determined.

We want to understand the way in
which people with mental health
problems access health and social care
services and what their experiences
are. Once we have that fuller
understanding, we and partners will
take steps to jointly commission
support services that meet patient and
carer needs.

Progress highlights
2015/16, in line with the national figure.
We are working to improve the speed of diagnosis. Across the
CCG areas, at least 94% are assessed for dementia within six
weeks. Going forward, specialist dementia nurses will be able
to give a provisional dementia diagnosis before patients see a
consultant to confirm the type of dementia to discuss ongoing
treatment and support options.

The percentage of people who are “moving to recover” of
those who have completed IAPT treatment was 48% up to
June 2016. This was against a national comparator rate of
47%.
During 2016/17, the CCG set a target that 15% of people who
may benefit should receive IAPT-compliant therapy. This is a
total of 9,545 people. In 2017/18, we have increased this
target to 10,670 people receiving treatment (16.8% of
prevalent population).
Recorded prevalence of depression was 7.9% in 2015/16
compared to 7.1% the year before. Detection is improving,
through joint partnership working there is a commitment to
improve access and outcomes for patients.
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Key projects in 2016/17
Better care for our care home residents
Since April 2015 the CCG has been working together with our partners,
Hertfordshire County Council and the Hertfordshire Care Providers Association
to improve the health and wellbeing of our elderly care home residents.
Around 3,000 of our residents live in care homes and are some of our most
vulnerable patients.
Through our care home ‘vanguard’ project we have successfully developed a
series of initiatives that will be rolled out across the UK as part of NHS England’s
‘new models of care’ programme.
The initial strand of the programme was developing the skills of care home staff
to make them more confident in dealing with the conditions of elderly residents,
and with health care professionals. So far 211 ‘champions’ have been trained in:
•
•
•
•
•

Dementia
Nutrition
Falls and fragility
Wound management
Health – covering end of life, continence, neurological and respiratory
conditions

Champions cascade their learning to colleagues within their individual care
homes.
Other successful initiatives are two Early Intervention Vehicles which provide an
immediate response, via the 999 call centre, to elderly residents who have fallen
at home. From May 2016, when the service launched, until the end of March
there have been 1,079 calls attended by our Early Intervention Vehicles. Patients
are assessed by the crew – a paramedic and a social care professional. After the
initial medical assessment, the crew talks to the patient and their carer to see
whether they can remain at home with support from community staff and
assistive equipment. Nearly three quarters of these patients are now able to
remain in their own homes rather than the 50% which typically are taken to
hospital.
Our ‘Impartial Assessor’ is a trained nurse, working at the Lister Hospital,
Stevenage, who liaises between hospital and care homes to get patients back
home quickly when they are deemed fit to leave hospital.
Our medicines optimisation team also continues to work in care homes alongside
GPs and care staff, to review residents’ medication. So far nearly 10,000
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medicines have been reviewed and 1,172 stopped – 237 of which were linked to
falls. This has resulted in savings of more than £200,000 in drug costs and a
potential £345,000 in hospital admissions and has greatly improved the quality of
life of the care home residents.

General Practice workforce and education
The recruitment of GPs and Practice Nurses across the UK and here in East and
North Hertfordshire is a significant challenge, in particular as a large percentage
of the General Practice workforce are due to retire in the next 3 – 5 years.
In order to ensure there is sufficient primary care workforce for the future, the
CCG not only needs to be innovative in identifying recruitment initiatives to bring
new staff to the area but also to invest in staff already working in primary care.
In 2015 the CCG established a Primary Care Workforce and Education Network.
This network includes a GP workforce and education lead and a primary care
nurse tutor for each locality, practice management representatives and
representatives from local partners including the University of Hertfordshire,
Health Education England, the LPC and the LMC.
The network aims to address these workforce and education issues by focusing
on recruiting, retaining and returning primary care staff. In addition the network
also explores new ways of working, as outlined in the ‘General Practice 5 Year
Forward View.’
The network has been very active in the last 12 months (more recently under the
banner of the Community Education Provider Network) and has delivered a
number of key successes, including:
•

Completing a comprehensive collection of staffing workforce and skills
data across the CCG covering more than 550 GPs and nurses. This has
helped us understand the workforce, where we need to recruit and what
skills and training are required to ensure our resources for education and
training are targeted to best use.

•

Increasing the numbers of practice nurses who are able to mentor nursing
students. This has been one of our priorities so we can facilitate more
students to undertake their placements in general practices and
encourage them to think about careers in this field. We have increased
our nurse mentors from 1 to 19 and our students from 1 to 12 during
2016/17.

•

Bringing newly qualified GPs into Hertfordshire to develop their general
practice careers through the implementation of a GP fellowship scheme.
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This allows GPs to develop a portfolio career including experience in a
clinical specialty placement and undertaking an academic course of their
choice. These posts are designed to encourage the brightest and best
doctors to come and work in our area.
•

Identifying training needs of general practice staff and proactively seeking
solutions to address them ensuring that the available funding is spent
effectively balancing the needs of practices and the CCG strategic
priorities for primary care.

•

Supporting practice nurses through the establishment of ‘practice nurse
forums’ led by locality nurse tutors. These ensure all practice nurses have
the opportunity to network and share ideas. In addition the CCG hosted a
conference for 120 practice nurse delegates featuring national and local
speakers. Practice nurses are also individually supported through their
professional revalidation by primary care nurse tutors.

•

Hosting the inaugural Hertfordshire Health and Social Care Careers Expo,
‘Future Heroes’, where more than 400 pupils aged from 14 – 18 years and
their tutors could meet clinical professionals from across the county and
through interactive, inspirational activities and demonstrations, be guided
to make the link between their studies and interests and a fulfilling and
rewarding career in health or social care.

•

Proactively exploring the development of workforce and education
initiatives such as a centre for primary care education and research,
physicians associates in general practice, community pharmacy
involvement in general practice.

Our priorities for 2017/18 will include looking how to support new models of care
and ensure that we support all primary care staff including practice managers to
deliver high quality general practice services both now and in the future.

Transforming mental health services for children and young people
The five-year project to transform mental health services for children and young
people living in Hertfordshire has seen real improvements. In the last 12
months, funding boosts have meant:
•
•
•
•

more young people receiving counselling support;
extra staff reducing waiting lists for specialist services;
extended hours so that urgent cases are seen more quickly;
a community team set up to support expectant and new mums with
mental health problems, their partners and families;
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•
•
•

an expanded eating disorders team helping more young people;
120 frontline professionals who work with new families trained to improve
their understanding of infant mental health; and
More than 400 school staff and other professionals trained in how to spot
emotional wellbeing problems and support young people.

More than 2,250 10 to 25 year olds have registered to get free online emotional
and mental health counselling and support at www.Kooth.com, with anxiety the
top reason for young people seeking help.
We’re asking what young people want services to look like and Hertfordshire’s
young commissioners have helped us develop online information and are
carrying out ‘mystery shopping’ testing how services handle self-referrals.
Working with Herts Valleys CCG, Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board,
Public Health, Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Healthwatch, children
and young people, and other partners we continue to develop and implement the
mental health and wellbeing transformation plan for children and young people in
Hertfordshire.
As part of this, seven new projects were awarded funding from the ‘innovation
fund’. The early help schemes, including counselling for LGBT+ young people
and cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) for teenage boys excluded or at risk of
exclusion from school, will test new approaches.
You can read the 2015-20 plan, Healthy Young Minds in Herts, on our website.
Find out where to get support in Hertfordshire at
www.healthyyoungmindsinherts.org.uk

Supporting the care of young adults with Type 1 diabetes
A project to give tailored support to young adults with type 1 diabetes began in
October. The project team of consultants, diabetes specialist nurses, a project
manager and a dedicated young person’s support worker will be trying new ways
to engage with young people, including using smartphones and new medical
technologies, to encourage them to take control of their health with individualised
care plans. The project is being piloted in four GP practices and aims to improve
health outcomes and reduce emergency admissions related to poor diabetes
control.
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Personal health budgets
The CCG has been developing plans to encourage more people with long term
health conditions to have a personal health budget. These budgets have already
been shown to improve quality of life and are helping people to feel more
involved in planning how best to meet their health and wellbeing needs. In July
2016 we held a workshop for practitioners within Hertfordshire and west Essex,
inviting commissioners and providers to find out more about the opportunities
and benefits of personal health budgets from NHS England representatives.
We will continue to work to provide personal health budgets to patients eligible
for Continuing Health Care. A phased approach is being taken to expand
provision to other patient groups and will include the delivery of pilot projects to
people with learning disabilities, those with mental health conditions, and
children and young people. The CCG will also continue to work with NHS
England on the wheelchair improvement programme to pilot personal health
budgets for wheelchair users. Close working relationships have been established
with the incumbent provider to develop the offer for wheelchair service users,
and we have worked with a number of service users and carers to improve the
service specification for the new service as of October 2017.
We will continue to raise awareness of Personal Health Budgets with
stakeholders, engaging local services and patients in shaping processes and
provision.

Dementia strategy
We have continued to implement Hertfordshire’s dementia strategy, which was
launched in May 2015. The scale of the challenge posed by dementia is
considerable, with an estimated 14,000 people currently living with dementia in
Hertfordshire, including more than 500 people with young-onset dementia. The
dementia strategy group is a cross sector partnership that meets quarterly to
drive forward the ambitions of the strategy, working collaboratively to improve the
experience of people living with dementia by addressing these six themes:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

enabling equal access to diagnosis and support
promoting health and wellbeing
developing dementia-friendly communities
supporting carers of people with dementia
preventing and responding to crisis
evidence based commissioning

To read our dementia strategy in full, please visit our website.
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The key actions we will take in 2017/18 to ensure the delivery of the strategy are
as follows:
1. Achieve and maintain delivery of the 66.7% diagnosis rate meaning over
4,500 people will have a dementia diagnosis in East and North Herts. This
will be enabled by a review of the Early Memory Diagnosis and Support
Service to ensure that dementia is diagnosed as early as possible and
support is available after diagnosis for patients and their carers.
2. Improve the dementia diagnosis pathway and ensure this delivers a timely
diagnosis.
3. Review local service standards in line with the forthcoming NICE
guidelines for implementation of an evidence-based treatment pathway.
4. Drive sustained improvements for post-diagnostic support and community
activities through the recently awarded tender for voluntary sector support
for people with dementia and their carers. This has included
mainstreaming the piloted community dementia specialist nurse service.
5. Develop dementia-friendly communities and Dementia Action Alliances as
opportunities arise.
We are continually engaged with the Strategic Clinical network, presently
supporting on developing a regional audit and benchmarking tool for memory
services in order to learn from other areas in the region, and drive local quality
improvements in our diagnosis service.

Redesigning urgent care
East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Herts Valleys CCG jointly commission
urgent care NHS 111 services and the GP out-of-hours service. Over the past
18 months, we have been working hard behind the scenes to plan and design a
new service to achieve an integrated, flexible, responsive and sustainable
service which ensures that patients get the right medical advice and are
signposted to the right service, first time.
This is to ensure our patients and carers can access excellent ‘joined-up’ health
care services that meet their individual needs whatever the time of day or night
they require help. This new integrated urgent care service aims to give quick and
easy access to health help when it’s urgent, but not an emergency.
Clinical engagement has and continues to be a key component of this work, with
GPs from both CCGs heavily involved in the pre-tender work, supporting the
drafting of the service specification, designing the clinical model and service
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pathways. The core project team also includes CCGs’ Integrated Urgent Care
GP leads, patients and Healthwatch Hertfordshire.
Also supporting this was a comprehensive patient survey undertaken between
July and October 2015 which helped to inform the service model. The survey
results highlighted that NHS 111 is the first port of call for most people and that
the speed at which good advice is delivered is a key consideration for patients.
Following a rigorous procurement process, the two Hertfordshire CCGs selected
Herts Urgent Care (HUC) to deliver this new integrated service. Herts Urgent
Care, a not-for-profit organisation which is the current provider of NHS 111 and
out-of-hours GP care in Hertfordshire has been chosen to run the new service
from this summer.
When calling NHS 111, which is available 24 hours a day, every day of the year,
patients will have access to advice from a wider range of specialist clinicians
without having to wait for a call back. Those who need to see a doctor or nurse in
person will have their appointment confirmed while on the phone.
The new integrated urgent care service is due to start at the end of June 2017.

Staying well in winter
Once again the CCG worked closely with local authority, neighbouring CCG and
provider colleagues to inform and educate the public about how to stay well
during the winter months. We made the most of the free opportunities available
to us, using local media, online channels, articles in the countywide Herts
Horizons magazine and screens in GP waiting rooms to get messages out to the
public.
For the 2016/17 flu season, the CCG invested £30,000 across the localities to
fund innovative approaches to increasing flu vaccination uptake. Each locality
put an action plan in place and nominated a designated flu lead to co-ordinate
activity and motivate practices.
Overall there has been an improvement in performance across the majority of
practices compared to last year and to neighbouring CCGs. Localities are always
striving to make sure that flu vaccinations are taken up by as many at-risk
patients as possible, so during April 2017, locality flu leads met to review practice
performance against action plans to assess how successful new interventions
had been. This will help inform the CCG’s flu vaccination planning for 2017/18.
The county’s provider trusts all significantly improved the number of frontline staff
who received the flu vaccination in 2016/17.
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My Care Record
This project gives clinicians access to view a patient’s GP record when there is
clinical need and consent is given by the patient. This innovative project is being
piloted at Princess Alexandra Hospital in Harlow, with records also accessible to
clinicians of Herts Community Trust. My Care Record securely connects different
health and care computer systems together to give an instant, clearer picture of
a patient’s health history.

Summary of key performance
A full analysis of performance against key indicators can be found on
pages 50-57.
•

Accident and Emergency (A&E) department performance
There is a national requirement that patients attending an Accident and
Emergency (A&E) department should be discharged, transferred or
admitted within four hours at least 95% of the time. In 2016/17,
performance has been challenging at East and North Hertfordshire NHS
Trust and Princess Alexandra Hospital with both failing to meet the target.

•

Ambulance response times
The CCG commissions services from the East of England Ambulance
Service NHS Trust (EEAST). The ambulance trust has been faced with a
number of challenges this year. Whilst demand on 999 services has
continued to see a slight increase on last year, the Trust has experienced
significant workforce pressures, despite efforts to recruit more staff. Along
with other CCGs in the East of England region, we are working with
EEAST to improve performance with the development of a recovery action
plan for the most urgent 999 calls. Private ambulance services have been
contracted to help meet demand, along with a clinical assessment
process called ‘Hear and Treat’ which reduces the number of ambulances
sent out to patients.

•

Referral to treatment times
Under the NHS Constitution there is a performance target related to
patients still waiting for treatment; the target being that 92% are to have
been waiting for less than 18 weeks. This target has been met for East
and North Hertfordshire CCG patients for 2016/17.

•

Stroke
Stroke performance improved in 2016/17 from last year, particularly in
relation to the 90% of time on a stroke unit target and urgent scanning
within 60 minutes. Changes in the pathway took effect from January 2016
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with stroke patients in the east of our patch no longer attending Princess
Alexandra Hospital in Harlow but instead going to Lister Hospital and
Queens Hospital, Romford.
•

Cancer
We believe that our patients should receive high quality care without
unnecessary delay and where cancer is suspected, patients have the right
to be seen by a cancer specialist within a maximum of two weeks of a
referral being received. Patients should expect to be treated according to
clinical priority and for patients diagnosed with cancer; their first definitive
treatment should be within 62 days of the date the referral was first
received and within 31 days of the decision to treat date.
The ‘two week referral to first outpatient appointment’ standard and 31
day standard from ‘decision to treat’ to ‘first definitive treatment’ have both
been met for 2016/17 for our patients.
The 62 day target of 85% has not been achieved at CCG level throughout
2016/17 deteriorating from 83% in April to a low of 63% in October 2016.
Performance has improved month on month since October although has
remained under 80%.

•

Diagnostic waits
There is a requirement that patients should have their diagnostic tests
within six weeks with a performance target of 99%. This standard has
been met for 2016/17. Performance has been good at both East and
North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Princess Alexandra Hospital.

•

Diagnosing dementia
As at the end of March 2017, GPs in east and north Hertfordshire had
recorded a rate of 65.4%, against a target of 66.7% of the expected
number of people over 65 diagnosed with dementia, an increase on this
time last year.
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Performance Analysis
Quality and performance in 2016/17
How we monitor quality
Our ambition is to commission high quality, safe and clinically effective services
for our patients. The indicators in the NHS Outcomes Framework; clinical
effectiveness, patient experience and patient safety, allow the CCG to be
assured of the quality of services being delivered by our providers and enables
us to challenge and intervene when necessary. This is in line with the
recommendations of a number of key publications, including Francis, Keogh and
Berwick which provide the fundamental principles of quality monitoring.
The CCG’s quality assurance strategy sets out our approach to commissioning
and monitoring services in order to deliver high quality care to our patients.
These are now well embedded into the CCG’s commissioning cycle and are
detailed below. The CCG:
•

sets key safety, experience and effectiveness measures which are
monitored regularly through quality review meetings, quality assurance
visits and contract review meetings

•

provides an integrated performance and quality report for the Governing
Body

•

has a robust Quality Committee as a full committee of the Governing
Body, which provides assurance on the quality of services we
commission. The committee receives a quality dashboard detailing key
metrics for all providers as well as a quarterly quality report detailing
quality performance for all providers

•

monitors and reviews a variety of data from a number of sources,
including the GP hotline, to ensure early warnings of a potential decline in
quality are identified and appropriate action taken. The GP hotline is a
direct way for GPs and practice staff to let the CCG know if there are any
issues with healthcare providers

•

has put in place a robust programme of quality assurance visits to
providers, using the expertise of patient representatives to support visits.
We use these to identify concerns and ensure appropriate actions are
taken
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•

has a well-informed patient network group which plays an integral role in
quality monitoring. The network includes representatives from all locality
groups to provide feedback on the quality of services commissioned by
the CCG

•

has an active wider network of patients who contribute to quality matters
by reporting feedback of patient experiences from their respective
communities, which is then collected and analysed by the quality team. A
number of our patient members are also volunteer ‘patient story’
collectors, who meet with patients and record their experiences for
sharing with our decision making bodies and stakeholder partners

•

works in partnership with providers and other commissioners to ensure
quality priorities are aligned to the current and future health needs of the
local population. Where appropriate, improvements are incentivised
through the commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN) schemes.

Throughout 2016/17 the quality team has been involved with a number of work
streams that have improved quality:
•

a review of the GP hotline has been undertaken to ensure queries from
practices are dealt with effectively and that themes are identified and
actions taken

•

The CCG has worked in partnership with local organisations to develop a
resource pack for care homes covering continence, respiratory care, and
wound care

•

The Complex Care premium has been successfully rolled out to a second
wave of residential and nursing homes in east and north Hertfordshire.
The homes selected for this programme are those in a position to support
the health of their most medically vulnerable residents. The support of an
allocated GP practice for each home and a comprehensive training
programme has provided staff with the skills they need to look after care
home residents, reducing their need to attend hospital due to health
emergencies

•

The CCG has supported the employment of an ‘Impartial Assessor’ by the
Hertfordshire Care Providers Association; based at the Lister Hospital, to
facilitate timely and appropriate discharges to care homes
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•

A ‘red bag’ pilot has commenced for care home residents which involves a
bag containing standard documentation, medication and personal
belongings staying with the patient from the time they leave home to the
time they return, meaning the hospital has relevant information to treat the
patient and support a timely discharge.

•

the CCG has supported a review of the crisis pathway for children and
adolescents and an action plan has been developed to improve the
service provided

•

the CCG is working with NHS England to provide support to GP practices
who have been rated as ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ by the
CQC

•

the CCG is working with our STP colleagues to align processes where
possible and ensure robust and consistent quality monitoring of our local
providers

•

during the year some of our providers have been through Care Quality
Commission (CQC) inspections, the CCG quality team has continued to
monitor the progress made against the action plans from the inspection’s
recommendations. The CCG is working with West Essex CCG, NHS
England and NHS Improvement to support Princess Alexandra Hospital
NHS Trust which has been placed in special measures following its latest
CQC inspection. The team has also supported a number of GP practices
through their first CQC inspections

•

The quality team has supported East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
with a number of focused visits to key services such as the emergency
department, maternity, paediatrics and Mount Vernon Cancer Centre to
support progress against the Trust’s CQC Improvement Plan.

Specific work that has been undertaken and is ongoing to improve clinical
effectiveness, patient experience and patient safety is detailed below:

Clinical effectiveness
•

We are continuing to work within relevant national clinical and NHS
Outcomes Framework guidance, as well as noting local priorities, to
ensure that our providers are delivering what is recognised as best
practice for patients.
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For example, for people with dementia, this means that access to
psychological or ‘talking’ therapies and improved quality of life are
prioritised as well as ensuring that their hospital treatment meets agreed
clinical pathways
•

Key data is continually reviewed so that we can benchmark the
performance of local providers and understand where and why their
performance varies from other similar organisations

•

Monitoring compliance against NICE guidance through quality review
meetings

•

Working with providers to ensure that following reconfiguration of the
stroke pathway, stroke patients receive effective safe acute care and ongoing rehabilitation

•

The CCG Quality Lead for Care Homes works closely with the local
authority to monitor the quality of care homes and monitor progress where
improvements are required and supports improvements where required

•

CCG pharmacists continued to support prescribers throughout the year in
the most appropriate and safe use of antibiotics in view of the requirement
to maintain robust stewardship of antibiotic use to reduce levels of
antibiotic resistance. In the latter part of the year practices were
encouraged and supported to monitor antibiotic use through audit
particularly those who were identified as higher prescribers and this is
likely to have contributed to achieving the national targets.
In order to ensure a continued improvement in the quality and safety of
prescribing for our patients, the CCG has also undertaken a number of
initiatives in-year. These include:
-

-

Development of an app for smart phones which allows our
prescribers to access local guidelines when away from their office
Promoted public health online learning tools to prescribers to
enable them to review their own practice
Supported the national ‘Antibiotic Guardian’ campaign with
patients, CCG staff and clinicians, encouraging everyone to
understand that they have a role to play in reducing the global
threat that antibiotic resistant infections pose to our local
population.
The Stort Valley and Villages locality has committed funding to a
pilot of a particular blood test in patients to establish if an antibiotic
would be indicated, before prescribing.
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-

Advocated the use of deferred prescriptions for potentially selflimiting infections

The CCG will be working with stakeholders in 2017 to update local prescribing
guidelines in line with latest best practice recommendations.

Patient experience
•

The CCG’s quality team continues to review complaint themes and trends
as well as to receive summaries of all complaints received by our main
providers. In 2016/17 the CCG’s main providers were requested to
undertake a gap analysis on their complaints process based on NHS
England’s “Assurance of Good Complaints Handling for Acute and
Community Care – A Toolkit for Commissioners” and develop an action
plan based on the recommendations

•

The CCG participated in Healthwatch Hertfordshire’s ‘Patient Experience
of the NHS Complaints System’ and the county-wide recommendations
were incorporated into the CCG’s rolling complaint improvement action
plan

•

The CCG’s quality team initiated a patient experience awareness
campaign with staff, speaking to specific teams about the importance and
benefits of listening and responding to patient feedback

•

The patient network reviewed the complaints information displayed on the
CCG’s website and following their feedback, the webpage was redesigned
to ensure it is user-friendly for patients. The CCG has also started to
publish complaint numbers, themes and learning on the website

•

GP patient survey results and associated action plans are regularly
reviewed to understand how improvements are being implemented. At
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, ‘John’s campaign’, a nationwide
initiative encouraging improved access to hospital wards for carers has
been launched. A hospital communication book has also been introduced
to inpatient and outpatient areas to help people with a wide range of
different needs to communicate with hospital staff during their visit or stay
in hospital

•

‘Friends and family’ scores, response rates and qualitative comments
made about local providers are closely monitored
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•

Through a CQUIN initiative, East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust has
increased the pharmacy service on specific wards at weekends to
improve patient safety and patient experience by ensuring accurate and
timely provision of medication to take home

•

Unannounced inspections of providers are undertaken by the CCG where
concerns have been identified. A programme of routine announced and
unannounced visits has been undertaken in 2016/17 including evening
and weekend visits. The CCG’s quality team has recruited new patient
members to the existing cohort who accompany such visits and lead
discussions with patients about the standard of care

•

Workforce data, including ward level and team level data, has been
reviewed with our local providers. Safer staffing levels continue to be
monitored, ensuring providers have robust processes in place to identify
areas where staffing levels are below planned levels and mitigate risks
appropriately

•

The CCG reviews national and local staff survey results and monitors
improvement action plans, seeking assurance that plans are in place to
ensure that the quality of patient care is not compromised because of
staffing difficulties.

Patient safety
In order to improve patient safety, a number of actions have been undertaken
over the course of the year:
•

‘Serious Incidents’ in health care are adverse events, where the
consequences to patients, families and carers, staff or organisations are
so significant or the potential for learning is so great, that a heightened
level of response is justified. The CCG has a serious incident panel which
meets weekly to review investigation reports from serious incidents to
make sure they are robust and answer all of the questions about how an
incident happened and what is being done to learn from it

•

A serious incident ‘deep dive’ audit has been carried out to review all
serious incidents declared by East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
relating to the emergency department. The purpose was to identify any
overarching themes and ensure the Trust has taken sufficient action to
mitigate further risk. The intelligence has also been used to inform quality
assurance visits
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•

The CCG holds a formal Serious Incident meeting with senior members of
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust every 4 months to discuss
themes and trends and seek assurance regarding the actions taken

•

The CCG is an active participant in NHS England’s Patient Safety
Learning Network as well as NHS England’s Area Team Quality
Surveillance Group which highlights and shares concerns with NHS
England, other CCGs and the CQC

•

Ongoing work with East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust to understand
why the Trust has had a higher than expected mortality rate has
continued, with the Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) now
falling within expected levels during 2016/17

•

We have worked with providers to make improvements where safety
concerns are identified.

‘Never Events’
‘Never Events’ are particular types of serious incidents which meet the following
criteria:
•

They are wholly preventable, where guidance or safety recommendations
that provide strong systemic protective barriers are available at a national
level, and should have been implemented by all healthcare providers

•

They have the potential to cause serious patient harm or death, although
serious harm is not required to have happened in order to classify as a
Never Event

•

There is evidence that the category of Never Event has occurred in the
past (nationally) and a risk of recurrence remains.

In April 2015, NHS England published the Serious Incident Framework (2015)
and the Revised Never Events Policy and Framework 2015. For further
information please visit: http://www.england.nhs.uk/patientsafety/never-events/

In 2016/17, two Never Events have been reported regarding East and North
Hertfordshire CCG’s patients; both from East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust.
The details of the incidents are as follows:
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Organisation

Incident

Detail

East and North
Hertfordshire NHS Trust

Incorrect
implant

An incorrect implant was used
during a patient’s knee surgery

East and North
Hertfordshire NHS Trust

Fall from
window

A neurological patient fell from
an inpatient window resulting
in injuries to the patient

During the same time period, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust has
declared a total of three Never Events; two at the Royal Free Hospital site and
one at the Barnet Hospital site; none relating to East and North Hertfordshire
CCG patients. A breakdown of these Never Events is as follows:
Organisation

Incident

Royal Free Hospital

Misplaced NG tube

Royal Free Hospital

Misplaced NG tube

Barnet Hospital

Wrong tooth extracted

Caring for vulnerable residents
East and North Hertfordshire CCG recognises the need to improve our work to
safeguard vulnerable children and adults, particularly children in the care of the
local authority. As a result, we have worked closely with our partner agencies
across Hertfordshire, through active membership of the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Board and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board,
to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children and vulnerable adults.

Safeguarding children
Children have the right to be protected from being hurt and mistreated, physically
or emotionally, and to be enabled to develop as healthy individuals. 4
Safeguarding children is a priority for the CCG and there is a commitment to
minimising the risk of physical, sexual or emotional harm to all children and
young people in Hertfordshire.

4

(UNCRC, 1989).
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Designated professionals will continue to offer assurance to the CCG that
commissioned services have measures in place to safeguard and protect
children at risk of harm. This will take place through analysing contracts, training
providers, reviewing processes and policy, constructive challenge, quarterly
dashboard monitoring, attendance at provider safeguarding committees and
supervision of named professionals. There are robust systems in place to ensure
all provider health organisations are fully compliant with Section 11 of the
Children Act (2004).
The CCG is a committed partner in the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
Board (HSCB), which is regularly attended by the Director of Nursing and Quality
and designated professionals. Designated professionals also sit on the HSCB’s
sub-groups, which monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of local organisations
to individually and collectively safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
This enables the CCG to have oversight of how all providers contribute to the
safeguarding children in their organisations.

Key achievements in 2016/17
•
•

•

•
•

•

Fully staffing the Safeguarding Children Team, including having ‘named
GPs’ in place, some of whom have been seconded from NHS England
Hertfordshire County Council’s scrutiny committee reviewed the topic of
neglect in Hertfordshire and made no recommendations – the first time
this has happened. This success was directly related to the launch of a
new multi-agency neglect strategy, with successful action pledges
submitted by key provider services.
Launch of a number of multi-agency work streams that will ultimately lead
to the development of safe, robust and high quality safeguarding related
practice across all partner agencies in Hertfordshire.
A peer review of domestic abuse services took place in November 2016,
with very positive outcomes, particularly for health organisations.
Completed a number of Serious Case Review actions and developed new
protocols where needed, to ensure safe and effective safeguarding
practice.
A broad programme of training has taken place including:
Training for key provider staff covering subjects informed by serious case
reviews and Section 11 recommendations
o Training on tackling female genital mutilation (FGM), honour-based
violence, forced marriage, prevent, child sexual exploitation,
domestic abuse and on leadership in safeguarding have been
delivered to primary care professionals
o With advice from the NSPCC, a training needs analysis has taken
place to identify and address any gaps in knowledge. New courses
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about neglect and supporting asylum seeking children and children
from the travelling community will now take place.

Key priorities for 2017/18
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

A working party will continue to drive the newly developed multi-agency
neglect protocol across Hertfordshire. An information leaflet is being
prepared and training will continue and providers monitored to ensure all
commissioned services meet national and locally agreed safeguarding
standards.
Providing additional training for GPs and specialist nurses
The newly recruited Nurse Specialist for LAC/Care Leavers will implement
pathways for LAC and Care Leavers.
Supporting newly recruited ‘named GPs’.
Reviewing safeguarding supervision across Hertfordshire, following
recommendations from a Serious Case Review.
Using a new ‘safeguarding assurance tool’ will enable the CCG to give
assurance to NHS England on a number of key safeguarding standards
Specialist nurse support for primary care on ‘CHANNEL’, an early
intervention process designed to protect young people from being drawn
into violent extremist or terrorist behaviour.
Assessing systems/processes for information sharing and reporting between
secondary and primary care
Continuing to provide designated support to Serious Care Reviews. In 2016,
three Serious Case Review reports were published. There is a further report
awaiting publication.

Safeguarding adults
The CCG is committed to working with partner agencies to support the
identification and prevention of all forms of abuse and mistreatment so that
everyone is able to make a full and positive contribution to society within
Hertfordshire and works closely with Hertfordshire’s Safeguarding Adults Board.
In 2016/17, East and North Hertfordshire CCG has achieved the following
outcomes:
•
•
•
•

Provided training to GPs and Practice Nurses on adult safeguarding.
Organised conferences for GPs on subject matters including; Mental
Capacity Act (MCA), Prevent and domestic abuse.
Undertook MCA audits of Provider organisations
Lead the HSAB Public Engagement Group to increase public awareness
and engagement of adult safeguarding, developing a safeguarding adult
app.
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•
•

•

Provided two Prevent masterclasses for provider organisations Named
Nurses.
With the Domestic Homicide sub group lead the development of a robust
governance process for domestic homicide reviews (DHRs) in
Hertfordshire.
Chaired a Safeguarding Adult Review and presented the report to the
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board.

The key areas of focus for the Adult Safeguarding lead in 2017/18 will be to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chair the Hertfordshire Mental Capacity Forum to share best practice and
innovations
With the Domestic Homicide sub group develop systems and processes to
ensure the learning from DHRs is implemented across organisations.
Contribute to NHSE Safeguarding Assurance Tool and implement any
resulting action plans
Represent the CCG as a substantive panel member for all DHRs.
Recruit to the post of CCG Named Nurse for Safeguarding Adults
Continue to provide training to GPs and other practice staff

Improving the health of people with learning disabilities
The national Transforming Care Programme (launched in 2012) found that too
many people with learning disabilities were being placed in inpatient settings
often far from home, and staying there for too long. The report set out clear,
timetabled actions for health and local authority commissioners working together
to transform care and support for people with learning disabilities or autism who
also have mental health conditions or behaviours viewed as challenging.
Hertfordshire became one of 6 fast track sites in 2015 and was allocated funding
to develop innovative services to prevent admission and support discharge from
inpatient settings.
In April 2016 Hertfordshire became one of 48 Transforming Care Partnerships
(working with Herts Valleys CCG and Hertfordshire County Council) and
Transforming Care became a 3 year programme.
Since then, the remit of the partnership has widened to include the range of
prevention and ‘step down’ services working with adults and children and young
people with challenging behaviour as well as the development of care and
treatment reviews (CTRs) which are a requirement for adults, children and young
people where there is a) a likelihood of admission or b) for anyone who is an
inpatient. Across Hertfordshire the CTR process is working well to limit hospital
admissions and reduce length of inpatient stays. We are continuing a
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programme to resettle people back to their local community from secure and
locked rehabilitation services.
We have also invested in new health, social care and community services to help
people successfully return to and remain well supported in the community.
Further information on the Hertfordshire’s Transforming Care Programme can be
found here.

Reducing health inequalities and improving health outcomes of people
with learning disabilities
Hospital registers were reviewed and improved in 2016/17 to better flag up
people with a learning disability so that reasonable adjustments can be made to
help patients when they visit local healthcare facilities.
Health Liaison Nurses offer support to ensure that patients with a learning
disability have a good experience when they are admitted to or discharged from
hospital.
Annual health checks for people with learning disabilities are an important tool
for ensuring good health and the right medical support for long term conditions.
We continue to promote these with patients, families, carers, social care
providers and GPs and monitor the uptake and delivery of health checks. In
2015/16 41.4% of people on the GP LD register received a health check; we
have been working to increase this percentage during 2016/17 (figures will be
available in the summer 2017).
Key activity to support the reduction of health inequalities amongst people with a
learning disability this year has included:
•
•
•

•
•

•
•

A named community learning disability nurse linked to each GP practice
Learning disability GP registers have been reviewed with the support of
the link nurses
Promotion of the Hertfordshire Purple Star Strategy as a quality standard
tool and increase the number of health services achieving the purple star
accreditation
Encouraging uptake of the seasonal flu jab
Establishing a multi-agency medicines review project group to work with
GP practices to address where there is inappropriate over prescribing of
psychotropic medication
Reviewing pathways to make it easier for people with a learning disability
to access screening provision, dementia diagnosis and epilepsy support
Helping GP practices better understand the role of community learning
disability nurses and health liaison nurses.
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Quality Premium Performance 2016/17
All CCGs have the potential to earn a ‘Quality Premium’ (QP) which is a reward
for improvements in the quality of services that they commission and for
associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities.
The Quality Premium for 2016/17 will be paid to CCGs in 2017/18 to reflect the
achievements of national and local measures based on the priorities of the Five
Year Forward View, NHS Mandate and Right Care Programme.
CCGs must use any QP payment awarded to them to improve quality of care or
health outcomes and/or reduce health inequalities.
In 2015/16 the CCG was awarded 67% of the available Quality Premium, which
after adjustments in line with delivery of constitutional requirements, equated to
£954,000. In 2016/17 the total maximum amount payable to CCGs for
achievement of the QP is £5 per registered patient. For East and North
Hertfordshire CCG, with a registered population of around 590,000 this would
equate to around £2.95m.
The national measures, based on the Five Year Forward View and NHS
Mandate are:
•
•
•
•

Cancers diagnosed at an early stage - worth 20% of the Quality Premium;
Increase in proportion of GP referrals made by e-referrals - worth 20% of
Quality Premium;
Overall experience of making a GP appointment - worth 20% of Quality
Premium;
Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) improving antibiotic prescribing in primary
care - worth 10% of Quality Premium.

The three local measures are based on priorities for East and North
Hertfordshire CCG for 2016/17 and were agreed with NHS England:
•

•

•

Improvement in percentage of patients returning to usual place of
residence following hospital treatment for stroke - worth 10% of the
Quality Premium;
Improvement in percentage of patients diagnosed with dementia whose
care has been reviewed in a face-to-face review in the preceding 12
months - worth 10% of the Quality Premium
Reduction in A&E attendance rate per 1,000 population aged 0-4 years worth 10% of the Quality Premium.
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Domain/Measure Detail
Cancers
diagnosed at an
early stage

Data for this metric is
Improvement in the proportion produced annually and
of cancers diagnosed at stages information for 2016/17 will
1 and 2
not be available until mid2017/18

Increase in the
Improvement in the proportion
proportion of GP
of GP referrals made by Ereferrals made
Referral
by E-Referral

Antimicrobial
Resistance
(AMR)
Improving
antibiotic
prescribing in
primary care

Performance at year end

Part A: Reduction in the
number of antibiotics
prescribed in primary care.

Part B: Reduction in the
proportion of broad spectrum
antibiotics prescribed in
primary care.

This target is currently on
track to be achieved,
however final data will not
be available until late May
2017
This target was achieved
for 2016-17 with an
achievement of 1.150
items prescribed per
STAR-PU (National target
= number of items equal to
(or below) the England
2013/14 mean
performance of 1.161 items
per STAR-PU)
This target was achieved
for 2016-17 with an
achievement of 8.63%
.(National target = to be
equal to or lower than
10%)

Overall
experience of
making a GP
appointment

Increase in the percentage of
respondents to the GP Patient
Survey who said they had a
good experience of making an
appointment.

The data for this metric will
be released in the July
2017 publication of the GP
Patient Survey.

Local Measure 1

Improvement in percentage of
patients returning to usual
place of residence following
hospital treatment for stroke

This target was achieved
for 2016/17
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Local Measure 2

Improvement in percentage of
patients diagnosed with
Currently awaiting
dementia whose care has
performance data for this
been reviewed in a face-tometric
face review in the preceding 12
months

Local Measure 3

Reduction in A&E attendance
rate per 1,000 population aged
0-4 years

This target was not
achieved for 2016/17

The total payment to CCGs, based on performance against national and
local measures detailed above, is further reduced if the NHS Constitution
rights or pledges are not met for its patients:
•
•
•
•

Maximum 18 week wait from referral to treatment (incompletes) – 25%
reduction;
Maximum four hour wait in A&E – 25% reduction;
Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent GP referral to first
definitive treatment for cancer – 25% reduction;
Maximum eight minute responses for Category A (Red 1) ambulance calls
– 25% reduction.

Failure to meet these pledges results in a percentage reduction to the amount of
Quality Premium earned for each standard not met, with the risk of losing the
whole payment if none are met. CCGs must also manage within their total
resource envelope for 2016/17 and not be in serious quality failure in order to
qualify for any Quality Premium payment. Failure to meet these criteria will result
in CCGs not being awarded any of their Quality Premium payment.
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Performance against NHS Constitution
Rights/Pledges 2016/17
The table below details performance against the NHS Constitution Rights and
Pledges. For 2016/17, only one out of the required four performance standards
has been met which results in a reduction of 75 per cent to any quality premium
payable to the CCG.
The Quality Premium payment to the CCG for 2016/17 will not be finalised until
late September 2017.

NHS Constitution
Right / Pledge

Detail

Standard

Performance at year
end

Patients on incomplete nonemergency pathways (yet to start
treatment) should have been
waiting no more than 18 weeks
from referral

92% or bespoke
trajectory as
agreed

This target has been
met for 2016/17

Four hour wait in
A&E

Patients should be admitted,
transferred or discharged within
four hours of their arrival at an
A&E department

95% or bespoke
trajectory as
agreed

This target has not
been met for 2016/17

Cancer two
month (62-day)
wait

Maximum two month (62-day) wait
from urgent GP referral to first
definitive treatment for cancer

85% or bespoke
trajectory as
agreed

This target has not
been met for 2016/17

Category A Red 1
response times

Maximum 8 minutes responses for
Category A (Red
1) ambulance calls

75% or bespoke
trajectory as
agreed

This target has not
been met for 2016/17

Maximum 18
week wait from
referral to
treatment

A&E four hour operational standard
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust has failed to achieve above 90% against
the A&E 4 hour operational standard in 2016/17 and Princess Alexandra Hospital
NHS Trust has failed to achieve above 80%.
A ‘contract performance notice’ was issued to ENHT in May 2016 and the
associated improvement plan continues to be used to drive further improvements
and is based on the five mandated actions set out in the NHS England report on
transforming urgent and emergency care services: Safer, Faster, Better:
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1) Streaming at A&E, ensuring that patients receive the right care, first time
2) Increase the proportion of NHS 111 calls handled by clinicians
3) Ambulance response programme – deploying appropriate resources
4) Improving patient flows through the hospital
5) Improve discharge processes.
To support a smoother patient pathway, the surgical and medical assessment
units have been moved and are now co-located near A&E. The new emergency
department medical model was implemented during September 2016 and
continues to work well and has received a positive review from the Emergency
Care Improvement Programme (ECIP). The CCG is continuing to closely work
with ENHT and has implemented a GP at the ‘front door’ of A&E at the Lister
Hospital, with the aim of improving flow both away from and through the
emergency department.
Action being undertaken at Princess Alexandra Hospital includes the introduction
of an improvement action plan and ‘Every Minute Matters’ work to improve the
speed at which patients with urgent care needs are treated by the most
appropriate professional.
A frailty unit opened at the hospital in December 2016 to treat older patients
away from the busy environment of A&E, with follow-up outpatient appointments
arranged with appropriate services. The service is seeing and treating patients,
although it is not yet fully mobilised due to staffing issues.

Response times to ambulance calls
The CCG commissions emergency ambulance services from the East of England
Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EEAST). The ambulance trust has faced a
number of challenges this year. Whilst demand on 999 services has continued to
see a slight increase on last year, the trust has experienced significant workforce
pressures, despite efforts to recruit more staff.
Along with other CCGs in the East of England region, we are working with
EEAST to improve performance with the development of a recovery action plan
for the most urgent 999 calls. Private ambulance services have been contracted
to help meet demand, along with a clinical assessment process called ‘hear and
treat’ which reduces the number of ambulances sent out to patients.
A shift in the complexity of the health of patients using the 999 service has also
taken place, which has put further demands on available resource. Performance
did not improve during the second half of the year with the added pressures of
the cold weather. Compared with 2015/16, there was a slight improvement in
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performance for the Red 2 serious and Red 1/Red 2 response times, with
response times for Red 1 critical calls remaining at similar levels for 2016/17.

Ambulance Response

Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17

Calls judged to be lifethreatening, where the
patient could require
defibrillation, resulting in an
emergency response
arriving within 8 minutes
(Red 1 Critical)

75%

69.04%

66.83%

69.88%

68.88%

68.66%

Calls judged to be
immediately life- threatening,
resulting in an emergency
response arriving within 8
minutes (Red 2 serious)

75%

61.39%

64.28%

63.05%

60.57%

62.32%

Calls resulting in an
ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes
(Red 1/Red 2)

95%

92.05%

92.48%

92.56%

91.17%

92.07%

Waiting times for cancer treatment
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients with suspected cancer. There
are a number of government pledges on waiting times:

Two-week waits
•
•

A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients referred with
suspected cancer symptoms;
A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients referred for
investigation of breast symptoms, even if cancer is not initially suspected.

31 days
•
•
•
•

A maximum one month (31-day) wait from the date a decision to treat
(DTT) is made to the first definitive treatment for all cancers;
A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is
surgery;
A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is
a course of radiotherapy;
A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is
an anti-cancer drug regimen.
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62 days
•
•
•

A maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent referral for suspected
cancer to the first definitive treatment for all cancers;
A maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS cancer screening
service to the first definitive treatment for cancer;
A maximum 62-day wait for the first definitive treatment following a
consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the patient (all cancers).

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
Although East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust has performed well against the
2-week standard, it has found the 31-day standard and the 62-day standard
challenging.
The trust reported 92.27% for 2016/17 against the required 96% for the 31 days
standard from decision to treat to first definitive treatment for all cancers. The
Trust reported 69.99% for 2016/17 against the required 85% for the 62 days to
first definitive treatment standard. This excludes any adjustment in accordance
with the Inter Trust Transfer Policy, which is likely to increase the figure to just
over 70% for the year. A ‘contract performance notice’ was issued by the CCG in
January 2017 and monthly cancer performance meetings have been established.
An agreed recovery plan to drive improvements in cancer pathways is in place
with the intention of achieving the required 85% standard by July 2017. The plan
includes a review of the cancer patient tracking list, radiology and theatre
capacity and processes, and ways to reduce delays in pathways to improve
performance.
Late referrals from other trusts have impacted on performance at ENHT but there
were other internal factors that led to ENHT not achieving the required 85%,
mainly as a consequence of delays in the diagnostic phase of the cancer
pathway. The CCG reviews every breach to find out why it occurred and to
review what is being done to avoid similar breaches happening in future.
The CCG also has a Cancer Steering Group which discusses issues of
performance against national cancer waiting times, national guidance and
reviews ways in which cancer pathways can be improved.

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
Performance at Princess Alexandra Hospital against the cancer waiting time
standards has been good with all metrics met for 2016/17 overall.
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Table: Cancer waiting times for all CCG patients
Cancer Waiting Times at CCG
level

Two
Week
Waits

31 Day
Waits

62 Day
Waits

Targ
et

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17

Maximum two-week wait
for first outpatient
appointment for patients
referred urgently with
suspected cancer by a
GP

93%

96.56%

95.63%

97.10%

97.27%

96.75%

Maximum two-week wait
for first outpatient
appointment for patients
referred urgently with
breast symptoms (where
cancer was not initially
suspected)

93%

93.77%

92.63%

94.75%

96.01%

94.29%

Maximum one month (31day) wait from diagnosis
to first definitive treatment
for all cancers

96%

97.06%

96.90%

95.73%

94.49%

96.04%

Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment
where that treatment is
an anti-cancer drug
regime

98%

99.52%

96.58%

99.47%

95.38%

97.74%

Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment
where that treatment is
surgery

94%

97.53%

92.85%

86.27%

89.84%

91.62%

Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment
where that treatment is a
course of radiotherapy

94%

95.07%

94.13%

95.29%

91.19%

93.92%

Maximum two month (62day) wait from urgent GP
referral to first definitive
treatment for cancer

85%

81.94%

74.71%

71.53%

76.60%

76.19%

Maximum 62-day wait
from referral from an NHS
screening service to first
definitive treatment for all
cancers

90%

92.38%

96.19%

88.76%

86.49%

90.96%

Maximum 62-day wait for
first definitive treatment
following a consultant's
decision to upgrade the
priority of the patient (all
cancers)

85%

88.99%

86.67%

94.44%

91.19%

90.32%
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Referral to Treatment Times (RTT)
Under the NHS Constitution there is a performance target related to patients still
waiting for treatment; the target being that 92% are to have been waiting for less
than 18 weeks. This target has been met for East and North Hertfordshire CCG
patients for 2016/17.
The table below details the RTT performance for East and North Hertfordshire
CCG patients for 2016/17. Performance at ENHT and PAH has been good which
has resulted in the target being met for CCG patients throughout the year.

RTT Waiting Times

18
Weeks

Patients on
incomplete nonemergency
pathways (yet to
start treatment)
should have been
waiting no more
than 18 weeks from
referral

Target

92%

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17

92.44%

92.51%

92.17%

92.62%

92.62%

Diagnostic test waiting times
There is a requirement that 99% of patients have diagnostic tests within 6 weeks
of clinician request. Performance has been good for 2016/17 at both East and
North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Princess Alexandra Hospital and at overall
CCG level.
Diagnostic Test
Maximum six week wait for
diagnostic test

Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17

99%

99.3%

99.4%

98.8%

99.56%

99.56%

Stroke performance
Stroke performance, is monitored nationally and reported publically, via the
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP). East and North
Hertfordshire NHS Trust performance has improved during 2016/17 with the trust
attaining an A and B grade.
The CCG is above average compared with other CCGs for the target for patients
to spend 90% of their time on a stroke unit and 4-hour targets although the
number of our patients who receive thrombolysis (clot-busting drugs) within
specified timescales is below average when compared with other CCGs.
55

ENHT is increasing staffing levels to meet ‘hyper-acute stroke unit’ and ‘acute
stroke unit’ standards. In addition there is 24/7 stroke specialist nurse cover in
A&E to quickly identify stroke patients, and seven day therapy support for
inpatient strokes and TIA clinics at Lister site.
Early supported discharge has expanded in 2016/17 and is now supporting more
than 40% of our stroke patients with intensive rehabilitation in their normal place
of residence and in community stoke beds in Herts and Essex Hospital, Bishop’s
Stortford and at Danesbury in Welwyn.
The CCG continues to monitor and support stroke services through its stroke
programme board.

Stroke Performance

Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

4 hours direct to stroke unit
(ASI 2)

90%

77.00%

71.60%

Data not
yet
available

Data not
yet
available

90% of time on the stroke unit
(ASI 3, IPMR)

80%

87.70%

87.40%

Data not
yet
available

Data not
yet
available

Thrombolysed within 3 hours

12%

9.40%

9.10%

Data not
yet
available

Data not
yet
available

Dementia diagnosis
We have increased our funding to the dementia diagnosis service run by
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) over the last
year. This has increased their capacity to diagnose more people.
Local GPs agreed to take over responsibility for dementia prescribing where it is
safe and appropriate to do so, and this transfer process was finished during the
year. This increased the service’s capacity in 2016/17 to diagnose people in a
timely manner.
As at the end March 2017, GPs in east and north Hertfordshire had diagnosed
918 service users, recording a rate of dementia diagnosis of 65.4% of the
expected number of people over 65 with dementia locally.
In 2017/18 the measures put in place should enable us to achieve the national
ambition of 66.7% of the expected number of residents having a recorded
dementia diagnosis. More importantly, by diagnosing patients more promptly we
will be better able to support them and their families.
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Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
The national targets for the numbers of people accessing psychological
therapies and the proportion of people assessed as having recovered as a result
of their treatment have been met for 2016/17. In total over 10,300 people
received treatment in 2016/17, 750 over the target. We have also been achieving
against the national waiting time targets of 75% of people starting treatment
within six weeks, achieving 90.99% at the end of 2016/17, and 95% of people
within 18 weeks, achieving 100% at the end of 2016/17.

Emergency preparedness, resilience and
response
As an organisation we recognise our statutory responsibilities under the Civil
Contingencies Act (2004) and the importance of being fully prepared to respond
effectively in case of an incident, which challenges the capacity of the local
health system. During 2016/17 we have focused on maintaining being fully
compliant against all eight ‘domains’ of the core standards assurance selfassessment for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR).
These eight domains are:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

governance
duty to maintain plans - emergency and business continuity
command and control
duty to communicate with the public
information sharing
co-operation
training and exercising
deep dive subject – business continuity

Specifically the CCG has:
•

maintained the resources to ensure that it fulfils its statutory duties as a
category two responder under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004)

•

aligned our risks to National and Local Resilience Forum (LRF) risk
registers

•

agreed an inter-agency information sharing ‘memorandum of
understanding’ (MoU)
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•

supported the development of the Hertfordshire Mass Casualties Plan and
designation of minor injuries centres.

•

Trained staff and exercised our plans, communication channels and
processes by continuing to develop resilience as an organisation

•

A Director- level Accountable Emergency Officer attends the Local Health
Resilience Partnership (LHRP)

•

Appointed a EPRR Manager responsible for leading all EPRR matters
within the CCG and assist health service providers to do the same.

The CCGs priorities for 2017/18 will support the development of:
•

the capability to deal with the most concerning issues on the community
risk register

•

the embedding the National Joint Emergency Service Interoperability
Programme (JESIP) principles into major incident, business continuity,
communications plans and training packages

•

the Hertfordshire pandemic influenza plan to include national learning

•

business continuity including mass IT failure and cyber attacks

•

robust business continuity training and planning for primary care and GP
services to ensure they are an integral part of the health systems
response in an emergency.
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Sustainability report
What is sustainable development?
The goal of sustainable development is to enable all people throughout the world
to satisfy their basic needs and enjoy a better quality of life, without
compromising the quality of life of future generations.
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, the CCG has an
obligation to work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for
which we commission and procure healthcare services. Sustainability means
spending public money well, making smart use of natural resources and building
healthy, resilient communities. The CCG acknowledges this responsibility to our
patients, local communities and the environment by working hard to minimise our
footprint.

Commissioning in a sustainable way
The NHS Sustainable Development Unit has calculated that commissioned
health and social care services make up 98% of CCGs’ carbon footprints,
although this analysis was carried out without CCGs’ direct spend on
pharmaceuticals being factored into the calculation. 5
The CCG’s updated Procurement Strategy has taken into account ‘social value’
and sustainability requirements as part of the procurement process. Weighted
sections on these issues were included in recent procurements including the
‘integrated urgent care service’, wheelchair services and community glaucoma
and ocular hypertension services. Staff have attended external training on
procurement and on ‘commissioning for sustainability’ and the learning from the
training and its implementation is being shared within the organisation.

Optimising medicines use
Another way the CCG is commissioning more sustainably is through reducing
medicines wastage and therefore production by managing the demand on
prescribed pharmaceuticals.
A dedicated medicines optimisation team works to reduce the prescribing of
antibiotics and other medications where this is not appropriate to patients’ needs.
This saves money and helps to stem the spread of antibiotic resistance. It also
helps improve the health and wellbeing of patients and could lead to a lower
carbon output following a reduction in manufacturing.
5

2016: Sustainable Development Unit: Carbon Hotspots update for the health and care sector in England
2015 and direct correspondence with Imogen Tennison from the Sustainable Development Unit.
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CCG pharmacists continued to support prescribers throughout the year in the
most appropriate and safe use of antibiotics. Further information is provided on
page 38 of this report.
Pharmacists from the medicines optimisation team work directly with GP
practices, helping them prescribe in the most cost-effective way. Improved IT has
allowed some of this work to be conducted off-site thereby minimising the
requirement for travel. To the end of March, the work of the CCG’s in-practice
pharmacy team has generated an estimated annual saving of £360,000.
The team supports practices with improving their repeat prescribing processes
and promoting the further uptake of online prescription ordering, electronic
transmission of prescriptions and repeat dispensing - all of which help to
minimise unnecessary patient journeys.
The team makes as much use of electronic communications as possible to
minimise use of paper, and also tries to produce outputs that are meaningful
when printed in black and white, avoiding the need for expensive colour printing.
The team networks with colleagues across the STP area through monthly
teleconferences rather than meetings, and participates in webinars with national
colleagues. This helps save time and emissions from travel.
The CCG has been utilising the skills of clinical pharmacists to support GPs with
their management of patients in care homes since November 2015. An average
of 12% of prescribed items have been stopped following a clinical review with
pharmacist and GP, saving more than £224,000 in drug costs.
Based on the care home teams’ findings the CCG is developing resources and
training packages to share learning and reduce waste. Examples of actions
being taken include reducing quantities prescribed for ‘when required’
medications, changing to packaging with longer shelf life and training care home
staff about medicines expiry dates.

CCG sustainability policies
The Director of Commissioning has been leading on sustainability and is
supported by a sustainability officer as part of her role in the primary care
projects team.
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the
use of a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). The SDMP plan
for the CCG will be approved by the Governing Body during 2017/18.
As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a
sustainable future, the CCG is developing awareness campaigns that promote
and demonstrate the benefits of sustainability to our staff. Presentations on
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sustainability and healthcare have been given in team meetings and will be rolled
out across the organisation.
The CCG’s health and wellbeing representatives have organised a variety of
events to get staff involved in fitness activities and improve their mental and
physical health. This collective action demonstrates our commitment to
increasing social value through personal action and increasing sustainability by
acting locally.

Reducing our carbon footprint
The CCG has a duty to contribute towards the ambition, set in 2014, of reducing
the carbon footprint created by the NHS, public health and social care system by
34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline
by 2020.
Climate change brings new challenges to our organisation both in direct effects
to the healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Recent adverse weather
events including heatwaves, floods, droughts and prolonged periods of cold
weather presents us with challenges to how patient care is delivered. The CCG
has identified the need for a plan to tackle future climate change risks affecting
our area which is linked to our emergency preparedness measures as a CCG.

Travel
We can improve local air quality and therefore the health of our community by
promoting active travel to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and
public that use the services we commission. CCG staff can claim cycle mileage
for their business travel and the CCG has joined the government’s ‘cycle to work’
scheme. This allows staff to purchase a bike and cycle safety equipment as a
tax-free benefit.
Claimed mileage for business travel by road has increased as a total but
decreased as an average per full time equivalent employee. Cycle mileage
claimed has increased. It is expected that the adoption of the ‘cycle to work’
scheme, along with promotion of cycling for work-related travel, lift sharing and a
growth in teleconferencing and remote support will help stabilise or further
decrease car travel figures in the coming year.
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Financial
Year

2015-16
2016-17
Change
Change

Total Pedal
Cycle
Milaeage
claimed as
expenses
(miles)

Total Travel
Mileage
(cars)
claimed as
expenses
(miles)

19
65
46
243%

251,159
269,889
18,731
7.5%

Average
Whole Time
Equivalent
(WTE) staff
employed

Average
Travel Mileage
(cars) per
WTE staff
employed

248
272
24
9.7%

Total kg CO2e
from Travel
Mileage (cars)
Estimated using
figures for the
average car of
unknown fuel
type, see here.

1,013
992
-20
-2.0%

75,568.64
81,204.34
5,635.70
7.5%

Energy usage
When the CCG was established on 1st April 2013, it occupied rented space in
two adjacent buildings. The amount of space occupied by the CCG grew until
2015/16, due to the CCG taking on a number of services previously provided by
a commissioning support unit.
From January 2017 the CCG reduced the amount of office space it occupied by
21% whilst keeping the same amount of WTE staff. This was achieved through
increased flexibility and better utilisation of office space. All staff now have a
laptop and hot-desking and agile working for all was introduced from December
2016. Having more staff in a smaller area is expected to reduce overall
emissions from electricity and gas, as well as producing economic savings for
the CCG in terms of rent and utilities. Agile working is expected to cut emissions
from the staff commute and business travel.
The newly occupied third floor of Charter House has also been fitted with low
energy lighting which will reduce our costs in this area.
2013-14
CCG occupancy of Charter House (NIAm2)

2014-15

6

2015-16

2016-17

826

1126

1126

1763

0

1098

1098

0

Total CCG Floor Space (NIA m2)

826

2224

2224

1763

Number of staff (WTE in January of the financial
year)

92

243

271

272

Average floor space per WTE staff member (m2)

9.0

9.2

8.2

6.5

CCG occupancy of Fountain House (NIA m2)
(gross for 2014/15, as CCG moved into Fountain
House five months into the financial year)

6
7

7

Month 5 onwards
Month 10 onwards - office moves place from month 7 to month 10
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Due to the nature of the leasing arrangements, obtaining accurate data for
electricity, gas and water usage from our NHS landlord has not been possible; in
large part due to infrequent and estimated meter readings to date. The
Sustainability Officer is in the process of arranging for more frequent readings to
be taken, in order that future use can be accurately measured and targets to
minimise usage set.

Waste Services
Total waste generated by Charter and Fountain House

8

Sum of net
weight (tonnes)

Sum of net
weight (tonnes)

tCO2e (using
SDU
reporting
tool)

1st June 201631st April 2017

Estimate for 201617 financial year

Estimate for
2016-17
financial year

Confidential Waste
(this is recycled)

79.64

86.88

Mixed Recycling

16.32

17.80

Glass

0.08

0.08

Mixed recycling,
confidential waste
and Glass Total

96.03

104.76

2.20

Landfill (including
sanitary waste)

19.31

21.07

6.53

Total

115.34

125.83

8.73

Waste

ENHCCG
total 2016-17
expenditure
on waste
management
(paid
quarterly to
NHS Property
Services)

£6,631.35

The CCG has a general waste and recycling contract in place with a waste
services organisation. Due to a new contractor providing waste services from
June 2016, data from the first two months of the financial year could not be
obtained and figures were therefore estimated. This includes general waste
bins, dry mixed recycling and glass recycling. Confidential waste is collected in
secure bins, shredded on site and recycled. Dry mixed recycling includes
recycling paper, hand towels, plastics, cans and cardboard packaging. Staff
awareness campaigns help staff to recycle correctly.

8

Buildings have shared occupancy with NHS England so it is not possible to identify waste volume figures
for ENHCCG alone)
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Other key achievements in 2016-17
•

In April 2016, the New QEII Hospital in Welwyn Garden City won a
prestigious RIBA (Royal Institute of British Architects) sustainability award.
The hospital was commissioned by the CCG and we worked closely with
the architects on all aspects of hospital design.

•

The move to hot desking for all is incentivising staff to move towards
paperless working.

•

The sustainability officer continues to represent the CCG at the East of
England sustainability network quarterly meetings, and CCG colleagues
have benefited from attending the networks’ masterclasses.

•

The sustainability officer has formed working relationships with peers from
other NHS organisations within and beyond our STP.

•

The CCG participates in a care home ‘vanguard’ project. The programme
focuses on reducing ambulance call outs and avoidable hospital
admissions and improving health and wellbeing for elderly care home
residents. More details about the programme can be found on page 73 of
this report.

In 2017-18 we are aiming to:
•

Approve and adopt a Sustainable Development Management Plan. The
plan will benchmark current achievement and set targets for sustainability
goals.

•

Continue work to embed sustainability throughout the organisation.

•

Run staff development sessions on various aspects of sustainability to
encourage people to embed sustainable practices into their work and
home life.

•

Further promote uptake of the cycle to work scheme.

•

Continue to focus on sustainability in pharmacy and procurement as top
sustainability priorities for the CCG.
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Reducing health inequalities
Avoidable health inequalities are – by definition - unfair and socially unjust. A
person’s chance of enjoying good health and a longer life is determined by the
social and economic conditions in which they are born, grow, work, live and age.
These conditions also affect the way in which people look after their own health
and use services throughout their life.
East and North Hertfordshire is a large and diverse part of the county. Although
perceived to be affluent, there are pockets of deprivation. A higher burden of illhealth is placed on the poorest areas of Hertfordshire than on England as a whole
and the CCG is determined to tackle this inequality.
The NHS Five Year Forward View sets out the need to address the health and
wellbeing gap, preventing any further widening of health inequalities. To do so
requires a move towards greater investment in health and health care where the
level of deprivation is higher.
CCGs also have a duty to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between
patients in access to services that they commission. This involves:
•

Knowing the local population and local needs, commissioning through the
use of joint strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and additional
supporting data and evidence, such as local health profiles and qualitative
sources.

•

Identifying the local health inequalities and commissioning for all of the
population in the area, not just relying on General Practice registrations.

•

Identifying evidence of what has previously worked in reducing inequalities
and evaluating good practice, whilst also considering the ‘clustering’ of risk
factors in some groups. Universal services should aim to reduce inequalities
by being progressively aimed at those who need them the most.

•

Carrying out evidence-based service reviews.

In East and North Hertfordshire CCG our approach to addressing health
inequalities means we:
•

place emphasis on patients and the quality of the care they receive. This
is the focus of everything we do. We commission services based on the
quality of patient outcomes and we listen to patients and carers to ensure
they are empowered to choose care on the basis of quality and outcomes.
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•

extensively use local health intelligence produced by Hertfordshire’s
Public Health intelligence team, and other nationally produced data to
understand variation, benchmarking and set targets to reduce inequalities
in our population. 9

•

make important commissioning decisions in dialogue with partners and
informed by evidence and health intelligence. This process is supported
by the county-wide priorities set by the Health and Wellbeing Board and
informed by stakeholder engagement. The CCG then plans how best to
meet those needs, before buying the health services required.

•

take account of the priorities identified by each of our six localities.

•

understand the role that primary care can play in tackling health
inequality. In commissioning work through primary care we have
prioritised frailty services, long term conditions, reducing mortality from
cancer and planned care to help in reducing health inequalities. In these
we are specifically focusing on the use of risk stratification tools such as
the electronic frailty index, data from Mede-Analytics about care home
residents, to identify the top 5% of adults at risk of hospital admission or
death in the next 1-3 years and ensure all identified have relevant care
planning in place.

For patients with diabetes we are developing a practice-based improvement
plan to deliver consistent care to all diagnosed patients and full participation
National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP).

In the field of cancer, we want to tackle inequalities in screening and improve
early detection. We are doing this by supporting practices to develop action
plans and to improve the uptake of cancer screening programmes for bowel,
breast and cervical, which will lead to improved performance against national
screening standards.
In planned care, we want to ensure that patients are treated in a consistent way
across our area so we are introducing a new system in GP practices, called
Ardens, which will make it easy for GPs to view agreed clinical care pathways.
This new system will also help to improve compliance with prior approval
processes including the requirement for some patients to lose weight and stop
smoking before surgery.

9

Including NHS Right Care, Public Health England Fingertips, CCG data packs, STP packs, atlases of
variation, casebooks, long term condition scenarios, optimal value pathways and Commissioning for Value
tools produced by NHS England.
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During 2016/17, we have continued to work on the initiatives from the
previous year including:
•

proactively managing long term conditions in primary care to reduce
current levels of variation across our six localities, such as the variation of
exacerbations of COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease)

•

monitoring referrals for treatments of limited clinical effectiveness at a
locality level with the aim of identifying variation between practices and to
help us target support to improve overall productivity and clinical
outcomes for patients

•

improving access to mental health care. As an organisation we recognise
that mental health is just as important to a person’s overall wellbeing as
physical health. We have piloted the RAID (rapid assessment, interface
and discharge pilot) treatment model at the Lister Hospital. RAID
provides mental healthcare to patients being treated for physical health
conditions, improving their care and allowing them to be discharged
earlier with the appropriate support if their mental health needs are
addressed. This reduces rates of hospital re-admission. We have also
continued to fund ‘talking’ therapies, such as counselling, for people with
mild to moderate depression or anxiety

•

addressing the health needs of children in local authority care. We
continue to roll out child health check-up, known as an ‘initial health
assessment’. This programme helps to identify children who have missed
out on immunisations, check-ups and dental appointments and may have
medical or mental health problems which haven’t been properly identified.
By addressing these issues we hope to reduce health inequalities.

Hertfordshire Health and wellbeing strategy
The CCG is a key partner of the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board and
its refreshed strategy was published in 2016. This sets high level priorities,
based on these four life stages:

Starting
well

Developing
well

Living
well

Ageing
well
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The refreshed strategy coupled with the plans which form part of the STP will
provide the necessary framework and legislation to tackle inequalities in much
more systemic manner and based on evidence of what works. We are hopeful in
doing so we should be able to effectively reduce inequalities in the population
and improving the health of population as a whole.
The CCG is a voting member of the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board
(HWB) and engages in both the public meetings and the regular development
workshops. During the year, the CCG jointly led a piece of work on behalf of the
Board to review the Board objectives and develop the Hertfordshire health and
wellbeing strategy for the next three years. The objectives of the HWB were
reflected in the CCG operating plan which was shared with the Board. During the
year the CCG engaged with the Board and its membership on a number of key
issues including delivery of the mental health crisis care concordat, the
development of the Hertfordshire and west Essex STP, review of children’s
mental health services and the better health for care home residents project.

Patient and public engagement
How we involve the public
Over the past year, the CCG has strived to build on the framework of
engagement established from its inception, recognising that refresh as well as
stability is needed.
Our core network of engagement is via patient commissioning groups, which are
made up of delegated members of patient participation groups (PPGs) from our
GP surgeries. We have over 80 patient and carer members spread across our
six localities.
We have encouraged patient members to provide information to, and be active
within, their communities.

Encouraging involvement
As part of our constitution the CCG is required to encourage involvement in our
planning and decision making. We recognised early on that we would need the
support of practice managers and their staff to help us do this and for which we
are very grateful.
In the Upper Lea Valley, this has been taken a step further with the appointment
of a co-ordinator to work closely with its practices in establishing and developing
their PPGs. The locality patient delegates also developed publicity materials and
their design has been shared with the other five patient commissioning groups.
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Patient and carer members are kept up to date through attendance at bi-monthly
meetings, email newsletters and receive the CCG’s weekly news update.
Many people however do not want or are not able to attend meetings and a
number of ways have been established to engage with them going to where they
meet rather than expecting them to come to meetings set up by the CCG.
We have used online and paper surveys to gauge people’s views so that
services can be designed that meet their needs. Examples during 2016/17
include questionnaire for users of wheelchair and equipment services and with
CAMHS clients. We have also surveyed the wider public in our area to find out
their views on spending priorities and on what criteria the CCG should use to
make commissioning decisions
We have worked with North Herts People First (a group focusing on disability
rights) and Hitchin Afro-Caribbean Club and represented the CCG at health
events for Hertfordshire’s Gypsy and Roma traveller community, the Broxbourne
Black and Minority Ethnic Forum and the Faith Communities.
The CCG also participated in young people’s Takeover Day, contributing to the
County Council’s scheme of placing young people in different organisations for a
day last November and hearing young people’s views on mental health services
at Welwyn Hatfield Council’s ‘Crucial Crew’ event.

Training and development
In June of 2016 we held a special ‘Patient Voice’ event, inviting patient
participation group members from three of our localities (Lower Lea Valley, Stort
Valley & Villages and Upper Lea Valley) to hear and discuss the CCG’s key
priorities and the important role patient members can play to influence and
encourage people to use the most appropriate health service for them.
Following this our Patient Commissioning Group chairs met in December 2016 to
look at how public engagement with the CCG could be further developed and
gather their feedback from the activities over the previous year. We are taking
forward implementation of their ideas which have included a workshop on patient
data confidentiality and its use, hosted by the CCG’s head of information.
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Public events
Over the course of the year patient representatives and staff have attended a
number of public events promoting key health and wellbeing messages and
encouraging greater involvement and awareness of the CCG. Stalls were set up
at Welwyn Hatfield’s Health for All and Healthfest events, the Safer Together
event, Broxbourne Civic Day, as well as stakeholder events and conferences
such as the launch of Disabled GO in Hertfordshire and the County Council’s
voluntary sector conference.

What our members have achieved
Below are just some of our patients’ achievements from the past year:
Stort Valley and Villages

North Herts

A highlight has been a popular
education event for people with
Type 2 Diabetes, promoted and
organised by the patient group
chair with funding from the GP
locality. The event was
oversubscribed and a second one
is planned as there is a waiting
list of disappointed patients! 83%
of people said they had either
learnt a little or lot from the event.

PPGs in North Herts have been
engaging with local secondary
schools and young people in their
communities. One has delivered
CPR training to pupils; another is
linking up with a school to give
ideas to support young people
such as Kooth – the free online
service that offers emotional
support for young people.

The PPGs have been very active
in using social media and
establishing virtual groups.

Another area where members are
active is in the promotion and
leadership of Health Walks.

Stevenage

Upper Lea Valley

PPGs in Stevenage have been
going through a period of
transition with the merger of GP
surgeries. There is now an
enthusiasm to refresh the locality
group with a focus on local take
up of screening for bowel, breast
and cervical cancer.

In Upper Lea Valley the focus has
been on supporting the
development of PPGs in the
locality with the employment of a
coordinator. Members are now
looking to concentrate efforts on
raising awareness of cancer
screening.
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Lower Lea Valley

Welwyn Hatfield

The patient group has met with its
local MP, Charles Walker, to
discuss the pressures on primary
care. It has organised for him to
undertake visits to four of the
local surgeries to meet with staff
and gain a better understanding
and insight into the situation.
Members of the group continue to
support the Cheshunt Carers’
café.

Patients in Welwyn and Hatfield
have supported the development
of the Dementia Action Alliance.
Members have worked with
practices to develop action plans
and provide ‘Dementia Friend’
awareness sessions to staff. The
group’s chair has been involved in
a number locality initiatives
including a Diabetes education
event at the end of March.

Public involvement in quality monitoring
Members of the public are involved in the following activities relating to the
CCG’s quality assurance work:

Patient Network Quality
This group is made up of nominated members from each of the locality patient
commissioning groups detailed above, and chaired by a patient member who
also sits on the CCG’s Quality Committee. Over the course of the past year
members have raised issues around cancer performance, and have helped the
patient experience team in developing resources to better inform patients of what
to expect along the treatment pathway. Members also bring soft intelligence
relating to patient experience raised from their patient participation and
commissioning groups.
Quality Assurance Visits
Over the course of the past year patient and carer members have accompanied
our patient experience team on 14 quality assurance visits to service providers.
Our members are a vital part of the team and provide feedback for the resulting
action plan given to service providers in response to the visit. We have also
recruited and trained a further. We have recruited and trained an additional four
volunteers to undertake these visits.
Patient stories
Stories continue to be collected by a trained network of patient volunteers, with
stories being played to the Governing Body on issues such as a story covering a
mother’s experiences of negotiating the gender dysphoria pathway for their
daughter. Such stories are shared with the patient experience team, programme
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managers and discussed with relevant providers thus providing valuable training
towards improving services.
Local Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The CCG liaises closely with officers supporting the committee and regularly
attends its meetings. Over the last year, we have responded to information
requests resulting from the Budget and Quality of Care Café event 2016 and
given presentations on the Hertfordshire and west Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Plan.
We have also provided a Progress Report to its Monitoring of Recommendations
Topic Group on Care Pathways (Stroke and Diabetes).

Public involvement in service design and procurements
Patient representatives have been involved in the following procurement
processes over the course of the past year:
•
•
•
•

Hertfordshire NHS 111 and Out Of Hours service
Hertfordshire Wheelchair Services
Community Glaucoma services
Contracts for primary care services in Hertford and Buntingford

Representatives were active members of each of the procurement project boards
and provided a patient perspective to the process. Members fed into the service
design and specification in advance of the procurement and then contributed to
the moderation and evaluation of the bidder responses.
When appropriate service user groups or public meetings were held to explain
the procurement process, answer any questions and gather insight from local
communities to feed into the further design and implementation of services.
Details of these procurements can be found on our website at:
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved
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Key projects from 2016/17
Better Care for Care Homes – Vanguard project
As recognised in our priorities last year, we were keen to improve the
engagement and involvement within our Vanguard project. To facilitate this, a
patient/carer representative was recruited to the Vanguard steering group to
provide a patient perspective and to conduct engagement work with residents of
care homes and their families and carers.
Visits have been undertaken with local care homes to hear residents and their
families’ views. The project is working with organisations such as ‘Friends of
Welwyn Care Homes’ which we are looking to develop as a model of
engagement for other communities and their respective care homes.
In 2016 the public engagement team with Herts Care Providers Association were
also successful in a bid for a small funding grant to develop gardening activities
for residents in some care homes. Both organisations have now selected five
care homes to develop the pilot project which aims to use horticultural therapists
to engage residents, staff and the home’s local community. This will provide a
lasting legacy of engagement and involvement between the care home and its
local community as well as delivering recognised health benefits for the home’s
residents through gardening activities.

Future Heroes – Hertfordshire Health and Social Care Careers Expo
Over the course of the past year the engagement team have
been working with service providers, the University of
Hertfordshire and other education and training providers to
develop a large-scale careers expo event for schools and
colleges, promoting the variety of career opportunities in the
clinical fields of health and social care.
The event was held at the beginning of March at the Fielder Centre in Hatfield,
and was attended by over 400 students from 15 different schools across the
county. Feedback from the event was extremely positive, and we are now
looking at how we can further develop the campaign and proactively engage with
schools and colleges to inspire the next generation to take up careers in health
and social care.
My Care Record
As part of the 12 week ‘fair processing period’ for the introduction of the My Care
Record project to both Princess Alexandra Hospital and Herts Community Trust,
guidance information was sent to our patient and carer members and
presentations were given to a number of patient groups across the area. The
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engagement team also attended community events to promote the project and
explain its implications to the public.
Transforming mental health services for children and young people
We’ve worked in partnership with Youth Connexions Hertfordshire to put children
and young people at the centre of transforming emotional wellbeing and mental
health services.
We’re asking what young people want services to look like and Hertfordshire’s
young commissioners are carrying out ‘mystery shopping’ testing on how
services handle self-referrals. Young people have also helped us develop online
information, including messages for other young people, parents and
professionals on signposting website www.healthyyoungmindsinherts.org.uk and
gave a name for the work we’re doing to encourage young people and families to
be resilient and informed about the support that’s available. They came up with
'Sound Thoughts' and helped design the logo shown here.
If you’d like to get involved and have your say on how to help improve and shape
emotional wellbeing services for children and young people in Hertfordshire get
in touch through the Healthy Young Minds in Herts website.

Hertfordshire Compact Agreement
The Hertfordshire Compact is a written understanding between the voluntary and
community sector and statutory sectors about how they will co-operate and
continue to develop positive working relationships for the benefit of
Hertfordshire’s communities. The Compact process is one of learning,
development and dialogue.
The agreement was developed by the Hertfordshire Compact steering group on
which the CCG was an active member. The group also included representation
from a number of Hertfordshire’s statutory and voluntary and community sector
agencies.
We were early signatories of the refreshed scheme when it officially launched in
July 2016.

Priorities for 2017
Over the course of the coming year, there are clear areas of priority for public
engagement. The Sustainability and Transformation Plan in Hertfordshire and
west Essex will require clarity, transparency and a good debate with the public
on the priorities and decisions faced by the CCG and its partners.
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There are also a series of projects that the Engagement team will look to
continue to work on with patient and carer members and specific voluntary
groups. These include: raising awareness of symptoms around cancer and
promoting screening opportunities within the community; raising awareness of
the symptoms of Stroke and what action to take. We will continue to support the
development of the Dementia Action Alliances locally.
We will also be supporting the Vanguard and Future Heroes projects.
Members of the public can get actively involved in our work by contacting the
public engagement team by calling: 01707 685397; emailing:
engagement@enhertsccg.nhs.uk; visiting the CCG’s website at:
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved or by joining your GP Practice’s Patient
Participation Group.

The work of Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and
Luton (HBL) ICT services
HBL ICT delivers IT services to a number of NHS clients, including East and
North Hertfordshire CCG and some of its key provider organisations. Having
restructured and returned a subsequent reduction in operating costs, HBL ICT
has used the cost efficiencies to drive forward investment in its core
infrastructure and funded the delivery of ‘NHSMail 2’ to organisations within the
partnership. Both of these projects will be realised in the first quarter of 2017/18.
Due to the prudent financial management of its funds, HBL ICT is successfully
delivering these significant technology change programmes on time and within
budget, requiring no additional financial contributions from the partnership, which
in real terms has resulted in cost efficiencies of more than 7%.
Technology changes for East and North Hertfordshire CCG
A significant project successfully delivered by the team in 2016/17 was the
introduction of agile working to support the new working environment for CCG
staff in the newly refurbished Charter House. HBL ICT delivered a major
technology programme to facilitate the logistical challenges of the move of all
CCG staff, plus the introduction of new technologies including a desk/room
booking system and digital telephony which has helped transform the way the
CCG goes about its daily business.
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Investment in infrastructure technology
Since its inception in 2014, the key risk to its work identified by the team has
been the under-investment in core infrastructure which has caused a number of
IT service disruptions. Starting in 2015/16 a major infrastructure programme has
been delivered, with investment of £1.2m in each of 2015/16 and 2016/17. This
programme includes agile technology platforms, built on the latest reference
architecture, hosted at two new data centres in Welwyn Garden City and
Farnborough.
Clinicians and their support staff rely on critical data and applications every day
to treat their patients – there is no opportunity for downtime. Therefore, the new
HBL ICT ‘private cloud’ service will, once completed in May 2017, provide a
highly agile and resilient core infrastructure reducing service disruption to a
minimum and will provide a platform to enable new services to complement the
digital strategies of the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP.

Local Digital Roadmaps and Sustainability and Transformation Plans
HBL ICT is actively involved with, and in some cases leading the activities of the
‘local digital roadmap’ which forms part of the Herts and West Essex STP and
the Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes STP. To manage this work, we are
establishing a dedicated roadmap delivery programme team working with
colleagues from other NHS organisations to drive through digital technology
programmes.
Governance and compliance
Working alongside NHS Digital, HBL ICT is committed to providing a highly
secure ICT service to the partnership and proactively provides key components
to various Information Governance toolkit submissions throughout the year.
HBL ICT delivers services in accordance with national protocols from the
national cyber security centre). In October 2016, the department was audited by
RSM against the CESG 10 steps. A number of low and medium risk
observations were identified and are being resolved, demonstrating our
commitment to tackling the potential threat of cyber crime.
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Review of financial performance
East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s Annual Accounts are included within this
Annual Report. The accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by
NHS England under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
CCGs have a duty to keep their expenditure within the resources available.
There are six separate duties with this regard, although there is some overlap
between them and some are not relevant to us in 2016/17. The duties, their
relevance in 2016/17 and the performance of East and North Hertfordshire CCG
in 2016/17 are set out in the table below. Further details are provided in note 41
of the Accounts on page 190 of this Annual Report.

Duty [and section of 2012 Act]

Relevance in
2016/17

Achievement

Expenditure does not exceed sums allotted to the
CCG plus other income received [223H(1)]

Applicable

 Underspend
£14,699K

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions [223I(2)]

Applicable

 Underspend £1k

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions [223I(3)]

Applicable

 Underspend
£14,698k

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions [223J(1)]

Not applicable; no specified matters in
2016/17

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions [223J(2)]

Not applicable; no specified matters in
2016/17

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions [223J(3)]

Applicable

 Underspend £1,633k

Firm CCG allocations for the years 2016/17 to 2018/19, along with “indicative”
allocations for the following two years, were published following the NHS
England Board meeting held in December 2015. In calculating allocations, NHS
England took account of CCGs’ distance from a ‘target’ or fair share of
allocations. The allocations agreed ensure that no CCG is more than 5% below
its fair share of allocations from 2016/17 onwards. For the first time, when
considering the funding position of individual CCGs, NHS England has also
considered its own spending on primary medical care services and specialist
services for each CCG area. This has created a “place” based target allocation
for these three funding streams.
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The growth in the CCG’s allocation is higher than the national average. Over
the next five years growth figures are as set out in the table below.

% increase allocation
% increase per capita

10

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

6.6%

2.7%

2.8%

2.9%

4.6%

5.6%

1.7%

1.8%

1.9%

3.6%

After publication of the allocations, it became apparent that a number of
allocations received non-recurrently in 2015/16 were included in growth. After
adjusting for these, the uplift in 2016/17 reduced to 6.09%.
Over the five-year period, funding for the East and North Hertfordshire CCG
‘place’ moves from being 5.5% below target across all three commissioning
streams to being 2.1% below target.
CCG running cost allowances for England as a whole will remain flat to 2020/21,
as determined by HM Treasury's Spending Review settlement. Individual CCG
allowances have been rebased to adjust for changing share of population. The
figures for E&N Herts CCG are shown in the table below.

Running costs
allocation
% increase

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

12,634

12,607

12,637

12,668

12,700

12,733

-0.2%

0.2%

0.2%

0.3%

0.3%

A new fund called the ‘Better Care Fund’ started in 2015/16. This pooled local
authority and CCG funding to spend jointly on community services and social
care services. The amount received by East and North Hertfordshire CCG was
£9.06m. This formed part of the Better Care Fund in 2015/16 and 2016/17.
Additionally the CCG increased the fund by £5m in 2015/16, and by a further
£3.84m in 2016/17, bringing the total fund to £17.9m in 2016/17. This has been
used to further protect the level of social care services for older people in East
and North Hertfordshire.
During 2015/16 the CCG applied to become a ‘Vanguard’ site for the new NHS
care models programme, one of the first steps towards supporting improvement
and integration of services. Following a rigorous process, involving workshops
and the engagement of key partners and patient representative groups, the
CCG’s enhanced health in care homes project was selected. Funding of £1.8m
was received from NHS England in 2015/16 and again in 2016/17, supplemented
10

i.e. after taking account of population increases estimated at 1% per annum
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by CCG and Hertfordshire County Council Funding. The money was used to roll
out the rapid response service to all localities in the CCG, to develop the End of
Life Care programme for care homes, the training costs of care home staff and
premium payments for care home residents with complex needs.
The underspend of £7.743m in 2015/16 was carried forward into 2016/17 and so
funded the requirement to deliver an underspend of £7.743m again in 2016/17.
As set out in the planning guidance, in 2016/17 CCGs were required to set aside
1% of their allocation which would only be spent non-recurrently. However
CCGs were unable to commit any of this funding before the beginning of the year
and would only be allowed to access the funding with the agreement of NHS
England. The sum effectively held in reserve was only to be released once NHS
England were assured that the NHS provider sector was able to achieve financial
balance in 2016/17. With that assurance not forthcoming, CCGs nationally were
not allowed to commit this funding. For East and North Hertfordshire CCG, the
1% equated to £6.955m and therefore £6.955m of the recorded underspend of
£14.698m, and the full amount of the increase in the underspend in-year, is
directly related to NHS England’s refusal to allow the CCG to spend this 1%.
The Governing Body has continued to review financial performance at locality
level. Funding was retained centrally by the CCG to cover the 1% reserve,
administration costs, and where healthcare costs could not be attributed to a
locality. The balance was distributed to localities on a fair share basis using
updated practice list sizes.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG was successful in meeting all of its financial
duties, with each of the six locality groups making significant contributions to
both the financial and more general performance of the CCG. Whilst most
localities underspent against their allocated budgets and the CCG achieved the
required underspend in 2016/17, there was an overspend on acute services and
continuing healthcare which was offset by underspends on other budget lines.
Administration costs show an underspend of £1.633m against the notified
allocation. At the start of 2015/16 the Governing Body also agreed to a planned
underspend of approx. £0.6m on administration costs to fund additional spend on
programme costs. After taking account of these factors, the spend on
administration compared to planned budgets was an underspend of £1.033m.

79

Financial position by locality
Position as at 31 March 2017

Locality

Budget £'000

Spend £'000

Variance £'000

North Herts
Lower Lea Valley
Stevenage
Welhat
Upper Lea Valley
Stort Valley & Villages
Central budgets*

134,648
90,406
109,299
128,613
132,166
63,602
49,685

134,523
90,119
109,543
128,730
132,052
63,323
50,129

125
288
(244)
(117)
114
279
(445)

Total

708,419

708,419

(0)

*excluding planned underspend

In setting acute services budgets for 2016/17 East and North Hertfordshire CCG
predicted increases based on the trends seen over the previous 12 months and
extrapolated forwards into 2016/17. Assuming no actions were taken to impact
on these trends, increases were predicted of:
Outpatient referrals
Elective treatments
Non-elective admissions
A&E attendances

3.44%
3.43%
5.26%
3.08%

The impact of these increases in activity would have led to an increase in
spending on acute services of c£16m (4.2%). However, in order to invest to
improve outcomes and set a balanced budget, the CCG set a savings target on
acute services of £14.7m.
One of the requirements in the 2016/17 planning guidance, related to mental
health parity, was that CCGs had to ensure that mental health spend increased
in real terms at least in line with each CCG’s overall allocation growth, i.e. 6% for
East and North Hertfordshire CCG. In addition, the CCG received funding from
NHS England during the year of £619k related to Children and Adolescent
Mental Health Services and to reduce waiting lists for children and young people.
Due to slippage in investment plans the actual increase was less than 6% but will
be made good in 2017/18.
The underspend of £14.698m which we were required to deliver in 2016/17 will
be carried forward into 2017/18. In 2017/18 the CCG will be required to
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underspend by £14.498m, being the brought forward underspend from 2016/17
minus £0.2m we have been allowed to draw down.

Financial strategy
When planning for future years CCGs have to take account of changes to the
national tariff (prices charged by providers) and growth in activity and spend
compared to changes in funding. Changes to national tariffs are based on
guidance issued by NHS England and Monitor, the sector regulator for health
services in England.
Growth in activity and spend is estimated based on a number of factors. Firstly,
population growth, which is based on the Office of National Statistics estimate of
the population increase in the CCG by age-band according to the age of the
population using the services we commission. Secondly, non-demographic
growth which is based on previous years’ trends in activity and extrapolated
assuming the trend continues into future years. Thirdly, there are other
inflationary increases in costs, e.g. prescribed drugs. There is also recurrent
investment in schemes which may have been previously funded non-recurrently.
Finally a contingency reserve is created to meet unexpected events during the
year.
Guidance published by NHS England and NHS Improvement in September
2016, (“NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017-2019”)
explains how the NHS operational planning and contracting processes will
change to support Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs). It reaffirms
national priorities and sets out the financial and business rules for both 2017/18
and 2018/19.
To support the STP process, the annual NHS planning and contracting round will
be streamlined significantly. The default will be for two-year contracts in place of
those currently negotiated annually. Commissioners will still have the ability to let
new longer-term contracts, based on new care models and whole population
budgets, revising existing contracts accordingly. Two-year contracts will reflect
two-year activity, workforce and performance assumptions that are agreed and
affordable within each local STP. The target deadline of all contracts being
signed was brought forward to December 2016.
On the funding side, the recurrent increase in allocation for the CCG in 2017/18
is £18,751k (2.69%). There are also two specific non-recurrent adjustments
which have been made in respect of:

81

•

the modelled impact of the changes to prices in the 2017/18 and 2018/19
National Tariff ; the reduction to our CCG is £520k in 2017/18 and £528k
in 2018/19.

•

The calculation of funding transfers between CCGs and specialised
commissioning following work to implement consistent identification rules
(IRs). The reductions are £4,003k and £4,067k in 2017/18 and 2018/19
respectively. It is assumed that these changes are cost neutral, with
equivalent activity being chargeable to NHSE rather than the CCG.

The allocation for administration costs is broadly at the same level as in 2016/17.
Projected spend, taking into account growth in demand, price changes and
investments required to deliver the CCG’s ambitions, exceeds the funding
available to the CCG by c£24m (3.4%) in 2017/18 Future funding shortfalls,
albeit at a lower level of c2%, are expected over the current planning timeframe
up to 2020/21. Doing more of the same would therefore lead to a significant
financial gap.
Driving the CCG’s financial strategy are our over-arching aims to improve the
health of the population, to reduce health need, and to find different ways of
commissioning high quality services at lower cost. This will include investing in
primary and community care services, and together with colleagues in
Hertfordshire County Council, into social care services, bearing down on the
demand for and expenditure on acute hospital care.
As in 2016/17, the 2017/18 planning guidance requires commissioners to
continue to increase investment in mental health services each year at a level
which at least matches their overall expenditure increase.
The CCG’s 2017/18 control total allows a £200k draw-down of its planned
cumulative surplus as at 31 March 2017 (£14,698k). On this basis the retained
underspend at 31 March 2018 would be £14,498k.
On 30th March 2017, the Governing Body of the CCG agreed a balanced in-year
budget for 2017/18, which meets the planning requirements and delivers the
required cumulative underspend of £14.498m.
Investment will continue to be made into services focussing on long term
conditions and our ageing population and we will work with all our partner
organisations and patients to reduce avoidable hospital admissions and improve
the safety and patient experience wherever care is delivered. The aim is to
achieve real terms shifts in the profile of expenditure, significantly reducing the
proportion of our funding spent on acute services as highlighted below.
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The charts below show an analysis of spend in 2017/18, as well as 2013/14 (to
show the historic movement) and planned spend in 2020/21 (to show
movements planned for the future). The Better Care Fund allocation in 2013/14
was made directly to Hertfordshire County Council by NHS England, but has
been included in the CCG spend to ensure consistency across the years.

2013/14

2016/17
3% 2%
11%

Acute

2%
5%

Mental Health
Community
Continuing healthcare

8%

Better Care Fund
Prescribing
Other Primary Care

11%
58%

Administration costs
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2020/21
4%

1%

11%

Acute

2%
5%

Mental Health
Community
Continuing healthcare
Better Care Fund

12%

Prescribing
Other Primary Care
12%

53%

Administration costs

Review of statutory duties
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and
powers conferred on us by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
and other associated legislative and regulations. We are clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which
we are responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.

………………………………….
signed

25 May 2017
…………………………..
date

Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive
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The Accountability Report

Beverley Flowers
Accountable Officer
24 May 2017
This Accountability Report is subject to audit opinion.
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Part one: Corporate governance report
Members’ report
Our member practices
Lower Lea Valley locality

North Hertfordshire locality

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Abbey Road
Cromwell and Wormley Medical
Centres
Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical
Centre
High Street Surgery
The Maples
Stanhope Surgery
Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre
Warden Lodge Medical Practice

Stevenage locality
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

11

Bedwell Medical Centre
Canterbury Way Surgery
Chells Way Surgery
King George Surgery
Manor House Surgery
Shephall Way Surgery
Stanmore Road Health Centre
St. Nicholas Health Centre
Symonds Green Health Centre

Ashwell Surgery
The Baldock Surgery
Birchwood Surger
Courtenay House Surgery
The Garden City Surgery
Knebworth and Marymead Surgery
Nevells Road Surgery
Orford Lodge Surger
The Portmill Surgery
Regal Chambers Surgery
The Sollershott Surgery
Whitwell Surgery

Stort Valley and Villages locality
•
•
•
•
•
•

Central Surgery
Church Street Partnership
Much Hadham Health Centre
Parsonage Surgery
Sawbridgeworth Medical Services
South Street Surgery

11

On 1st October 2016 Canterbury Way Surgery merged with Stanmore Medical Group. This will take the
number of surgeries within NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group from 60 to 59
practices.
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Upper Lea Valley locality

Welwyn and Hatfield locality

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Amwell Street Surgery
Buntingford Medical Centre
Castlegate Surgery
Church Street Surgery
Dolphin House Surgery
Hailey View Surgery
Haileybury College
Hanscombe House Surgery
The Limes Surgery
The Maltings Surgery
Orchard Surgery
Park Lane Surgery
Puckeridge Surgery
Wallace House Surgery
Ware Road Surgery
Watton Place Surgery

Bridge Cottage Surgery
Burvill House Surgery
The Garden City Surgery
Hall Grove Surgery
Lister House Surgery
Peartree Lane Surgery
Potterells Medical Centre
Spring House Medical Centre
Wrafton House Surgery

Composition of Governing Body
Throughout 2016/17 the Chair of the CCG was Dr Hari Pathmanathan and the
Chief Executive was Beverley Flowers. From April 2016 to the time of writing
this report, the Governing Body was composed of the following members:

Role

Name

Chair

Dr Hari Pathmanathan

Deputy Clinical Chair

Dr Nicky Williams

Chief Executive (Accountable) Officer

Beverley Flowers

Director of Commissioning

Harper Brown

Director of Operations

Sharn Elton

Medical Director (interim)

Dr Rachel Joyce (from 1 Dec 2016)

Chief Finance Officer

Alan Pond

Director of Nursing and Quality

Sheilagh Reavey

Director of Strategic Partnerships

Vacant

Lay Member

Dianne Desmulie

Lay Member and Deputy Chair

Linda Farrant
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Lay Member

Yvette Twumasi-Ankrah

GP Member

Dr Mark Andrews

GP Member

Dr Ed Bosonnet (until Sept 2016)

GP Member

Dr Rob Graham (until Dec 2016)

GP Member

Dr Sachin Gupta

GP Member

Dr Russell Hall

GP Member

Dr Alison Jackson

GP Member

Dr Deborah Kearns

GP Member

Dr Stephen Kite (until Nov 2016)

GP Member

Dr Prag Moodley

GP Member

Dr Ashish Shah

GP Member

Dr Fiona Sinclair

GP Member

Dr Nabeil Shukur

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

Dr Dermot O’Riordan

The CCG Governing Body as at 31 March 2017
Dr Hari Pathmanathan, CCG Chair
Hari took up the role of CCG Chair on 1 September 2014.
Hari has been a GP at Bridge Cottage Surgery for over 15
years and has held various roles in locality commissioning for
over 10 years.

Dr Nicky Williams, CCG Deputy Clinical Chair and GP
Governing Body Member, Upper Lea Valley
Nicky has been a GP partner for 18 years at Church Street
Surgery in Ware. Her lead roles on the CCG board include
Patient and Public Engagement, Provider Integration and
leading the Enhanced Health in Care Homes Vanguard
project.
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Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive/Accountable Officer
Beverley joined the CCG in April 2014 from NHS England.
Previous to this she held a range of commissioning,
partnership and contracting roles across health and social
care organisations in London and the East of England.
Beverley became Chief Executive of East and North
Hertfordshire CCG in December 2015.
Dr Alison Jackson, GP Governing Body Member, Lower
Lea Valley
Alison is a GP based in Cheshunt with over 15 years’
experience. She is the co-chair of the Lower Lea Valley
locality and her lead area of work is Long Term Conditions.
Alison also leads on the HomeFirst project.

Dr Fiona Sinclair, GP Governing Body Member, North
Herts
Fiona has worked as a GP in North Hertfordshire since 1992
and at Regal Chambers Surgery since 2010. She is the
locality GP lead for HomeFirst North Herts and the CCG
Board lead for stroke.
Dr Russell Hall, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage
Russell has worked as a full time GP in Stevenage since
1999. Before joining the CCG Governing Body, he was the
prescribing lead for Stevenage. He is the CCG’s Urgent Care
lead.

Dr Prag Moodley, GP Governing Body Member,
Stevenage
Prag has been a GP for over 20 years and is the CCG’s
mental health lead. His lead area of work is Mental Health
and Learning Disabilities. Prag has been a GP in Stevenage
since 2004.
Dr Deborah Kearns, GP Governing Body Member, Stort
Valley and Villages
Deborah has been a GP in Hertfordshire for over 25 years.
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Dr Nabeil Shukur, GP Governing Body Member, Stort
Valley and Villages
Nabeil is a GP at South Street Surgery in Bishop’s Stortford.
He has several years’ experience on the locality
commissioning board. He is the CCG quality lead for the
Princess Alexandra Hospital contract.
Dr Mark Andrews, GP Governing Body Member, Upper
Lea Valley
Mark has been a GP for over 26 years at The Limes Surgery
in Hoddesdon. He is the CCG’s Cancer Lead.

Dr Ashish Shah, GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn
and Hatfield
Ashish has been GP principal at Wrafton House, Hatfield
since 2009. He is a GP trainer with a special interest in
cardiology and respiratory. He is currently the prescribing
lead for the CCG.

Dr Sachin Gupta, GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn
Hatfield
Sachin is a GP at Garden City Practice in Welwyn Garden
City. He has previously worked as non-executive director and
Medical Director at Herts Urgent Care, MacMillan GP and
Royal College of General Practioners Clinical Lead.
Linda Farrant, Deputy Chair, Lay Member – Audit
A qualified accountant, Linda spent much of her career in
local government working on finance, regeneration policy and
practice and developing devolved public sector services. She
has undertaken various non-executive director (NED) roles in
the voluntary and public sectors and became a NED for NHS
Hertfordshire in 2003.

Dianne Desmulie, Lay Member – Public and Patient
Engagement
Dianne has a career background in local government and the
NHS. She has experience within the Department of Health
and Adult Social Care in the Eastern region, promoting
Dignity in Care and working closely with carers’
organisations. Dianne was a local councillor in East Herts for
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8 years and in 2001 was Mayor of Hertford, where she has
lived since 1982. She is a member of Hanscombe House
Surgery Patient Participation Group and volunteers for
Carers in Hertfordshire as a Hub Lead in Hoddesdon.
Yvette Twumasi-Ankrah, Chair, Joint Co-Commissioning
Committee
Yvette has a career background in marketing and business
development and currently runs her own consultancy. She
has experience in public relations and marketing across the
arts, voluntary and education sectors. She is currently
undertaking a Ph.D. in Sociology and is a government
approved Business Adviser with Enterprise London. She has
previously held a Non-Executive Director role in a Primary
Care Trust, has held a governance role in the voluntary
sector and was a school governor.
Dr Dermot O’Riordan
Dermot is a Consultant General Surgeon at West Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust and previously was Medical Director
for 5 years and interim-Chief Executive Officer. Dermot is
also Chief Clinical Information Officer.

Sharn Elton, Director of Operations
Sharn originally trained as a nurse at Bedford hospital and
moved to the Lister hospital in Stevenage as a Matron in
2001. Sharn moved into general management in 2003 and
worked in a variety of hospital services across surgery,
medicine, women’s and children’s specialities. Through
developing her networks beyond the hospital Sharn became
interested in the broader aspects of health and subsequently
moved to work for NHS England across Hertfordshire and the
South Midlands in 2013. Sharn was delighted to be
appointed as the Director of Operations at the CCG in 2015
when the post became available.
Rachel Joyce, Medical Director (interim)
Rachel is a medical doctor, who is both a GP and a public
health consultant by background. In the past she has worked
as a Director of Public Health and a Medical Director in
Bedfordshire, and has been working in the Hertfordshire
health system for over 10 years. Rachel has particular
expertise in clinical effectiveness (ensuring health services
are as safe and effective as possible), the redesign of
services from a clinical perspective, including the
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development of pathways and the prioritisation of scarce
resources, wellbeing and the prevention and early
identification of illness.

Alan Pond, Chief Finance Officer
Alan has been a Finance Director/Chief Finance Officer for
16 years. During this time he has worked for numerous NHS
commissioning organisations. He has over 30 years’
experience in the NHS in both provider and commissioner
organisations and 2 years at the Department of Health. He
has a broad range of experience within the finance function
and also other areas, having been involved in strategy
development and implementation and with direct operational
responsibility for financial management, costing and pricing,
contract negotiation, contract management and business
case preparation.
Sheilagh Reavey, Director of Nursing & Quality
Sheilagh has trained as a Nurse, Midwife and Health Visitor
and has worked at a senior level in the NHS for a number of
years. She has both operational service delivery and
commissioning experience and has significant experience in
relation to quality and safeguarding issues.

Harper Brown, Director of Commissioning
After a five-year spell in the army, Harper studied
international relations and teaching before working for VSO
and Oxfam in Nigeria and Uganda. He then spent time
working in project management positions with the NHS.
Harper moved back to Africa to take on the role of first chief
executive of Sentebale, a charity founded to help vulnerable
child victims of poverty and HIV/AIDS. Back in the UK,
Harper re-joined the health service and held various
management roles, coming to East and North Hertfordshire
CCG on an interim contract to set up the Operations
Directorate before taking up the position of Director of
Commissioning.
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Members of the Governance and Audit Committee throughout the year and
up to the signing of the Annual Report and Accounts and unless otherwise
stated:
•

Dianne Desmulie – Lay member (patient and public engagement)

•

Linda Farrant – Lay member (governance and audit), Deputy Chair of the
Governing Body and Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee.

•

Dr Nicky Williams – Governing Body Deputy Clinical Chair

The Remuneration Report starting on page 118 provides details of the
membership of the Remuneration Committee.
The Governance Statement, from page 97, provides details of the attendance of
the Governing Body and its Committee members at their respective meetings,
namely:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Governing Body in Public
Governing Body in Private
Governing Body Workshop Meetings
Governance and Audit Committee
Quality Committee
Remuneration Committee
ICT Stakeholder Board
Locality Committees x 6
Joint Co-commissioning Committee

Register of Interests
To view details of the Register of Interests please visit our website:
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest

Personal data related incidents
The organisation has not reported any Information Governance Serious
Untoward Incidents to the Information Commissioner’s Office in 2016-17.
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Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the
Members’ Report is approved confirms that:
•

So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information
of which the clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware,

•

The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a
member in order to make them self-aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s
auditor is aware of that information.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports
the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking,
but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement, as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall
be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England
has appointed the Chief Executive to be the Accountable Officer of the NHS East
and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They
include responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the
Accountable Officer is answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),

•

For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections
223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial
year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts
Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
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Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’
equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to
comply with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the
Department of Health and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis,

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis,

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and,

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information,

•

that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual
report and accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is
fair, balanced and understandable.
25 May 2017

………………………………….
signed

…………………………..
date

Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive
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Governance Statement
Introduction and Context
NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group is a body
corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health
service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the
provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to
meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health
Service Act 2006.
Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning
group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and
assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me in ‘Managing Public Money’. I also acknowledge
my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is
administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also
have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance
statement.
UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate
Governance. This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s compliance with the principles set out in the Code that
are relevant to it.
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Governance arrangements and effectiveness
Council of Members
NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group is a
membership organisation made up of 59 GP member practices. All of the GP
practices are members and a representative from each practice make up the full
council.
Governing Body
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
Governance Structure
The Governing Body has created the statutorily-required Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Additionally the Governing Body has established a
Quality Committee, an Information Communication Technology Stakeholder
Board and six Locality Committees. On 1st April 2015 the CCG also created a
Joint Committee with NHS England with responsibility for primary care cocommissioning.

Figure 1: Governance Structure
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Council of Members
The Council of Members met in June 2016 and considered the General Practice
Forward View. Providers from the voluntary sector attended and gave
presentations on their services. The membership also considered the option to
move to delegated commissioning and provision services on behalf of NHS
England, but agreed to continue with current arrangements.
Governance and Audit Committee
The Governance and Audit Committee is a committee of the Governing Body. It
provides assurance to the Governing Body that the organisation’s overall internal
control and governance system operates in an adequate and effective way. The
committee’s work focuses on the adequacy of the controls on finance, risk
management and clinical quality. It does this by reviewing the assurance
framework, strategic and operational risk and independent assurance on
controls. It also oversees internal and external audit arrangements, for both
financial and non-financial systems. As part of its role the committee reviews
report and audits and monitors implementation of recommendations. Members
also assess the Risk Management Framework and undertake deep dives into
specific risks.
During its work, activities and areas of review throughout the year, the committee
ensured that any areas of particular concern were brought to the Governing
Body's attention through the Governance Report.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Governing Body. It reports
its decisions to the Governing Body on determinations about pay and
remuneration for senior employees of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Quality Committee
The Quality Committee is a committee of the Governing Body. It works to ensure
that commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe
manner, ensuring that quality sits at the heart of everything the organisation
does. It is responsible for providing assurance and information on quality to
enable the Governing Body to fulfil its role and responsibility in connection with
the management of quality.
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It also reports on quality related risks to the Governance and Audit Committee.
The Committee takes on overall responsibility for leading the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s patient care, quality and safety agenda and reports
directly to the Governing Body on these matters. To support it in this role the
Committee involves a Patient Network Quality Group to provide an invaluable
patient perspective.
Joint Co-Commissioning Committee
The role of the Joint Co-Commissioning Committee (JCC) is to carry out the
functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services provided
under GMS and APMS contracts. This is with the exception of those functions
relating to individual GP performance management, which have been reserved
to NHS England. A minimum of four scheduled meetings take place per year,
and where required, additional meetings are arranged.
Governing Body and Committee Attendance for 2016-17

Governing Body
in Private

Governing Body
Workshops

Number of meetings held during 2016-17

Governing Body
in Public

Members’ attendance records are detailed in the table below:

6

6

17

Name:

Title/Locality:

Dr M Andrews

Upper Lea Valley

6/6

6/6

14/17

Dr E Bosonnet (I) 12

Lower Lea Valley

2/3

2/3

4/8

H Brown

Director of Commissioning

4/6

4/6

13/17

D Desmulie

Lay Member - Public and Patient Engagement

6/6

6/6

15/17

S Elton

Director of Operations

4/6

4/6

14/17

L Farrant

Lay Member – Governance and Audit, Deputy Chair

6/6

6/6

15/17

B Flowers

Chief Executive

6/6

6/6

14/17

Dr R Graham (II) 13

North Herts

3/4

3/4

9/12

Dr S Gupta

Welwyn and Hatfield

5/6

5/6

13/17

Dr R Hall

Stevenage

6/6

6/6

15/17

Dr A Jackson

Lower Lea Valley

2/6

2/6

17/17

12
13

Attendance:

Left position September 2016
Left position December 2016
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Dr R Joyce

14

Medical Director (interim)

1/2

1/2

7/7

Stort Valley and Villages

2/6

2/6

17/17

Upper Lea Valley

3/4

3/4

6/10

Stevenage

5/6

5/6

11/17

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

5/6

4/6

N/A

Dr H Pathmanathan

Chair

6/6

6/6

15/17

A Pond

Chief Finance Officer

5/6

5/6

16/17

S Reavey

Director of Nursing and Quality

6/6

6/6

17/17

Dr A Shah

Welwyn and Hatfield

4/6

4/6

14/17

Dr N Shukur

Stort Valley & Villages

4/6

4/6

16/17

Dr F Sinclair

North Herts

6/6

6/6

15/17

Yvette Twumasi-Ankrah

Lay Member – Co-Commissioning

5/6

5/6

12/17

Dr N Williams

Deputy Chair – Clinical

5/6

5/6

14/17

Dr D Kearns
Dr S Kite (III)

15

Dr P Moodley
Dr D O'Riordan

16

Committee Attendance for 2016-17
All members have good attendance records – these are detailed in the tables
below.
Governance and Audit Committee
Number of meetings held during 2016/17
Name:
Title:
D Desmulie
Lay Member – Public and Patient Engagement
L Farrant *
Lay Member – Governance and Audit
Dr N Williams
Deputy Chair – Clinical

6
Attendance:
5/6
6/6
6/6

* Chair of Governance and Audit Committee

Quality Committee
Number of meetings held during 2016-17
Name:
Title/Locality:
Dr E Bosonnet
Lower Lea Valley
D Desmulie
Lay Member – Public and Patient Engagement
L Farrant*
Lay Member – Governance and Audit
Dr R Graham
North Herts
J Jewitt
Patient Network Quality
R Joyce
Medical Advisor
S Reavey
Director of Nursing and Quality
Dr N Shukur
Stort Valley and Villages
C Slater
Associate Director of Quality and Patient Experience

5
Attendance:
1/2
4/5
5/5
3/3
3/5
4/5
5/5
5/5
4/5

* Chair of Quality Committee

14

st

Dr Rachel Joyce only joined the Governing Body on 1 December 2016
Left position November 2016
16
The Secondary Care Specialist Doctor does not attend Governing Body workshops
15
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Remuneration Committee
Number of meetings held during 2016-17
Name:
Title/Locality:
L Farrant*
Lay Member – Governance and Audit
Dr D O’Riordan
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor
Dr N Williams
Deputy Chair – Clinical

2
Attendance:
2/2
2/2
2/2

* Chair of Remuneration Committee

Name

Title/Locality

ENHCCG Membership 17
Harper Brown or Nominated Deputy
Dianne Desmulie

18

Sharn Elton
Linda Farrant

19

Alison Jackson
Deborah Kearns
Alan Pond
Sheilagh Reavey or Nominated
Deputy 20
Yvette Twumasi-Ankrah
Nicky Williams
NHSE Membership
Dominic Cox [DC]
Manjit Derby [MD] or Nominated
Deputy
Ally Rashid [AR] or Nominated Deputy

Joint Co-Commissioning
Committee in Private

Number of meetings held during 2016-17

Joint Co-Commissioning
Committee in Public

Joint Co-Commissioning Committee

3

5

Attendance

Director of Commissioning or Nominated Deputy
Lay Member, Patient and Public Engagement
(Vice Chair of JCC from October 2016)
Director of Operations
Lay Member, Governance and Audit (Vice Chair of
JCC up until October 2016)
GP Lead, Lower Lea Valley
GP Lead, Stort Valley and Villages
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Nursing and Quality or Nominated
Deputy
JCC Chair, Lay Member, Co-Commissioning
Deputy Chair of Governing Body / GP Lead,
Upper Lea Valley

3/3
1/2

5/5
2/3

3/3
3/3

4/5
4/5

3/3
3/3
2/3
2/2

5/5
4/5
4/5
4/4

3/3
3/3

5/5
5/5

Locality Director

3/3
3/3

5/5
4/5

0/0

0/5

Director of Nursing or Nominated Deputy
Medical Director or Nominated Deputy

* Chair of Joint Co-Commissioning Committee

17

The Terms of Reference allows members indicated to nominate an appropriate deputy to attend in
their place.
18
Became a member and Vice Chair of the JCC from the start of October 2016.
19
Stepped down from the role of Vice Chair of the JCC at the end of September 2016, but remained a
member of the JCC.
20
The Director of Nursing and Quality was added as a member of the committee after the first meeting of
the financial year.

102

Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board
The Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board is a committee
of the Governing Body. This committee brings together the stakeholders of the
ICT Shared Service and its role is to ensure focus on strategy, policy and the
overall operational performance of information and communications technology.
Attendance at meetings of the committee is recorded in the table below.
Member Organisations:

Out of total of 10 meetings

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

5/10

East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

9/10

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

8/10

Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust

10/10

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

8/10

Luton Clinical Commissioning Group

7/10

Locality Committees
There are six Locality Committees of the Governing Body, which are responsible
for ensuring the Governing Body is informed by the members of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and that local knowledge is fed into the decision making
process. The committees are responsible for ensuring that members have the
opportunity to contribute to the development of policy and commissioning
strategy.
Attendance records for each of the committees are detailed in the table below:
Lower Lea Valley:
Abbey Road, Waltham Cross

Out of total of 13 meetings
12

Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centre, Cheshunt

11

Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre, Cuffley

13

High Street Surgery, Cheshunt

10

Stanhope Surgery, Waltham Cross

13

Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre, Cheshunt

13

The Maples Health Centre, Broxbourne

13

Warden Lodge, Cheshunt

11

North Herts:
Ashwell Surgery, Ashwell

Out of total of 12 meetings
11

Astonia House Surgery, Baldock

12

Birchwood Surgery, Letchworth

11

Courtenay House Surgery, Hitchin

12

Garden City Surgery, Letchworth

10

Knebworth & Marymead Surgery, Knebworth

12

Nevells Road Surgery, Letchworth

12

Orford Lodge Surgery, Hitchin

11

Portmill Surgery, Hitchin

12
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Regal Chambers Surgery, Hitchin
Sollershott Surgery, Letchworth

21

12
7
12

Whitwell Surgery, Whitwell
Stevenage:
Bedwell Medical Centre, Stevenage
Canterbury Way Surgery, Stevenage

Out of total of 12 meetings
12
5 out of 7

Chells Way Surgery, Stevenage

11

King George Surgery, Stevenage

11

Manor House Surgery, Stevenage

11

Shephall Way Surgery, Stevenage
St Nicholas Health Centre, Stevenage

10
4 out of 9

Stanmore Medical Group, Stevenage

10

Symonds Green Health Centre, Stevenage

6

Stort Valley and Villages:
Central Surgery, Sawbridgeworth

9

Parsonage Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford

10
See footnote

South Street Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford

9

The Health Centre, Much Hadham

11
Out of total of 14 meetings

Upper Lea Valley:
Amwell Street Surgery, Hoddesdon

14

Buntingford Medical Centre, Buntingford

12

Castlegate Surgery, Hertford

14

Church Street Surgery, Ware

14

Dolphin House Surgery, Ware

14

Hailey View Surgery, Hoddesdon

13

Haileybury College, Hertford Heath *

12

Hanscombe House Surgery, Hertford

12

Orchard Surgery, Buntingford

12

Park Lane Surgery, Broxbourne

14

Puckeridge Surgery, Puckeridge

12

The Limes Surgery, Hoddesdon

14

The Maltings Surgery, Ware

23

Out of total of 11 meetings
11

Church Street Partnership, Bishop’s Stortford
Sawbridgeworth Medical Services, Sawbridgeworth *

22

24

7 out of 8

Wallace House Surgery, Hertford

13

Ware Road Surgery, Hertford

11

Watton Place Surgery, Watton at Stone

12

Welwyn and Hatfield:

Out of total of 11 meetings

Bridge Cottage Surgery, Welwyn

11

Burvill House Surgery, Hatfield

11

21

Agreement was made with Sollershott Surgery, the locality and the CCG that due to the exceptional
circumstances with the practice’s caretaker contract being introduced, that the practice could be
represented at meetings by the practice manager only during Q4
22
Canterbury Way merged with Stanmore Surgery in October 2016 after seven locality meetings had been
held
23
St Nicholas Health Centre’s practice list was taken over by Stanmore Surgery from January 2017
therefore the practice only had the opportunity to attend 9 meetings in their own right. From then on,
Stanmore represented both practices
24
The Maltings Surgery’s practice list was taken over by Dolphin House from 1 January 2017, therefore the
practice only had the opportunity to attend 8 meetings in their own right. From then on, Dolphin House
represented both practices

104

Hall Grove Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

11

Lister House Surgery, Hatfield

11

Peartree Lane Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

11

Potterells Medical Centre, Hatfield

11

Spring House Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

11

The Garden City Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

11

Wrafton House Surgery, Hatfield

11

* These GP practices provide services to a limited cohort of patients (boarding school and care home) and
are therefore not required to attend meetings.

Committee effectiveness
An audit of the effectiveness arrangements for the Governing Body and its
committees was undertaken as part of the Internal Audit plan for 2016/17. The
Auditors found that there is a robust governance structure in place and that the
committees were discharging their duties effectively, helping the organisation to
meet its aims and objectives. The Governance and Audit Committee and Quality
Committee undertake self-assessments of their effectiveness on an annual
basis. Governing Body members have also undertaken mandatory training,
which included Anti-Fraud and Bribery (Managing Conflicts of Interest and
Standards of Business Conduct), Risk Management, Health and Safety,
Information Governance, and Procurement.
Register of interests
The Governing Body maintains an up-to-date Register of Interests, which
formally records the declarations of interests made by its members and is
available on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s website. Any interest that arises
during the course of a meeting is declared immediately and recorded in the
minutes of the meeting. This ensures that the Governing Body acts in the best
interests of the organisation and avoids situations where there may be a
potential conflict of interest.
Discharge of Statutory Functions
The Clinical Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and
powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the organisation is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each
of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on
delegation of those functions. Responsibility for each duty and power has been
clearly allocated to a lead Executive Director. Directorates have confirmed that
their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Risk Management Framework sets out the
strategic aim, commitment to and objectives of the risk management process. It
also identifies the leadership and responsibilities for risk management throughout
the organisation. Roles and responsibilities are based around the Three Lines of
Defence model (Please see diagram below).

First Line of Defence – Management and Staff
Each department and employee is responsible for implementing the
requirements of the Risk Management Framework. All line managers have a
responsibility for identifying, assessing, managing and reporting risk within their
area of responsibility, which could affect achievement of any of the organisation’s
objectives. They are also responsible for putting actions into place to mitigate
these risks and for reporting activities or circumstance that may give risk to new
or changed risk.
Second Lind of Defence – Specialist Support Functions
The second line of defence is made up the functions that specialise in risk
management or compliance. In the case of risk management this role is primarily
to facilitate risk management across the Clinical Commissioning Group.
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The Head of Risk Management is responsible for facilitating risk management
activity across the CCG. This includes providing training and advice to staff in the
management of risk, embedding best practise risk management, co-ordinating
and reporting risk information to the Governing Body and its committees. In
addition, this role is also responsible for ensuring that the Risk Management
Framework and Procedure guidance are kept relevant and in line with current
best practise.
Third Line of Defence
The third line of defence relates to functions that provide independent assurance
which includes Internal Audit.

Executive Team
The Executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the implementation of the
Risk Management Framework, including defining; supporting and challenging
key risks and risk management activity.

Governing Body
The Governing Body is ultimately responsible for risk management and is
supported in discharging its responsibilities by the Governance and Audit and
Quality Committees.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for risk management within the
organisation. The Director of Nursing and Quality has delegated responsibility for
clinical risk and the Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility for
financial risk and information risk.
The amount and type of risk that the Clinical Commissioning Group is willing to
take on in pursuit of its strategic objectives is determined by the Governing Body
in their determination of the organisation’s Risk Appetite. This appetite is
influenced by a number of key factors including (but not limited to) the overall
level of risk, as well as the economic, regulatory and operational landscape.
Strategic risks are identified by the Executive team based on the Strategic
Objectives and informed by other sources. Risk identification has been
supported during 2016/17 with a series of risk identification workshops that have
been run across the organisation. Risk management practice has also been
strengthened and embedded during 2016/17. The Clinical Commissioning
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Group is an active member of the Health and Wellbeing Board and regularly
participates in scrutiny undertaken by Hertfordshire County Council. This level of
joint activity enables stakeholders to work with the organisation to understand
and manage any risks that may impact on them. The Strategic Risk Register and
highest scoring risks are published for Governing Body Meetings, in which they
are reviewed quarterly, providing a further opportunity for public engagement
with stakeholders in risks that impact on them.
All Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that key and emerging
strategic risks are identified, assessed and managed. They also monitor the
effectiveness of risk assessment, mitigating actions and assurances in place.
The Directorate teams are responsible for reviewing their work areas to identify
risks to the achievement of objectives and to put in place actions to mitigate
these.
Members of the Governing Body have attended specific training in risk
management. Risk management training is also mandatory for all managers and
staff. At 31 March 2017, 87.67% of staff had completed risk management
training.

Risk Assessment
The risk management process starts with the organisation setting its objectives
and identifying possible risks to their achievement. The controls in place to
mitigate the risks are assessed together with the assurance in place on those
controls. Gaps in controls and assurance are evaluated and further actions
identified and implemented. If the residual risk is not acceptable further actions
are identified, assigned to named individuals and timescales for implementation
agreed.
In support of the Risk Management Framework, the organisation has a Risk
Management Procedure Guidance, which is used by all levels of staff and guides
them through the steps of managing risks. It contains the risk scoring matrix and
descriptors, which enables staff to ensure that risks are scored consistently so
that priority can be given to the risks that could hinder the achievement of
objectives. It also details the process by which risks are managed and escalated
to the Strategic Risk Register.
The Strategic Risk Register details the risks that at a strategic level could have
an impact on achieving the organisation’s objectives. Updates to the Strategic
Risk Register take into consideration the risks on the Risk Controls and
Assurance Dashboard. The Strategic Risk Register and the Risk Controls and
Assurance Dashboard are updated three times a year. This update is facilitated
by the Head of Risk Management and occurs via meetings held with the
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individual risk owners. These update meetings include a review of the nature of
the risk, the risk description including causes and impact, risk scoring, discussion
and challenge of the controls and identification of further actions required to
mitigate the risk.

Risk Identification
The CCG undertakes proactive holistic identification of risks utilising a top down
and bottom up approach to ensure a robust process is in place. These risks are
managed using tiered risk registers, which include:•

Strategic Risk Register: Register of the key strategic risks faced by the
CCG. Risks are owned by Executive team members.

•

Corporate Risk Register: Risk Control and Assurance Dashboard. Risks
are owned by Associate/Assistant Directors and Managers across the
CCG with an assigned Director responsible for oversight.

•

Directorate and Project Risk Registers: Project risk registers are
maintained for projects. Directorate risk registers are not mandatory but
there use is encouraged.

The table below details the Strategic Risks of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
These are continuously reviewed by the Executive Team and reflect both the ‘inyear’ and ‘future’ risks faced by the organisation:

Strategic Risk 1:

Strategic Risk 2:

Strategic Risk 3:

Failure of the Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure delivery of safe,
high quality and effective services from appropriately commissioned
providers
Failure to establish an adequate and appropriate commissioning
plan that is informed by member practices
If we fail to fulfil our responsibility to proactively engage with other STP
stakeholders and to influence STP appropriately there is a risk that we
will not deliver a sustainable local health and social care system
potentially resulting in judicial review, financial failure and detrimental
effects on patients.

Strategic Risk 4:

Failure of the Clinical Commissioning Group to manage the financial
budget and meet its financial target

Strategic Risk 5:

Failure to implement key work streams to ensure delivery of
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s strategic plan
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Strategic Risk 6:

Strategic Risk 7:

Financial Sustainability of Providers in the Health Economy
As a result of a shortage of appropriately skilled staff there is a risk
that the CCG will not be able to effectively commission new services
or provide existing services which could result in diminished services
and poor outcomes for patients and failure to deliver core services.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in
the Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and
objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level
rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Internal Audit
The organisation uses an internal audit function to monitor the internal controls in
operation to try to identify and correct any weaknesses identified. The system is
embedded in the activity of the organisation through an annual Internal Audit
Work Plan. The Internal Audit services for the organisation are currently provided
by RSM. The Head of Internal Audit reports independently to the Chair of the
Governance and Audit Committee and provides objectivity and independent
assurance on the effectiveness of its system of internal control, including the
application of the Risk Management Framework.

Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for Clinical
Commissioning Groups (published June 2016) requires organisations to
undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To
support Clinical Commissioning Groups to undertake this task, NHS England has
published a template audit framework. The Clinical Commissioning Group
undertook a gap analysis and updated its Managing Conflicts of Interest and
Standards of Business Conduct policies in November 2016. These were audited
in February 2017 by Internal Audit to assess compliance. The audit review
identified that although the Clinical Commissioning Group demonstrated that
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they had made good progress with regards to implementing the requirements,
partial compliance was identified in some areas, and the organisation is currently
implementing the audit findings to strengthen the management of this risk. In the
audit the CCG was tested in 25 areas and was fully compliant in 18 and partially
compliant in 7. The CCG is in the process of implementing the two medium and
five low recommendations from the auditors to ensure that the CCG is fully
compliant.

Data Quality
The Clinical Commissioning Group undertakes monthly validation of all
Secondary Uses Service data for all contracted providers against a
comprehensive list of validation rules. There is also a monthly Organisational
Performance and Delivery Day held with Governing Body members to discuss
and resolve a range of issues associated with the organisation’s main providers,
including data quality and validation issues. Commissioning Information Groups
are held with all the main acute and community providers to discuss and agree
improvements in performance and data quality issues. Data Quality Improvement
Plans have been agreed with all the main providers and monitored at the
Commissioning Information Data Groups on a monthly or quarterly basis.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has purchased Methods Stethoscope to
assist in the comparison and benchmarking of the organisation and Trust
performance against the national Outcomes Framework. The organisation also
has access to the national Hospital Episode Statistics data, through
Mede/Analytics, to undertake bespoke comparative data analysis.

Information Governance
Risks to data security are managed through a series of management, technical,
operational and privacy controls.
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and
procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and
employees, in particular personal identifiable information. The NHS Information
Governance Framework is supported by an Information Governance Toolkit and
the annual submission process provides assurances to the Clinical
Commissioning Group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
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Information Governance Toolkit v14
The Clinical Commissioning Group has undertaken an assessment of its position
against the Information Governance Toolkit v14 and has submitted a
‘Satisfactory’ level of compliance, which evaluated that the organisation achieved
level 2 or above on all Requirements. Policies and processes for the
management of information have been agreed at the Information Governance
Forum and ratified by the Governance and Audit Committee.

Data Security
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust Information Governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient confidentiality and
corporate information. We have established an Information Governance
Management Framework and have developed Information Governance
processes and procedures in line with the Information Governance Toolkit. We
have ensured that all staff members undertake Information Governance training
annually, which is mandatory and ensures they are aware of their roles and
responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have appointed a Senior Information Risk Owner who is the Chief
Finance Officer and continue to embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation.

Business Critical Models
The Clinical Commissioning Group uses activity models that are based on official
Government produced information, for example, population demographics,
provided by the Office for National Statistics. It is assumed that the Office for
National Statistics, as a nationally recognised body will have undertaken quality
assurance processes with regard to construction of these models.
The Clinical Commissioning Group currently uses a local risk stratification model
that was jointly developed between health and social care and is made available
through Mede/Analytics. This model is used to identify a discrete group of
patients who are at risk of being admitted to hospital as an emergency for local
initiatives such as Home First. The patients identified by this model are followed
up by a multi-disciplinary team of clinicians from primary care, community health,
mental health, and social workers as part of a clinical review process to provide
assurance only patients suitable for the schemes developed are followed up.
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The organisation does not use any other sophisticated models beyond those
described above but is currently undertaking further analysis to develop new risk
stratification models using the wider range of data that is now available through
the data integration and pseudonymisation at source project.

Third Party Assurances
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a contract with Mede/Analytics to provide
Business Intelligence support as a Data Processor. As a third party supplier
assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of version 14 of the IG Toolkit
with an overall score of 100% and they are entered on the Data Protection
Register with the Information Commissioners Office (ICO.) In addition there is a
confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and Mede/Analytics and
they have been audited by NHS Digital with an assessment of minimal risk of
inappropriate exposure and/or access to data provided by NHS Digital, and were
highlighted with a number of areas of good practice.
The CCG also has a contract with North East London Commissioning Support
Unit (NELCSU) to provide Data Services for Commissioning (DSCRO) services.
As a third party supplier assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of
version 14 of the IG Toolkit with an overall score of 91% and they are entered on
the Data Protection Register with the ICO. Further assurance is provided by the
inclusion of a confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and
NELCSU.
The organisation does not have any other contracts with third party suppliers
who have access to and process patient identifiable data. All other third party
contractors are assessed on an annual basis and contract clauses included
where appropriate.

Control Issues
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that the organisation “has an adequate and
effective framework for risk management, governance and internal control.
“However, our work has identified further enhancements to the framework of risk
management, governance and internal control to ensure that it remains adequate
and effective.
“Where weaknesses were identified by internal audits management actions have
been agreed to address these issues.”
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
To ensure the Clinical Commissioning Group resources are used economically,
efficiently and effectively the organisation has implemented processes, which are
described below:
•

•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the Clinical Commissioning Group has agreed its prime and detailed
financial policies, which set out the systems to be adhered to in order to
ensure that resources are used efficiently.
developed and implemented strategic and operational plans, which
include an agreed annual budget approved by the Governing Body.
contracts with providers that use the national standard NHS contract and
include detailed finance, activity and quality schedules. The contracts
require providers to innovate to improve quality and efficiency.
comprehensive programme of contract monitoring, covering all aspects of
performance, quality, activity and finance against agreed plans.
corporate wide process for the development and review of business cases
for investment. Processes include assessment of value for money and
contribution to the achievement of Clinical Commissioning Group
objectives.
reports on finance and quality presented on a monthly basis to the
Governing Body, with actions identified when performance is off track.
report on identified key financial risks to bi-monthly meetings of the
Governance and Audit Committee.
implementation of an internal audit programme that is targeted at the
strategic risks and key financial control processes.
annual fraud risk assessment undertaken by an independent party,
providing recommendations for key actions.
comprehensive suite of Fraud and Bribery policies agreed and in place
with local counter fraud specialist delivering an agreed work plan.
requirement as part of mandatory training that all staff undertake counter
fraud and bribery training.
the NHS ‘Atlas of Variation’ allows the organisation to compare the
amount we spend, the health services we commission and the health of
our population against that of other areas in England. These comparisons
help the Clinical Commissioning Group to identify whether our population
is receiving high quality, efficient and effective health services.

Delegation of functions
Not applicable.
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Counter Fraud Arrangements
The CCG contracts RSM to provide the counter fraud provision by way of a
nominated lead local counter fraud specialist (LCFS). The LCFS is accredited by
NHS Protect and qualified to undertake the duties of that role.
RSM provides the CCG with a LCFS Annual Report, which details all work
undertaken in respect of counter fraud activities for the reporting year and
measures each task as specified in the NHS Protect Standards for
Commissioners. The LCFS Workplan is designed to meet the requirements set
out in the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners and each task is designed
to provide compliance with each of the standards described. The LCFS
Workplan is designed to address the locally and nationally identified fraud risk
areas in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer.
The Chief Finance Officer holds responsibility for the delivery of the LCFS work
and provides the support to the LCFS in achieving this. The LCFS works with
the Chief Finance Officer in submitting the annual NHS Protect Self Review Tool.
An action plan is produced on the findings of this tool which is monitored at the
Governance and Audit Committee for any areas not deemed as fully compliant
with the standards.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the
Clinical Commissioning Group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent
and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal
control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that based on the work undertaken
in 2016-17:
“The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk
management, governance and internal control. However, our work has identified
further enhancements to the framework of risk management, governance and
internal control to ensure that it remains adequate and effective.”
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Delivery of Strategic Ambitions and Financial Plan
Risk Management and Assurance
Cyber Security
Governance-Committee Effectiveness
Information Governance
Procurement: Integrated Urgent Care Service
Patient Engagement
Joint Commissioning Arrangements
Effectiveness of the Case Management System
Key Financial Controls and Payroll
Conflicts of interest – compliance with NHS England
statutory guidance

Substantial Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Advisory
Reasonable Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Advisory
Substantial Assurance
Advisory

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal
control
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group. My
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the Internal Auditors, the Executive Directors and senior management
within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me and my review is also informed by comments made
by the External Auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.
The Strategic Risk Register, Risk Controls and Assurance Dashboard and Audit
Reports provide me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage
risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed
and are being managed.
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The organisation reflects the findings of Internal Audit Reports, as a source of
assurance, which ensures there is a system of continuous improvement in place.
Once a weakness is identified, an Action Plan is developed by senior
management and this is reported directly to the Governance and Audit
Committee, who then monitor the action until resolution. The Head of Internal
Audit then tests a sample of these actions on an annual basis to provide
assurance that these have been implemented.
A system based review of the Risk Management Assurance processes in place
within the organisation was undertaken as part of the Internal Audit Plan for
2016-17. The testing undertaken during this review found that the organisation
has a robust risk management assurance process in place, which is generally
well embedded within the organisation’s senior management. This means the
Governing Body can take substantial assurance that the controls upon which the
organisation relies to manage risk management across the organisation are
suitably designed, consistently applied and operating effectively.

Conclusion
As Accountable Officer, and based on the review processes outlined
above, I can confirm that the Governance Statement is a balanced
reflection of the actual controls position and there are no significant
internal control issues identified for the Clinical Commissioning Group.

25 May 2017
………………………………….
signed

…………………………..
date

Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive
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Part two: Remuneration report
The information on pages 118 and 119 is not subject to audit.
The members of the Remuneration Committee for the year were:
•
•
•

Linda Farrant – Lay member (Governance and Audit), Chair of the
Remuneration Committee
Dr Nicky Williams – Deputy Clinical Chair
Dr Dermot O’ Riordan – Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

The Committee met twice during 2016/17 and all members were in attendance.

Policy on remuneration of senior managers
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Remuneration Committee used the
remuneration guidance provided by NHS England to inform its decisions
regarding the pay of all very senior managers. We can confirm that the pay of all
our very senior managers is within the pay ranges identified in the guidance.
Additional payments have been agreed on a post-by-post basis for additional
responsibilities and complexity, as assessed by the Remuneration Committee.

Senior managers performance related pay
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that there will be no performance
related pay for senior managers.
Policy on senior managers’ contracts
As at 31 March 2017 there were five permanent executive team managers and
one interim. GPs on the Governing Body are employed on fixed term contracts:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dr Pathmanathan (4 year fixed term from 1 September 2014 to 31 August
2018)
Drs Hall and Williams (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2017 to 31 March
2021)
Drs Andrews, Jackson and Moodley (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2015
to 31 March 2019)
Dr Kearns, (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2018)
Dr Shukur (3 year fixed term from 16 February 2017 to 29 February 2020)
Dr Shah (4 year fixed term from 1 November 2014 to 31 October 2018)
Dr Gupta (4 year fixed term from 1 November 2015 to 31 October 2019)
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•

Dr Sinclair resigned on 31 March 2017 (covering the role on a temporary
basis until 30 June 2017)

Lay members are employed on a mixture of permanent and fixed term contracts:
• Linda Farrant (permanent contract)
• Dianne Desmulie (3 year fixed term from 27 November 2014 to 26
November 2017)
• Yvette Twumasi-Ankrah (3 year fixed term from 4 August 2015 to 3
August 2018)

Senior manager service contracts
We do not have any senior manager service contracts.

Payments to past senior managers
There have been no payments to past senior managers.

Salaries and allowances (audited element of remuneration
report)
The salary and pension entitlements of East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s
senior managers are disclosed in the following two tables. The definition of a
senior manager is a person in a senior position having authority or responsibility
for directing or controlling the major activities of the clinical commissioning group.
This means those who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning
group as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or
departments, people including advisory and lay members. The Chief Executive
confirms that this definition covers members of the Governing Body only.
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Annual Performance
Related Bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

Long Term
Performance Related
Bonuses (bands of
£5,000)

All Pension Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total (bands of
£5,000)

Beverley Flowers - Accountable Officer
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations
Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair
Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair
Robert Graham - GP Board Member (1 Apr - 31 Dec 2016)
Stephen Kite - GP Board Member (1 Apr - 24 Nov 2016)
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member
Ed Bosonnet - GP Board Member (1 Apr - 30th Sept 2016)
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member
Russell Hall - GP Board Member
Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member
Nabiel Shukur - GP Board Member
Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member
Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member
Dianne Desmulie - Lay Member
Yvette Twumasi - Ankrah - Lay Member
Linda Farrant - Lay Member
Rachel Joyce - Medical Director (1st December 2016 - 31st March 2017)
Dermot O’Riordan – Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

Taxable Benefits
(rounded to the
nearest £100)

Name and Title

Salary and Fees
(bands of £5,000)

Salaries and allowances in 2016/17

£000
130-135
125-130
110-115
110-115
110-115
100-105
100-105
35-40
30-35
45-50
50-55
25-30
50-55
50-55
50-55
45-50
50-55
50-55
50-55
10-15
10-15
15-20
20-25
5-10

£
0
200
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
200
200
0
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
135-137.5
32.5-35
22.5-25
35-37.5
0
15-17.5
52.5-55
5-7.5
2.5-5
2.5-5
12.5-15
0
15-17.5
0
10-12.5
7.5-10
5-7.5
12.5-15
45-47.5
0
0
0
27.5-30
0

£000
265-270
160-165
135-140
135-140
110-115
115-120
155-160
45-50
35-40
50-55
60-65
25-30
50-55
50-55
60-65
55-60
55-60
60-65
95-100
10-15
10-15
15-20
50-55
5-10
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Notes
The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The benefit arises from the mileage
allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. East and North Hertfordshire
CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate in 2016/17 of 45p a mile. The
excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.
The all pension related benefits in the table above shows the real terms increase in pension benefits over the course of the past year, i.e. the additional money
(lump sum and annual pension) that would be payable to the individual if they had become entitled to it on 31 March 2017 compared to their entitlements as at 31
March 2016. These benefits are funded by the CCG and are calculated on the assumption that the annual pension will be paid for 20 years after the date of
retirement.

121

Salaries and allowances in 2015/16
Name and Title

Lesley Watts - Accountable Officer ( 1st April 2015 - 14th September 2015)
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality
Denise Boardman - Interim Director of Commissioning (1st April 2015 - 13th September 2015)
Beverley Flowers - Director of Strategic Partnerships (1st April 2015 - 14th September 2015) Accountable
Officer (15th September 2015 - 31st March 2016)
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations
Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning (14th September 2015 - 31st March 2016)
Chris Badger - Interim Director of Strategic Partnerships (13th September 2016 - 31st March 2016)
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair
Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair
Robert Graham - GP Board Member
Stephen Kite - GP Board Member
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member
Ed Bosonnet - GP Board Member and Interim Director of Clinical Integration for the period 1st June 2015 30th September 2015
Louise Monk - GP Board Member (4th June 2016 - 11th September 2016) - to cover for Ed Bosonnet whilst
undertaking Interim role
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member
Russell Hall - GP Board Member
Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member
Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member
Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member
Peter Shilladay - GP Board Member (1st April 2015 - 30th August 2015)
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member
Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member (1st November 2015 - 31st March 2016)
Dianne Desmulie - Lay Member
Yvette Twumasi - Ankrah - Lay Member (3rd August 2015 - 31st March 2016)
Linda Farrant - Lay Member
Dermot O’Riordan – Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

Salary and
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)

Annual
Performance
Related
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0

Long Term
Performance
Related
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

£000
65-70
125-130
110-115
45-50

Taxable
Benefits
(rounded
to the
nearest
£100)
£
0
200
0
100

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
37.5-40
0
15-17.5
42.5-45

£000
105-110
125-130
125-130
90-95

120-125
110-115
60-65
60-65
100-105
100-105
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55

0
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

32.5-35
2.5-5
45-47.5
0
0
25-27.5
40-42.5
0-2.5
5-7.5
12.5-15

155-160
115-120
105-110
60-65
100-105
125-130
90-95
50-55
55-60
60-65

65-70

0

0

0

2.5-5
120-122.5

70-75
130-135

10-15
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
20-25
50-55
20-25
5-10
5-10
15-20
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
200
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
2.5-5
2.5-5
10-12.5
0
0
12.5-15
0
0
0
0
0

50-55
50-55
50-55
60-65
50-55
20-25
60-65
20-25
5-10
5-10
15-20
0
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Notes
The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The benefit arises from the mileage
allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. East and North Hertfordshire
CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate in 2015/16 of 45p a mile. The
excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.
The all pension related benefits in the table above shows the real terms increase in pension benefits over the course of the past year, i.e. the additional money
(lump sum and annual pension) that would be payable to the individual if they had become entitled to it on 31 March 2016 compared to their entitlements as at 31
March 2015. These benefits are funded by the CCG and are calculated on the assumption that the annual pension will be paid for 20 years after the date of
retirement.
Dermot O’Riordan is a consultant general surgeon employed by West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust. He is a member of the Governing Body without receiving
any payment from East and North Hertfordshire CCG and without West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust making any charge to the CCG.
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Pensions benefits 2016/17

Name and title

Relating to the period 1 April 2016 to 31st March 2017
Beverley Flowers - Accountable Officer
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality

Real
increase in
pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension
at
pension
age at 31
March
2017
(bands
of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at pension
age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2017
(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2016

Real
increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2017

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000
0

5-7.5

7.5-10.0

35-40

95-100

494

109

603

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

30-35

30-35

355

39

395

0

57

792

0
0

0-2.5

5-7.5

35-40

115-120

735

Sharn Elton - Director of Operations

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

115-120

621

4

625

Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning - Note1

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

95-100

0

0

0

0

Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair - Note 2

0-2.5

0-2.5

10-15

30-35

178

17

195

0

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

15-20

40-45

249

47

297

0

22

373

0
0

Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair
Robert Graham - GP Board Member ( 1st April 2016 - 31st December 2016)

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

55-60

344

Stephen Kite - GP Board Member ( 1st April 2016 - 24th November 2016)

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

60-65

467

0

0

Mark Andrews - GP Board Member - Note 1

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

25-30

202

0

0

0

21

164

0
0

Alison Jackson - GP Board Member

0-2.5

0-2.5

10-15

25-30

143

Prag Moodley - GP Board Member

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

15-20

120

22

142

Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member

0-2.5

0-2.5

15-20

45-50

291

32

323

0

0

0

0
0

Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member - Note 1

0-2.5

0-2.5

10-15

30-35

246

Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

10-15

20-25

101

29

130

Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member

0-2.5

0-2.5

15-20

55-60

352

37

389

0
0

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

15-20

110

18
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Linda Farrant - Lay Member

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Diane Desmulie - Lay Member

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0-2.5

0
2.5-5.0

0
25-30

0
80-85

0
449

0
30

0
539

0
0

Ashish Shah - GP Board Member

Yvette Twumasi - Ankrah - Lay Member
Rachel Joyce - Medical Director (1st December 2016 - 31st March 2017)
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Notes
1. The officers have no CETV at 31st March 2017 as at that date they were past the normal retirement age meaning that their pensions cannot be transferred.
2. Hari Pathmanathan re-joined the NHS Pension Scheme with effect from 1st September 2016.
3. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.
4. Pensions Agency has provided details of the pension benefits that GPs have accrued in relation to their service as an NHS Officer, not as a GP.
5. NHS employees contribute towards their pension benefits. In 2016/17 contribution rates were 14.5% of salary where the individual earned in excess of
£111,377 and 13.5% where the individual earned between £70,631 and £111,377.
6. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particularly
point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme. This may
be more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
7. Real Increase in CETV
The Real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer, and employee contributions. It takes account of the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement), and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of period.

25 May 2017

………………… Date …………………………. Finance Signing Officer
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Pay Multiples (audited element of remuneration report)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the mid-point of the banded
remuneration of the highest paid director in their organisation at the reporting
period end date on an annualised basis. Total remuneration includes salary, nonconsolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
The mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the
Governing Body of the CCG in the financial year 2016/17 was £132,500. This
was 3.59 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £36,890.
The lowest paid member of staff received £16,212.
In 2015/16 the mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid member
of the Governing Body of the CCG was £132,500. This was 3.67 times the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £36,074.
In 2015/16 and 2016/17 no employee received remuneration in excess of the
highest paid director member of the Governing Body.

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220
per day and that last longer than six months (not subject to audit)
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

6

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

3

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

3

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have been subject to a riskbased assessment as to whether the individual is paying the right amount of tax,
and where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
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Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2016 and 31
March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six
months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017

9

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses
giving the [NHS body name] the right to request assurance in relation
to income tax and National Insurance obligations

9

Number for whom assurance has been requested

9

Of which:
assurance has been received

6

assurance has not been received

3

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

The three instances where assurances have not been received were all related
to off-payroll engagements lasting between 6-12 months where the engagement
finished before the assurance had been sought.

Table 3: For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and
31 March 2017.
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial
year

0

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed ‘board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility’ during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements

24

Expenditure on consultancy
The total spend on consultants in 2016/17 was £93,913.
Exit packages
Three exit packages were paid in 2016/17.
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25 May 2017
………………………………….
signed

…………………………..
date

Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive

Staff report
As at 31 March 2017, East and North Hertfordshire CCG employed a total of 293
staff (270.26 full time equivalents), not including 11 GP governing body members,
1 secondary care doctor, 3 lay members and 1 staff member on a career break.
We have an active talent development policy where staff are jointly employed by
partner organisations including Hertfordshire County Council. This joint working
allows for our staff to broaden their knowledge base, further their development
and continues to nurture relationships for the future.
We have 110 male and 183 female staff who are employed across the Agenda for
Change bandings and VSM (Very Senior Manager). Staff employed at the more
senior grades of band 8a and above are 63% female and 37% male. There has
not been any significant change in these percentages since the previous annual
report.
The below table details how many senior managers are employed by the CCG by
banding.
Band
8a
8b
8c
8d
9
VSM

Number of Staff
34
22
16
11
1
6

East and North Hertfordshire CCG staff range in age from 18 to 70 years old, and
younger staff (aged under 30 years old) make up 12.3% of the workforce, which
shows an increase from last year’s rate of 7.5%. The number of younger staff
continues to be an area for development and improvement for the CCG. In
preparation for the introduction of the apprenticeship levy, the CCG plans to
expand the existing apprenticeship scheme and increase the employment of
younger people.
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Table: Employee benefits and staff numbers
2016-17

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS
Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee
benefits including capitalised
costs
Less: Employee costs
capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

Total

Admin

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

13,464
1,264

11,347
1,264

2,117
0

10,833
1,106

9,426
1,106

1,407
0

2,631
158

1,921
158

710
0

1,491
70

1,491
70

0
0

1,279
66

1,279
66

0
0

212
4

212
4

0
0

16,289

14,172

2,117

13,284

11,877

1,407

3,005

2,295

710

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

16,289

14,172

2,117

13,284

11,877

1,407

3,005

2,295

710

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

16,289

14,172

2,117

13,284

11,877

1,407

3,005

2,295

710
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4.1.1 Employee benefits

2015-16

Less: Employee costs
capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

Admin

Other
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

12,903
961

10,214
961

2,689
0

10,965
912

8,955
912

2,010
0

1,938
49

1,259
49

679
0

1,386
234

1,386
234

0
0

1,302
234

1,302
234

0
0

84
0

84
0

0
0

15,484

12,795

2,689

13,413

11,403

2,010

2,071

1,392

679

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15,484

12,795

2,689

13,413

11,403

2,010

2,071

1,392

679

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Programme

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS
Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure

Total

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Average number of people employed:
2016-17

Total

2015-16

Total

Permanently employed

Other

Total

Permanently employed

Other

309

272

37

302

248

54
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The CCG has a diverse workforce with 39.7% of staff declaring their belief as
Christian and 13.7% as other religion which includes Buddhism, Hinduism,
Sikhism. 32.2% of staff did not disclose their religion or belief.
Religious belief

Number of staff

Percentage

Atheism

42

14.4%

Buddhism

3

1.0%

Christianity

116

39.7%

Hinduism

8

2.7%

I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief

94

32.2%

Islam

8

2.7%

Jainism

1

0.3%

Judaism

2

0.7%

Other

16

5.5%

Sikhism

2

0.7%

The highest populated ethnic origin group in the CCG remains White British at
68%, this is consistent with the previous year.
26% of our staff have not disclosed their sexual orientation. 72% of our workforce
have declared they are heterosexual and 1.7% self-identified as bisexual, lesbian
or gay.
91.1% of our staff have declared they have no disability, and 3.7% have declared
a disability, a further increase from the previous year and the remaining 5.1%
have declared they do not wish to disclose.

Governing Body membership
The Governing Body is made up of 21 members: 10 members are male and 11
are female.

Recruitment
The CCG continues to use the NHS Jobs website as the first point of information
for candidates. The data shows a good response to all positions that went out to
advert, with a high calibre of applicants. From 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017
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there were 85 posts advertised on NHS Jobs including substantive and fixed
term positions. These posts ranged from administrative and clerical, to nursing
and professional in bands 3 to Very Senior Manager.
The percentage of male to female applicants remains balanced as with the
previous year, with 48.72% male to 49.47% female applicants (1.80% did not
declare their gender). Although the percentage of males to females is relatively
similar at the application stage, only 34% of successful appointments are male,
compared with 66% female.
The proportion of female to male staff stands at 61.61 % female to 38.39 % male
and is reflective of the gender split of people taking up a role within the health
care sector at present.
Applications were received from candidates between the ages of 18 to 69 years
of age, with the majority of recruited staff falling within the 21-25 and 36-40 year
age groups. There has been an increase in representation of younger employees
than in the previous year. Further analysis shows that these age groups were
recruited into predominantly IT-related vacancies.

Staff policies for giving full and fair consideration for the application,
employment and ongoing training / career development of disabled
persons.
We are committed to being a fair and inclusive employer, as well as maintaining
a working environment that promotes the health and wellbeing of our employees.
We have therefore taken positive steps to ensure that our policies deal with
equality implications relating to recruitment and selection, pay and benefits,
flexible working hours, training and development, and that we have policies
around managing employees and protecting employees from harassment,
victimisation and discrimination.
We operate a ‘guaranteed interview scheme’, which ensures an interview for any
candidate with a disclosed disability whose application meets the minimum
requirements on the person specification. This policy supports the recruitment of
a workforce that reflects the diversity of our population and helps to ensure that
specific needs of employees are identified and addressed, whilst promoting
positive attitudes towards people with physical, sensory and mental impairments.
Our Attendance Management Policy supports all employees and states that in
cases where the employee may fall within the scope of the Equality Act 2010, or
where employees become disabled and wish to remain in employment,
managers are obliged to make reasonable adjustments to the work place or the
working environment to support the employee to remain at work.
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Staff absence figures
The total number of working days lost to sickness absence during the period
January 2016 and December 2016 was 3,424 which equates to an absence rate
of 3.02%. These figures are based on 365 days a year due to HBL ICT staff
working a shift pattern across 7 days a week.

Absence % (FTE)

Absence Days

Abs (FTE)

Avail (FTE)

3.02%

3,424

3,084.74

102,144.43

The average absence rate for East and North Hertfordshire CCG was therefore
above the 2% absence target rate set by the CCG on its establishment in 2013.
However it has reduced from the average rate reported for last year, which was
3.63%.
The average figures from the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC)
for quarter 2 during 2016/17 for all CCGs is 2.25%. The CCG is above the
average rate for staff absence for CCGs.

The highest peak of absence for the CCG occurred in September 2016. The
absence rate towards the end of the year however, has declined.
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HR shared service model
In order to continue to respond to the developing needs of the CCG, it was
decided that the in-house HR service should be transferred under TUPE to Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group which currently hosts the HR shared
service for Bedfordshire and Luton CCGs. As part of a shared service, the CCG
benefits from economies of scale, an enhanced knowledge base and a wider
pool of HR and organisational skills and expertise. The CCG now also has
access to a dedicated Director of Workforce, who is representing the CCGs and
participating in the STP workforce agenda across both Hertfordshire and
Bedfordshire.

Support for staff
During 2016/17 the CCG remained fully committed to the health and positive
wellbeing of its employees and understands that the health and wellbeing of the
workforce is crucial to the delivery of improvements in patient care.
The CCG provides access to occupational health support for all its employees.
The drop in service enables staff to visit the team, without the need for an
appointment, and ask for initial advice and guidance. The HR team provides
managers with support to help them with issues such as change management,
discipline, grievance/mediation, ill health and capability.
We continue to promote the Employee Assistance Programme and this has been
used by staff over the past year. This is a free confidential telephone guidance
service where staff can access advice and guidance whilst feeling safe and
secure that any information is not passed to their managers without consent.
General feedback from staff is that has proved useful and informative.

Apprenticeship and CCG intern schemes
The CCG is committed to encouraging young people to take up a career in the
health service and has introduced both an internship and an apprenticeship
scheme to support key areas of CCG work.
The aim of the intern programme was to provide students who wish to pursue a
career in medicine with first-hand experience of commissioning and with
shadowing opportunities in primary care and with provider organisations. During
2016/17, the four interns supported the GP Hotline in the nursing and quality
team and were able to:
•

Sit in on CCG meetings to understand the current problems faced by local
healthcare services, as well as development work
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•
•

Undertake placements in different areas of the NHS for example
hospitals, mental health settings and ambulance services
Receive support for their application to study medicine, including mock
interviews with detailed feedback and support

During 2016/17 the CCG supported two apprentices to work within the ICT
team. We recognise the valuable contribution made by apprenticeships to the
organisation by bringing young people into our workforce and developing the
skills of local people. Participation in the scheme also sends a positive message
to our workforce and population about the values of the CCG and our
commitment to engaging with our community.

Training
In addition to the mandatory training required, employees and governing body
members have access to a full suite of IT training modules and other soft skills
modules through an internal training system. A number of staff have also
undertaken a variety of learning and development opportunities linked to their
role and our strategic objectives. The following is a list of the mandatory training
required to be undertaken by CCG employees:

Training course

Frequency

Conflict Resolution Awareness

One‐off

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights

One‐off

Information Governance – Refresher

Annually

Moving and Handling

Every two years

Health and Safety

Every two years

Risk Management

Every two years

Fire Safety

Every two years

Safeguarding Adults - Level 1 *

Every three years

Safeguarding Children - Level 1 *

Every three years

Fraud and Bribery

Every three years

*Some positions within the CCG are required to undertake higher level training in these areas.
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In 2016/17, 74.08% of CCG staff had completed all their mandatory training.
Individualised training reports have been sent to each member of staff and their
line manager to encourage full compliance by the end of the financial year. The
CCG offers protected time each Friday in order for staff to complete training or
personal development.
Appraisals
The CCG is unable to report take up of staff appraisals in 2016/17. In order to
provide a consistent approach to appraisals and personal development plans,
the CCG will introduce a revised appraisal system in 2017/18. This will require all
line managers to complete staff appraisals between April and June each year in
order that any training requests are captured as part of an organisation-wide
training needs analysis.
Equality of opportunity
We are committed to eliminating unlawful discrimination and promoting equality
of opportunity by creating a workforce that is broadly representative of the
population we serve. We make sure that equality and diversity is a priority when
planning and commissioning local healthcare and in respect of our workforce.
HR policies
To ensure that our staff members do not experience discrimination, harassment
and victimisation we ensure equality is integrated across all our employment
practices and have a range of policies in place. You can view the full range of
CCG policies on our website.
The following policies relating to staff were reviewed and approved during
2016/17:
•
•
•
•

Bullying and Harassment Policy
Capability Management Policy and Procedure
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure
Social Media Policy

Whistleblowing
The CCG has in place a ‘Raising Concerns at Work’ policy which aims to provide
staff with information and reassurance regarding their rights and responsibilities
in reporting concerns. It sets out how staff can report in confidence, good faith
and without fear of retribution. As part of this policy, the CCG has nominated a
lay member to oversee the effectiveness of this process. The policy was
reviewed during 2016/17 and is being promoted to staff.

136

Employee consultation and communications

Office move
The CCG previously occupied office space in Fountain House as well as Charter
House. When the lease expired on Fountain House at the end of 2016, there
was an opportunity to bring everyone together in one building and introduce new
ways of working, helping staff to balance the demands of home and work, as well
as improved opportunities for cross-team working.
With limited time and budget the challenge was to use the available space in
Charter House effectively whilst creating a bright and light environment. The
refurbishment work was carried out with as little disruption to staff and visitors as
possible. A booking system was introduced to ensure that we get best use out of
the desks and meeting rooms that are available. New work spaces such as
touchdown areas, soft seating areas and break out areas were also created to
allow staff to work more flexibly.
The office move project group engaged with staff throughout the project via a
questionnaire on the previous office environment, a series of drop-in sessions in
October, November and March, through regular email updates and articles in the
staff magazine ‘Charter Chat’.
Following the move in early 2017 feedback was overall positive apart from a few
snagging issues to address. Staff will continue to have the opportunity to
feedback any comments on the office environment through the Joint Partnership
Forum.
“The office move has been a tremendous success, the new offices meet our
needs, promote team working and look lovely!” Customer Services - Service
Desk Support Team
“Well done to all who have worked so hard to put this into place. I find the desks
and double screens very helpful (although adjusting the height of the screens is
a 2 person job)! It’s really useful to have the pods, and I feel that I am much
better able to concentrate and also that I am less likely to disturb colleagues as a
result of this.” Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation Team
Internal communications
We have a range of internal communication channels for all our staff including
HBL ICT staff. These include our staff magazine ‘Charter Chat’, our intranet site,
team meetings and a weekly all staff email which contains a round-up of local
and national health news, HR and staff information.
The ‘learning and development hour’ continues to be popular on a Friday, where
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colleagues can hear updates from other teams on their key projects. There have
also been talks from external organisations on a range of topics including talking
therapies and the Spectrum Drug & Alcohol Recovery Service. Internal speakers
included a presentation from the Chief Executive which was originally presented
at the AGM in September. Beverley Flowers presented an overview of the year
for staff who were unable to attend the AGM.

Health and wellbeing
The NHS Five Year Forward View encourages employers to introduce a range of
initiatives including promoting physical activity, reducing stress, and providing
health checks for staff. The CCG is committed to supporting its staff to live as
healthy as possible both physically and mentally and has a range of health and
wellbeing initiatives in place.
The CCG has a wellbeing group which organises various team and individual
activities throughout the year. Many events are organised in partnership with
other organisations including Herts Sports Partnership, Hertfordshire
Constabulary and Hertfordshire County Council.
Activities have included a rounders tournament at Gosling Park in Welwyn
Garden City on 25 May, a lunchtime walk to mark Workplace Health Week in
May. The CCG also promotes offers at local gyms and national public health
campaigns such as Dry January.
A highlight of the year was taking part in the Hertfordshire wide ‘One You’ day on
8 July. The ‘One You’ public health campaign is designed to support people to
make simple changes towards a longer and happier life. On ‘One You’ day staff
were encouraged to step back from the day job and invest an hour in improving
their own health.
Stop smoking advice, relaxation sessions, lunchtime badminton and an early
morning walk were all on the menu of activities for staff. Over the course of the
day, around 40 people took 45 minutes to learn how to de-stress and dozens
more joined in with a Hertfordshire Health Walk or took to the streets of the town
in their lunch breaks to stretch their legs and get away from their desks.
HBL ICT Director Phil Turnock led members of his team on a brisk walk around
Stanborough Lakes. “IT work can be very sedentary and stressful, particularly
for staff who work on the helpdesk and support front-line health
professionals. We all really enjoyed our brisk walk in the sunshine and we’re
planning to make it a regular event.”
Since the One You day in July many colleagues have arranged their own regular
walks or after work running clubs.
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Other initiatives to help staff keep fit and healthy include the cycle to work
scheme. The initiative was introduced in June to encourage more staff to cycle to
work. The scheme allows staff to buy a bike at a reduced cost and pay for it
monthly through tax efficient salary deductions.

Part three: Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit report
NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group is not required
to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on
remote contingent liabilities (note 31), losses and special payments (note 39),
gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of
this report at pages 183 and190. An audit certificate and report is also included
in this Annual Report beginning at page 142.
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Glossary
APMS

Alternative Provider Medical Services

2WW

Two week wait

CAMHS

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

CHC

Continuing Healthcare

COPD

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

CPN

Contract Performance Notice

CQC

Care Quality Commission

CQUIN

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation

CSU

Commissioning Support Unit

ECG

Echocardiogram

EEAST

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust

ENHCCG

East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

ENHT

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust

EoL

End of Life

EPRR

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

FTE

Full time equivalent

GMS

General Medical Services

GP

General Practitioner

HBL ICT

HBL ICT Shared Services

HCC

Hertfordshire County Council

HCPA

Hertfordshire Care Providers Association

HCT

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

HPFT

Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust

HSCB

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board

HSCIC

Health and Social Care Information Centre

HUC

Herts Urgent Care

HVCCG

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

HWB

Health and Wellbeing Board
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IAPT

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

ICT

Integrated Community Team

IG

Information Governance

JPF

Joint Partnership Forum

JSNA

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LHRP

Local Health Resilience Partnership

LLV

Lower Lea Valley locality

LMC

Local Medical Committee

LOC

Local Ophthalmic Committee

LPC

Local Pharmaceutical Committee

LTC

Long Term Condition

MASH

Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub

MRC

Medical Research Council

NICE

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

OOH

Out of Hours

PAH

Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust

PCG

Patient Commissioning Group

PHB

Personal Health Budget

PPG

Patient Participation Group

Q1/2/3/4

Denotes which quarter of the financial year (April –March)

QIPP

Quality, Innovation, Prevention and Productivity

QP

Quality premium

RTT

Referral to treatment

SI

Serious Incident

STP

Sustainability and Transformation Plan

SVV

Stort Valley and Villages locality

TDA

Trust Development Authority

ULV

Upper Lea Valley locality

WTE

Whole time equivalent

VSM

Very Senior Manager
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External Audit opinion
Independent auditor’s report to the members of
the Governing Body of NHS East and North
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
We have audited the financial statements of NHS East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2017 under
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial
Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash
Flows and the related notes 1 to 43. The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as
interpreted and adapted by the Manual (the 2016/17 FReM) as contained in the
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the Accounts
Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the
Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the
Accounts Direction).

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that
is subject to audit, being:
•

the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related
narrative notes on pages 120 - 123;

•

the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative
notes on pages 124 -125;

•

the analysis of staff numbers and costs and related notes on pages 129 130; and

•

pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 126.

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS East
and North Hertfordshire CCG in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose as set out in paragraph 43 of
the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those
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matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities set out on page 95, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of
expenditure and income.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an
opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code
of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit Practice").
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is
responsible for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources. We are required under Section
21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the
CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if
we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of
the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources are operating effectively.
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of:
•

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed;

•

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Accountable Officer; and

•

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual
report and accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice,
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the
Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had
proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that
necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying
ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2017.
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We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on
our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to
form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in
the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern
them.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS East and North
Hertfordshire CCG as at 31 March 2017 and of its net operating costs for
the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social
Care Act 2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
•

the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health
and Social Care Act 2012); and

•

the other information published together with the audited financial
statements in the annual report and accounts is consistent with the
financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
•

in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the
guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; or

•

we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that
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the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a
decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion , would be unlawful and likely to cause
a loss or deficiency; or
•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014; or

•

we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

•

we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS East and
North Hertfordshire CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Neil Harris
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP Luton

The maintenance and integrity of the NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG web site is the responsibility of the
directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the
auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were
initially presented on the web site.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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The Accounts
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017

Note

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(9,876)
(471)
(10,347)

(10,421)
(339)
(10,760)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

16,289
701,572
393
0
513
718,766

15,484
668,992
691
513
414
686,094

Net Operating Expenditure

708,419

675,334

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017

708,419

675,334

The notes on pages 152 to 191 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017
2016-17

2015-16

Note

£'000

£'000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

13
14
15
17
18

2,855
0
0
0
0
2,855

1,422
0
0
0
0
1,422

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

16
17
18
19
20

0
5,826
0
0
298
6,124

0
6,137
0
0
259
6,396

Non-current assets held for sale

21

0

0

Total current assets

6,124

6,396

Total assets

8,979

7,818

(46,833)
0
0
0
(275)
(47,109)

(46,489)
0
0
0
(837)
(47,326)

(38,130)

(39,508)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities

23
24
25
26
30
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Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

23
24
25
26
30

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Assets less Liabilities

(38,130)

(39,508)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(38,130)
0
0
0
(38,130)

(39,508)
0
0
0
(39,508)

The notes on pages152 to 191 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 147 to 149 were approved by the Governing Body on 25 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

……………………………………………..
Chief Accountable Officer
Beverley Flowers
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2017
General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016

(39,508)

0

0

(39,508)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017

(39,508)

0

0

(39,508)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(708,419)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial
Year including balance brought forward from previous year

(747,927)

0

0

(747,927)

Net funding

709,797

0

0

709,797

Balance at 31 March 2017

(38,130)

0

0

(38,130)

General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2015

(32,296)

0

0

(32,296)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2016

(32,296)

0

0

(32,296)

(708,419)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating costs for the financial year

(675,334)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial
Year including balance brought forward from previous year

(707,630)

0

0

(707,630)

Net funding

668,122

0

0

668,122

Balance at 31 March 2016

(39,508)

0

0

(39,508)

(675,334)

The notes on pages 152 to 191 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2017

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

(708,419)
393
311
324
(562)
0
(707,953)

(675,334)
691
3,565
4,402
(660)
513
(666,823)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment

(1,805)

(1,207)

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities

(1,805)

(1,207)

(709,758)

(668,030)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

709,797

668,122

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

709,797

668,122

39

92

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

259

167

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

298

259

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

5
17
23
30
30

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents

20

The notes on pages152 to 191 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning
groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’
only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.
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1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year
transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities
account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer
within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to
income and expenditure entries.

1.5

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act
2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the
pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
• The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
• The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
• The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
• The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning
group recognises:
• The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
• The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
• The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
The CCG has entered into a partnership agreement and a pooled budget with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) in respect of the Better
Care Fund. This is a national policy initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. Having reviewed the terms of the
partnership agreement, the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and the appropriate financial reporting standards, the CCG has
determined that there are three elements to the Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as follows:
(1) the major part is controlled by HCC which commissions services from various non-NHS providers. Whilst the services are determined in
partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the council. The CCG accounts for this on a lead commissioner basis
as healthcare expenditure with the local authority.
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(2) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards
of these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services on behalf of
the partnership. The CCG accounts for these costs as healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers.
(3) The final part are services which are jointly commissioned by the CCG and HCC, including mental health services, equipment services,
intermediate care services and protection of social care services. HCC acts as the host body for these services which are provided by a third
party. Each partner is however wholly responsible for their own share of the expenditure and this is accounted for as a joint operation.

1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Prescription Services
The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business Services Authority relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by independent GPs,
CCG run practices and other CCG services. The total expenditure for the year includes estimates for February and March, based on the
estimated profile of spend. The estimate for February and March 2016-17 is £13.97m (2015-16 £12.8m).
Secondary Healthcare
Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not available in time
for the accounts, so estimates are made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is
at the end of the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or credit in the next
financial year. Historically, when these estimates have been compared to the subsequent actual data, they have not been materially different.
Estimate techniques are used to ensure that the correct levels of income and expenditure due relating to the current year are included through
the inclusion of accruals based on known commitments and local knowledge.
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1.7

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of payment.

1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the
fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
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•
•
•
•

It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
o

o

Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous
disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.10.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the
asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All
assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
•
•

Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing
use.
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An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.10.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the
item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.11

Intangible Assets

1.11.1

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical
commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example
an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation
of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is
recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
• The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
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Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or
service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to
obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the
physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes
recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that
arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.13

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

1.13.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially
as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.

1.13.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
clinical commissioning group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.%)
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of
the entity.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning
group.
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1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.19

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present
obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.20

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have
expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
• Held to maturity investments;
• Available for sale financial assets; and,
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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1.20.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss
incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.
As the clinical commissioning group did not carry any financial asset at fair value through profit and loss in 2016-17, there is therefore no
disclosure as to how this is determined.

1.20.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.20.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of
the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
The clinical commissioning group has no available for sale financial assets in 2016-17 and therefore there is no dlsclosure as to how fair value
is determined.

1.20.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using
the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to
the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.
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For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised
in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the
carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
The clinical commissioning group has no loans in 2016-17 and receivables are valued at cost and realisable value.
1.21

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.21.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
· The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
· The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.

1.21.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with
any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest
payable on the financial liability.
As the clinical commissioning group did not carry any financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss in 2016-17, there is therefore no
disclosure as to how this is determined.

162

1.21.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.22

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase
cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.23

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with
the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which
would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.24

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of
which are subject to consultation:
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH groups bodies)
• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2016-17
Total

2016-17
Admin

2016-17
Programme

2015-16
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

38
9,838
471
10,347

38
7,683
339
8,060

0
2,155
132
2,287

207
10,214
339
10,760

Admin revenue relates to various hosted services provided by the CCG to a number of other CCGs and NHS Trusts such as
Information Management and Technology, and is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or
healthcare services.

3 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2016-17
Total
£'000
10,347
0
10,347

2016-17
Admin
£'000
8,060
0
8,060

2016-17
Programme
£'000
2,287
0
2,287

2015-16
Total
£'000
10,760
0
10,760
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1 Employee benefits

2016-17
Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

13,464
1,264
1,491
70
16,289

11,347
1,264
1,491
70
14,172

2,117
0
0
0
2,117

Total - Net employee benefits including capitalised costs

16,289

14,172

2,117

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
16,289

0
14,172

0
2,117

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

12,903
961
1,386
234
15,484

10,214
961
1,386
234
12,795

2,689
0
0
0
2,689

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
15,484

0
12,795

0
2,689

4.1 Employee benefits

2015-16
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4.1.1 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits in 2016-17 or 2015-16.

4.2 Average number of people employed
2016-17
Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

309

272

37

0

0

0

2016-17
Number

2015-16
Number

1,902
280
7

2,064
250
8

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

the figures shown above are for the period 1st January to 31st December 2016.

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

2016-17
Number
0

2015-16
Number
1
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£'000
0

£'000
48

2016-17
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£

Number

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year
Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension
Scheme
4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

1
0
1
0
0
0
0
2

3,833
0
49,699
0
0
0
0
53,532

1
1
0
0
0
0
0
2

2015-16
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£

Number

0
2
0
1
1
0
0
4

0
35,211
0
52,462
146,667
0
0
234,340

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

There were no other departures where special payments have been made.
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4.4.1 Analysis of Other Agreed Departures
2016-17
Other agreed departures
Number
£
Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual
costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court
orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval*
Total

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
16,259

0

0

0
2

0
16,259

4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be
found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and
other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to
the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date
by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening
years”. An outline of these follows:
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a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period.
This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period,
and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation
data as 31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and
Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account their recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow
for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme
Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of
the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost
of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will
be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
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5. Operating expenses

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Depreciation
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees (see note)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs

2016-17
Total
£'000

2016-17
Admin
£'000

2016-17
Programme
£'000

2015-16
Total
£'000

14,586
1,703
16,289

11,580
1,703
13,283

3,006
0
3,006

13,619
1,865
15,484

991
62,443
360,778
1
180,277
178
0
1,184
94
5,694
0
1,043
393
86

496
0
0
0
0
178
0
65
59
3,095
0
897
393
86

495
62,443
360,778
1
180,277
0
0
1,119
35
2,599
0
146
0
0

1,043
59,937
343,272
0
167,627
161
0
1,388
266
4,927
1
2,098
691
86

0
0
82,359
4,913
493
149
0
1,066
335
702,477

0
0
0
0
404
120
0
0
1
5,794

0
0
82,359
4,913
89
29
0
1,066
334
696,683

0
0
80,557
4,206
450
470
513
2,664
253
670,610

19,077

699,689

686,094

Total operating expenses
718,766
Note: Other professional fees includes the sum of £34k for Internal Audit Fees (2015-16 £38k)
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6 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

19,422
19,075
98.21%

222,371
212,084
95.37%

16,438
16,043
97.60%

183,965
180,352
98.04%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,544
3,349
94.50%

450,654
447,125
99.22%

3,979
3,517
88.39%

408,994
396,631
96.98%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
6.1 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
No payments were made in respect of claims under this legislation in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

7 Income Generation Activities
The clinical commissioning group has no income generation activities in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
8. Investment revenue
The clinical commissioning group had no investment revenue in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
9. Other gains and losses
There were no gains or losses in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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10. Finance costs
There were no finance costs incurred in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
There were no transferred functions that gave rise to a recognised gain or loss in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
12. Operating Leases
12.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group is a lessee to the premises at Charter House and Fountain House, both of which are on Parkway, Welwyn Garden City,
Hertfordshire. The lease for Charter House is for five years from September 2013 and the lease for Fountain House is for two years from September 2014. The
Fountain House lease terminated in January 2017 following a short extention and the building has now been vacated.
12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

0
0

844
844

Other
£'000
62
62

2016-17
Total
£'000
907
907

Land
£'000
0
0

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2015-16
Total
£'000

1,940
1,940

55
55

1,995
1,995

Included within buildings are service charge payments and payments to NHS Property Services for premises occupied by providers of services to the clinical
commissioning group not fully charged to the providers. Whilst these arrangements fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not
yet been agreed. Consequently, note 12.1.2 below does not include future minimum lease payments for such arrangements.
The figure for other includes payments in respect of employee lease car schemes whereby £49k has been recovered directly from those employees under salary
sacrifice schemes and disclosed under Other Operating Revenue (Note 2).
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12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

0
0
0
0

234
116
0
350

2016-17
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
5
0
0
5

239
116
0
355

Land
£'000
0
0
0
0

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2015-16
Total
£'000

193
171
0
364

5
4
0
9

198
175
0
373

12.2 As lessor
There was no rental revenue in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
construction
and payments
on account

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

13 Property, plant and equipment

£'000
0

£'000
0

£'000
0

£'000
0

£'000
0

£'000
0

£'000
2,341

£'000
0

£'000
2,341

Addition of assets under construction and
payments on account
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0
0

0
0

0
0

1,284
3,625

542
542

0
1,826
4,167

Depreciation 01 April 2016

0

0

0

0

0

0

919

0

919

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

377
1,296

16
16

393
1,312

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,329

526

2,855

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

2,329
2,329

526
526

2,855
2,855

Owned

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,329

526

2,855

Total at 31 March 2017

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,329

526

2,855

2016-17
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016

Asset financing:

The clinical commissioning group did not hold any revaluation reserve balance for property, plant & equipment in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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13 Property, plant and equipment cont'd
13.1 Additions to assets under construction
The clinical commissioning group did not have any assets under construction in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

13.2 Donated assets
The clinical commissioning group had no donated assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

13.3 Government granted assets
The clinical commissioning group had no government granted assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

13.4 Property revaluation
The clinical commissioning group does not hold any property and therefore did not undertake any property revaluation in 2016-17 or 2015-16.

13.5 Compensation from third parties
The clinical commissioning group received no compensation from third parties in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount
The clinical commissioning group had no write downs in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

13.7 Temporarily idle assets
The clinical commissioning group had no temporarily idle assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The clinical commissioning group had no fully depreciated assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

13.9 Economic lives
Minimum Life
(years)
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

1
7

Maximum Life
(Years)
20
10

14 Intangible non-current assets
The clinical commissioning group had no intangible assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

15 Investment property
The clinical commissioning group had no investment property as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

16 Inventories
The clinical commissioning group had no inventories as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.
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17 Trade and other receivables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000

Non-current
2015-16
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

1,267
3,284
56
249
849
110
11
5,826

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,419
2,876
70
352
307
112
1
6,137

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

5,826

6,137

There were no prepaid pensions contributions included
above.
The great majority of trade is within the NHS group. As the NHS is funded by Government, no credit scoring is considered
necessary.

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

95
0
0
95

1,206
1
0
1,207

£94k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.
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17.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
The clinical commissioning group had no receivables that were impaired in 2016-17 and 2015-16 and as such did not make any
such provision.

18 Other financial assets
The clinical commissioning group had no other financial assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

19 Other current assets
The clinical commissioning group had no other current assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

20 Cash and cash equivalents
2016-17
£'000
259
39
298

2015-16
£'000
167
92
259

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

297
1
298

258
1
259

Balance at 31 March 2017

298

259

Balance at 01 April 2016
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2017

There were no patients' monies held by the clinical commissioning group in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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21 Non-current assets held for sale
The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals
The clinical commissioning group had no impairments or reversals of impairments in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

23 Trade and other payables

Current
2016-17
£'000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

5,148
12,576
7
3,755
20
23,165
2
180
0
153
1,827
46,833

Total current and non-current

46,833

Non-current
2016-17
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Current
2015-16
£'000
5,833
7,168
0
5,572
0
26,221
0
146
13
145
1,391
46,489

Non-current
2015-16
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

46,489

There are no liabilities in respect of arrangements to buy out early retirement over 5 years (31 March 2016 - Nil).
Other payables include £218k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (£214k - 31 March 2016).
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24 Other financial liabilities
There were no other financial liabilities in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

25 Other liabilities
There were no other liabilities in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

26 Borrowings
The clinical commissioning group had no borrowings in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements
The clinical commissioning group had no private finance initiative, LIFT or other service cncession arrangements in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

28 Finance lease obligations
The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease obligations in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

29 Finance lease receivables
The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease receivables in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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30 Provisions
Current
2016-17
£'000
275

Noncurrent
2016-17
£'000
0

Current
2015-16
£'000
837

Non-current
2015-16
£'000
0

Total

275

0

837

0

Total current and non-current

275

Continuing care

837

Continuing Care
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2016
Utilised during the year

837
(562)

Balance at 31 March 2017

275

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2017

275
275

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS
Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the
CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2017 is £2,584k
(£4,011k - 31 March 2016).
Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Litigation Authority and the probabilities
provided by them.
The clinical commissioning group has a provision of £240,231 within the overall balance of provisions of the NHS Litigation
Authority in respect of clinical negligence liabilities as at 31 March 2017 (Nil - 31 March 2016).
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31 Contingencies
The clinical commissioning group had no contingent liabilities and no contingent assets in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
32 Commitments
The clinical commissioning group had no capital or other financial commitments in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

33 Financial instruments
33.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the
risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also,
financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the clinical commissioning group standing
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
33.1.1 Currency risk
The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling
based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate
fluctuations.
33.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1
to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical
commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
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33.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group and revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low exposure to
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
33.1.4 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.
The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.

34 Operating segments
Healthcare costs are attributed to localities as shown below. Transformation schemes, running costs and other costs which cannot be attributed directly to localities are
charged centrally.

2016-17
North Hertfordshire locality
Lower Lea Valley locality
Stevenage locality
Welhat locality
Upper Lea Valley locality
Stort Valley & Villages locality
Central budgets
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
134,523
90,119
109,543
128,730
132,052
63,323
60,476
718,766

Income
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(10,347)
(10,347)

Net
expenditure
£'000
134,523
90,119
109,543
128,730
132,052
63,323
50,129
708,419

Total
assets
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
8,979
8,979

Total
liabilities
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(47,109)
(47,109)

Net assets
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(38,130)
(38,130)
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Net
expenditure
£'000
126,892
85,868
104,664
120,283
124,543
60,045
53,039
675,334

Total
assets
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
7,818
7,818

2016-17
£'000
708,419
0
708,419

2015-16
£'000
675,334
0
675,334

Total assets reported for operating segments
Reconciling items
Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

2016-17
£'000
8,979
0
8,979

2015-16
£'000
7,818
0
7,818

Total liabilities reported for operating segments
Reconciling items
Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position

2016-17
£'000
(47,109)
0
(47,109)

2015-16
£'000
(47,326)
0
(47,326)

2015-16
North Hertfordshire locality
Lower Lea Valley locality
Stevenage locality
Welhat locality
Upper Lea Valley locality
Stort Valley & Villages locality
Central budgets
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
126,892
85,868
104,664
120,283
124,543
60,045
63,799
686,094

Income
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(10,760)
(10,760)

Total
liabilities
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(47,326)
(47,326)

Net assets
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(39,508)
(39,508)

34.1 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments
Reconciling items
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

34.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP
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35 Pooled budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Hertfordshire County Council, Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group, and
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group. The pool is hosted by Hertfordshire County Council.
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the commissioning of services as follows: mental health, learning disabilities,
child and adolescent mental health, integrated health and social care community equipment service, residential and nursing care in a number of care homes, social
care services complementary to the NHS. The pooled budget only includes that expenditure over which the partners have joint control.
The clinical commissioning group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:
Mental Health,
Learning Disabilities
& CAMHS
Total
PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Original Contribution
Expenditure and revised
contribution

2016-17

CCG
2016-17
£000

Total
PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

323,022

71,528

322,836

71,442

Mental Health,
Learning Disabilities
& CAMHS
Total
PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

Original Contribution
Expenditure and revised
contribution

2015-16

Equipment Service

Intermediate Care

CCG
2016-17
£000

Total
PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

6,745

1,643

5,646

1,376

Equipment Service

CCG
2015-16
£000

Total
PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

304,531

67,732

304,538

67,742

Protection of Social
Care Services

Total CCG
Contribution

CCG
2016-17
£000

Total
PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

CCG
2016-17
£000

6,409

3,042

17,904

17,904

94,117

6,533

3,033

17,904

17,904

93,755

Intermediate Care

CCG
2015-16
£000

Total
PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

6,344

1,681

6,545

1,697

Protection of Social
Care Services

2016-17
£000

Total CCG
Contribution

CCG
2015-16
£000

Total
PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

CCG
2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

5,764

2,899

14,463

14,463

86,775

5,713

2,881

14,462

14,462

86,782
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36 NHS Lift investments
The clinical commissioning group had no NHS LIFT investments in 2016-17 and
2015-16.

37 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of
the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group.
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the
GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
Birchwood Surgery - Dr. R Graham
Regal Chambers Surgery - Dr. F Sinclair
Church Street Surgery - Dr. N Williams
The Maltings Surgery - Dr. S Kite
The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews
The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson
Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H Pathmanathan
Garden City Practice - Dr S Gupta
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley
Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall
Central Surgery - Dr. D Kearns
South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah
Warden Lodge Surgery - Dr. E. Bosonnet

164
138
151
13
57
57
100
54
125
114
125
162
78
67

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£'000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000

2
3
0
0
0
11
1
1
0
0
8
6
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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The following are payments for services procured from GP Federations of which GPs were shareholders.
Ephedra Healthcare Limited
Generating Health Limited
12 Point Care
Lea Valley Health
Stort Valley Health Care Ltd

331
407
306
353
204

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
28
43
46

0
0
0
0
0

These payments were made in the normal course of business and Governing Body members had no direct control over them.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent organisation. The clinical commissioning group has adopted a disclosure level of £5million in 2016-17 and
these entities are listed below. In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other
central government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions have also been reflected in the table below:

East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust
The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire County Council

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

£000

£000
219,130
17,941
42,854
8,479
57,103
11,169
26,055
9,110
107,534

78
0
3,415
0
0
0
0
0
131

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000
6,704
131
2,024
549
1,010
0
1,018
948
3,304

£000
3,056
0
6
0
0
82
162
28
242

Comparators for 2015-16 are shown on the following page.
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37a Related party transactions (2015-16)
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body
members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the
clinical commissioning group.
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and related
parties disclosed by the GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:

Payments
to Related
Party
£000
Birchwood Surgery - Dr. R Graham
Regal Chambers Surgery - Dr. F Sinclair
Church Street Surgery - Dr. N Williams
The Maltings Surgery - Dr. S Kite
The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews
The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson
Warden Lodge Surgery - Dr. E Bosonnet/Dr L Monk
Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H Pathmanathan
Garden City Practice - Dr. P Shilliday/Dr S Gupta
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley
Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall
Central Surgery - Dr. D Kearns
South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah

133
163
131
27
107
90
114
246
87
219
157
144
243
117

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000

56
57
61
10
39
43
41
69
35
81
64
44
90
38
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The following are payments for services procured from GP Federations of which GPs were shareholders.
Ephedra Healthcare Limited
Generating Health Limited
12 Point Care
Lea Valley Health
Stort Valley Health Care Ltd

325
305
244
356
157

168
50
1
0
32

These payments were made in the normal course of business and Governing Body members had no direct control over them.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The clinical commissioning group has
adopted a disclosure level of £5million in 2015-16. These entities are listed below.

East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust
The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire County Council

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000
209,746
16,756
40,700
7,149
54,357
11,100
24,818
7,914
99,864

£000
(85)
0
(3,823)
0
0
0
0
0
(17)

£000
2,669
0
1,634
230
1,777
401
1,361
420
2,502

£000
(2,760)
(103)
11
0
0
(26)
(79)
0
(262)
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38 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no events after the end of the reporting year that are required to be disclosed in this note.

39 Losses and special payments
The clinical commissioning group had no losses and special payments in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

40 Third party assets
The clinical commissioning group did not hold cash or cash equivalents on behalf of other parties in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

41 Financial performance targets
The clinical commissioning group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

2016-17
Target

2016-17
Performance

2015-16
Target

2015-16
Performance

735,291
1,827

720,592
1,826

695,076
1,239

687,301
1,207

723,117

708,419

683,077

675,334

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

12,648

11,015

13,483

10,989
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42 Impact of IFRS
There was no impact of IFRS in 2016-17 and 2015-16.

43 Analysis of charitable reserves
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any charitable reserves in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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